University of Alberta

A Systematic Approach to the Encapsulation of Islets for

Transplantation

by

Aaron Gerard Mallett



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy in Experimental Surgery

Department of Surgery

Edmonton, Alberta, Canada Fall 2006

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-23077-0 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-23077-0

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



ABSTRACT

Islet transplantation has been shown to be an attractive prospect in the treatment of patients affected by type 1 diabetes. However, this therapy is limited in its use and applicability. Current cadaveric human sources are insufficient to meet the growing demands for transplantable islets. Also, islet transplantation therapy is limited by the ability of donor tissue to survive and function in immunologically competent recipients. Strategies to prevent rejection which will subsequently allow the reversal of the diabetic state must be developed.

Encapsulation of islets in alginate has been proposed as a means of protecting islets from host immunity. We demonstrate that encapsulation is also beneficial in its ability to provide an environment suitable to the survival and function of the islets. Islets encapsulated in alginate demonstrated a superior ability to survive and function in long term tissue culture over non-encapsulated islets. Furthermore, these encapsulated islets showed greater longevity of function and improved glucose responsiveness when transplanted into immunecompromised recipients.

In response to proposed alginate immunogenicity, we next developed a modification protocol and assessed the changes in alginate properties as a function of transplantation success. Modification resulted in improved survival of syngeneic recipients with improved glucose responsiveness over islets in premodification alginate. Immune presence on capsule recovery indicated that purified capsules were less immunogenic and contained islets with demonstrably improved health and function. Finally, in examining xenogeneic islets, we demonstrated that the capsule provided a measure of protection to the islets, though insufficient for the normalization of blood glucose. Inclusion of immunoprotective Sertoli cells into the capsule provided an increased measure of support, though again this did not translate into an improvement in the function of the graft, at least in immune competent animals.

In summary, we have provided evidence for the use of alginate encapsulation in long term tissue culture of islets. Composition of the alginate used is of critical importance in transplantation success, though the benefit is limited in its scope. Whereas Sertoli cells provide another level of protection, more investigation is needed to ensure the long-term survival of encapsulated islets in an immune competent host.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Foremost, I would like to thank Dr. Greg Korbutt for his support over the past several years. Your mind for science is without equal and has been something to aspire to, and I will ever be grateful for the opportunity you have provided me to pursue a career in research and medicine. I would like to also thank Dr. Ray Rajotte for his interest in my work and for the wealth of knowledge, experience and leadership that he brings to the team. My appreciation goes also to Dr. Gina Rayat for her guidance, thoughts, and insight into my research. I would like to thank Dr. Rhonda Bell for the time she has taken to critically review my knowledge of the field, and the time she has taken to review my thesis work. Finally, I would like to thank Dr. James Wright for making the time to critically review this manuscript and be a part for my final defense committee.

I owe gratitude to all of the staff, students, and technicians of the Surgical-Medical Research Institute, without whom I could never have completed this work. I thank Rosemarie Henley, Margaret Henley and Colleen Ruptash for their administrative support. I would like to thank Dawne Colwell for support with figures, tables and presentations over the past few years. Special thanks to Tanya Binette, Sarah Lord, Jeff Toreson, Cale Street, George Harb and Chantal Bussiere, my fellow students, for the exchange of thoughts and ideas, and for creating a support network within the lab. I would like to thank Greg Olson, Christine Cook, Jen O'Hara, Karen Seeberger, Lynette Elder, Alana Eshpeter, Deb Dixon and most of all James Lyon for their technical support in the lab. Thanks also to Dr. Tatsuya Kin, Dr. Janette Dufour and Dr. Berit Strand for thoughts and ideas into the areas of encapsulation and islet transplantation. Finally, I would like to acknowledge and give thanks to the Canadian Institute for Health Research, the Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research and the Faculty of Medicine for their financial support of this work.

I would like to thank my parents who have supported me in every way, and ingraining within me the desire to learn and achieve, even from an early age. To my many friends and many family members, I express my gratitude for the many ways that you have blessed my life through your service and prayers over the years. To my children, I express a deep love and gratitude for your patience as Daddy has spent many hours locked away in the lab, the library of the office, and for making our home the most wonderful place to be. Most of all, I would like to thank Carrie, my beautiful wife, who has made many sacrifices to allow me to pursue my research and academic endeavors. I love you, and will forever be appreciative of the support and inspiration you have given me. Finally, I thank God for the opportunities, talents and blessings that I have been granted, and for the strength provided unto me in times of need. This thesis is dedicated to my wonderful wife, Carrie, whose patience with my labors has been divine, and whose love and support has given me the strength of mind and will to accomplish all things.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 THE PANCREAS	1
1.1.1 The Islets of Langerhans	2
1.1.2 The β -cell	3
1.1.3 Insulin	4
1.2 DIABETES MELLITUS	6
1.2.1 Etiology & Pathophysiology of Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus	7
1.2.2 Treatment of Type 1 Diabetes	8
1.2.2.1 Exogenous insulin	8
1.2.2.2 Pancreas transplantation	9
1.3 ISLET TRANSPLANTATION	10
1.3.1 The Edmonton protocol	12
1.3.2 Limitations of islet transplantation	14
1.3.2.1 Source/supply	14
1.3.2.2 Immune rejection	15
1.4 ALTERNATIVE SOURCES OF TRANSPLANTABLE ISLETS	16
1.4.1 Cellular approaches	17
1.4.2 Islet progenitor cells	18
1.4.3 Embryonic stem cells for islets	. 19
1.4.4 Xenografts	20
1.4.4.1 Potential sources of xenogeneic tissue	. 20
1.4.4.2 Pig	. 21
1.4.4.2.1 Neonatal porcine islets	. 22
1.4.4.3 Barriers to xenotransplantation	. 23
1.4.4.3.1 Xenozoonosis	. 24
1.4.4.3.2 Xenograft rejection	. 25
1.5 CIRCUMVENTING REJECTION OF TRANSPLANTED ISLETS	. 26
1.5.1 Reducing recipient immune responsiveness	26
1.5.1.1 Immunosuppression	. 27
1.5.1.2 Induction of immune tolerance	. 28
1.5.1.3 Transplantation to immune compromised sites	. 29
1.5.1.3.1 Sertoli cells	. 29
1.5.1.3.1.1 Co-transplantation with islets	. 30
1.5.2 Reduction of donor animal immunogenicity	31
1.5.3 Pre-transplantation treatment of donor islets	32
1.5.3.1 Immune barriers	. 32
1.5.3.1.1 Immunoisolation devices	. 33
1.5.3.1.2 Microencapsulation	. 34
1.5.3.1.2.1 Alginate microcapsules	. 35
1.5.3.1.2.1.1 Composition and properties of alginate	. 36
1.5.3.1.2.1.2 Transplantation of alginate encapsulated islets	. 37
1.5.3.1.2.1.3 Ubstacles to transplantation of encapsulated islets	. 39
1.0 UBJEUTIVES & GENERAL THESIS OUTLINE	. 41
I./ KEFEKENUED	, 44

CHAPTER 2: IMPROVED SURVIVAL OF MICROENCAPSULATED ISLETS			
POSTTR	DURING IN VITRO CULTURE AND ENHANCED METABOLIC FUNCTION POSTTRANSPLANTATION 86		
21	ΙΝΤΡΟΠΙΟΤΙΟΝ	04	
2.1	MATERIALS AND METHODS		
2.2	1 Frnerimental design	87	
2.2.	 Dxperimental aesign Animals 		
2.2	3 Preparation and microencansulation of islets	88	
2.2.	4 Characterization of canine islet preparations after long-term tiss	sue culture	
2.2	5 Transplantation and metabolic follow-up		
2.2.	6 Statistical analysis		
2.3	RESULTS		
2.3.	1 Canine islet microencapsulation		
2.3.	2 Effect of microencapsulation on canine islet survival and insulin	secretory	
	activity in vitro		
2.3.	3 Transplantation of long-term cultured canine islets		
2.3.	4 Effect of canine islet mass and transplant site		
2.3.	5 Syngeneic transplantation of mouse islets		
2.4	DISCUSSION		
2.5	REFERENCES		
3.1	INTRODUCTION		
3.2	RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS		
<i>3.2</i> .	1 Animals	115	
3.2.	2 Islet isolation		
<i>3.2</i> .	3 Alginate Purification		
<i>3.2</i> .	4 Analysis and composition of alginates		
3.2.	5 Islet encapsulation	120	
3.2.	6 Transplantation of islets	120	
3.2.	7 Follow-up and oral glucose tolerance test	121	
3.2.	8 Graft removal and histology (Microcapsule explantation)	121	
3.2.	9 Assessment of insulin secretion by static incubation	122	
3.2.	10 Statistical analysis		
3.3	RESULTS		
3.3.	1 Alginate purification	123	
3.3.	2 Transplantation of encapsulated islets		
3.3.	3 Oral glucose tolerance test		
3.3.	4 Recovery of microcapsules		
3.3.	S Assessment of insulin secretion		
3.4	DISCUSSION		
3.5	KEFEKENCES		

CHAPT PORCI	FER 4: TRANSPLANTATION OF CO-ENCAPSULATED OF NE INE SERTOLI CELLS WITH ISLETS REDUCES IMMUNE REA	CONATAL SPONSE
BUT D	OES NOT PROLONG ISLET FUNCTION	
4.1	INTRODUCTION	
4.2	RESEARCH DESIGNS AND METHODS	
4.	2.1 Animals	
4.	2.2 Isolation and preparation of islets	
4.	2.3 Encapsulation of neonatal porcine islets	
4.	2.4 Isolation and preparation of neonatal porcine Sertoli cells	
4.	2.5 Co-encapsulation of islets and Sertoli cells	
4.	2.6 Transplantation and metabolic follow-up	
4.	2.7 Graft recovery	
4.	2.9 Statistical analysis	
4.3	RESULTS	
4.	3.1 Transplantation of encapsulated islets	
4.	3.2 Recovery of microcapsules	152
4.	3.4 Assessment of insulin secretion	155
4.4	DISCUSSION	156
4.5	REFERENCES	
CHAP	TER 5: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	
5.1	GENERAL DISCUSSION	
5.2	CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE CONSIDERATIONS	
5.3	REFERENCES	
APPEN	NDIX A: ENCAPSULATION DOES NOT PROVIDE LONG TER	M
SURVI	VAL OF MOUSE ISLETS IN ALLOGENEIC RECIPIENTS	
A.1	OBJECTIVE	
A.2	RATIONALE	
A.3	EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE	
A.4	RESULTS	
A.5	CONCLUSION	189
A.6	REFERENCES	190

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE	DESCRIPTION	PAGE
2-1	Effect of microencapsulation on canine islet recovery and	93
	insulin secretory activity over a three week period in	
	culture	
2-2	Effect of long-term culture on the survival of canine islet	95
	grafts in diabetic nude mice	
2-3	Metabolic follow-up of non-encapsulated and	98
	encapsulated canine islet grafts in diabetic nude	
	mice	
3-1	Chemical composition and sequence of alginates	123
3-2	Effect of alginate purification on the transplant survival	124
	of syngeneic BALB/c islets	
3-3	Effect of alginate purification on post-transplant recovery	127
	conditions and insulin secretory activity	
4-1	Co-encapsulated islets and Sertoli cells transplanted into	151
	diabetic mice	
4-2	Co-encapsulated islets and Sertoli cells recovered from	153
	transplanted mice	

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE	DESCRIPTION	PAGE
2-1	Blood glucose values during an OGTT in nude mice	97
	transplanted with encapsulated canine islets	
2-2	Blood glucose values during an OGTT in nude mice	99
۱.	transplanted with canine islets	
2-3	Light micrographs of dithizone stained encapsulated canine	101
	islets	
2-4	Function of syngeneic pancreatic islet grafts in alloxan-	103
	induced diabetic BALB/c mice	
3-1	In vivo function of encapsulated BALB/c mouse islets	125
	transplanted into diabetic BALB/c mice	
3-2	Oral glucose tolerance tests for BALB/c mice transplanted	126
	with alginate encapsulated islets after 105 days	
3-3	Representative light micrographs of dithizone-stained	128
	encapsulated BALB/c islets following implantation and	
	recovery	

4-1	Average blood glucose concentrations of mice transplanted	150
	with co-encapsulated neonatal porcine islets and Sertoli	
	cells	

A-1	Blood glucose levels over time of allogeneic mice	
	transplanted with encapsulated BALB/c islets	

- A-2 Immunohistochemistry of recovered encapsulated islets 188 stained for (A) insulin and (B) glucagon
- A-3 Cryostaining of recovered encapsulated islets stained for (A) 189 CD-11b, (B) CD-4 and (C) CD-8

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AN69	Polyacrylonitrile
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AUC	Area under the curve
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CD	Cluster of differentiation
СК	Cytokeratin
CSII	Continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion
DKA	Diabetic ketoacidosis
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetra-acetic acid
ES	Embryonic stem (cell)
F	Fraction
FCS	Fetal calf serum
G	Guluronate
GLUT	Glucose transporter protein
HAR	Hyperacute rejection
HBSS	Hank's balanced salt solution
HEMA-MMA	Hydroxyethyl methylacrylate-methyl methacrylate
HLA	Human lymphocyte antigen
IDDM	Insulin dependent diabetes mellitus
IE	Islet equivalents
Ig	Immunoglobulin

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

IP	Intraperitoneal
IP3	Inositol triphosphate
IPTR	International Pancreas Transplant Registry
IRS	Insulin receptor substrate
Μ	Mannuronate
MAP	Membrane associated protein
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
mRNA	Messenger riboxynucleic acid
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
NMWL	Nominal molecular weight limit
NPI	Neonatal porcine islet
NPSC	Neonatal porcine serum
NPS	Neonatal porcine Sertoli cell
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PC	Prohormone convertase
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PERV	Porcine endogenous retrovirus
PI-3	Phosphatidyl inositol 3
РКВ	Protein kinase B
PLL	Poly-L-lysine
PP	Pancreatic polypeptide

RER	Rough endoplasmic reticulum
RIA	Radioimmunoassay
SEC-MALLS	Size exclusion chromatography multi-angle laser light
	scattering
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SI	Stimulation index
STZ	Streptozotocin
TCA	Tricarboxylic acid
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-β
UP-MVG	Ultra-pure medium viscosity high guluronate (alginate)
VBAP	Vascularized bioartificial pancreas
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
WHO	World Health Organization
XNA	Xenoreactive antibodies
α1,3-Gal	α1,3-galactose
α1,3-GT	a1,3-galactosyl transferase

CHAPTER 1

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 THE PANCREAS

The name pancreas derives from the Greek pan creas, meaning "all flesh" or "tissue throughout". As the name denotes, it is a fleshy organ, lying directly below the large curvature of the stomach that seems to wrap around the duodenum. In humans the pancreas typically weighs between 70-150 grams, measures 15-25 cm in length, and is connected to the duodenum by the ampulla of Vater, where the main pancreatic duct merges with the common bile duct. The pancreas is formed embryologically by two buds originating from the endodermal lining of the duodenum: the dorsal pancreatic bud in the dorsal mesentery and the ventral pancreatic bud forming close to the bile duct. As the duodenum rotates and becomes C-shaped, the ventral bud and hepatopancreatic orifice move dorsally until ventral bud meets with and lies directly below and behind the dorsal bud. Later the parenchyma and vasculature of the dorsal and ventral buds fuse, with the ventral bud forming the uncinate process and inferior part of the head of the pancreas. The remainder of the pancreas derives from dorsal bud. The mature pancreas, while homogeneous, is divided anatomically for descriptive purposes into the head (adjacent to the duodenum), the body (under the greater curvature of the stomach) and the tail (adjacent to the spleen).

The pancreas is an organ made up of two divergent types of glandular tissue: exocrine cells that secrete digestive enzymes into the lumen of the small intestine, and endocrine cells that secrete hormones into the bloodstream. The cells of the exocrine

pancreas are organized into acini and are rich in endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi complex, and secretory granules containing the digestive enzymes, various nucleases, proteases, amylases and lipases. At the junction of the acini and ducts are centroacinar cells that secrete bicarbonate and other non-enzymatic secretions. The smaller ducts empty into larger ones and eventually into the main or ventral pancreatic duct, then into the bile duct and into the small intestine. Secretion of pancreatic juices is controlled both by hormonal and neural stimuli. The cells of the endocrine pancreas are grouped mainly into islets of Langerhans and make up approximately 2% of the total mass of the pancreas (1). These islets are clusters of cells embedded in and scattered throughout the exocrine pancreas, though they tend to be found relatively close to ductal structures (2), and can be up to 1,000,000 in number in the adult human pancreas (3). Furthermore, in addition to the exocrine and endocrine glandular components, the pancreas has a rich arterial blood supply, extensive lymphatic drainage, and abundant sympathetic and parasympathetic nerve supplies.

1.1.1 The Islets of Langerhans

In 1869, German medical student Paul Langerhans first described the presence of clusters of cells floating throughout and seemingly unconnected to the acinar cells of the pancreas (4). These islets of Langerhans are roughly spherical in shape and vary in size from about 50 μ m to 500 μ m in diameter (5). Islets consist of endocrine cells of four main types. The PP-cells are infrequent, making up 1-2% of islet mass. These cells secrete pancreatic polypeptide, the function and control of which is largely a mystery. The δ -cells form 2-8% of the islet mass and secrete somatostatin which functions in a largely paracrine manner to regulate the cellular secretions of other cells in the islet (6). The α -

cells are the second most numerous cells making up about 25% of the islet. The α -cells produce glucagon, which is released in response to insulin and low blood glucose concentrations, and which acts in both a paracrine manner to regulate insulin release, as well as distally to regulate glucose output from the liver. The β -cells are the most numerous cells in the islet, composing 60-80% of the total islet mass. These cells seem to be segregated more to the center of the islet, with other cell types being found more at the periphery, though this phenomenon is less present in humans than in rodents.

1.1.2 The β -cell

In 1907, Lane was the first man to describe the β -cell (first called the A-cell) (7). Then, in 1922, Banting and Best published findings that would change the world with the discovery of the hormone isletin (8), now known as insulin. The β -cells are unique in the human body in that they sense changes in circulating blood glucose concentrations and respond to elevations in glucose by releasing insulin. Insulin is stored in the cytoplasm of the β -cell in secretory granule, where the insulin forms crystals with Zn^{2+} . The β -cell releases intracellular insulin via exocytosis in response to changes in perfusing blood glucose concentration. Glucose binds to glucose transporter in the cell membrane of the β -cell and is moved into the cell. Once inside the cell, glucose undergoes glycolysis in the cytoplasm followed by the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle in the mitochondrion of the β -cell. Electron transport drives ATP generation, closing K_{ATP} channels leading to depolarization of plasma membrane potential and subsequent opening of voltagedependent Ca²⁺ channels. Increased calcium levels causes phospolipase C activation, cleaving the membrane phospholipid phosphatidyl inositol 4,5-bisphosphate into inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate and diacylglycerol. Inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP₃) binds to receptor proteins in the membrane of ER, allowing the release of Ca^{2+} from the ER via IP₃ gated channels further raising the cell concentrations of calcium. Significantly increased amounts of calcium in the cells causes release of previously synthesized insulin, stored in secretory vesicles. Elevation of cytosolic Ca^{2+} induces fusion of insulin storage granules with the plasma membrane and subsequent insulin exocytosis, as well as up-regulating the insulin gene. Despite the straight forward nature of this response, insulin release from the β -cell is further regulated by various neurotransmitters, peptides and hormones such as glucagon (9). Furthermore, insulin release is characterized by a biphasic response to elevations in blood glucose, with a transient first phase 'burst' of insulin, followed by a second sustained phase lasting for the remainder of the period of glucose stimulation (10). Additionally, insulin secretion is oscillatory under both basal and stimulated steady state conditions (11).

1.1.3 Insulin

The insulin gene is specifically expressed in the pancreatic β -cell, and its sequence is remarkably conserved throughout evolution and across species (12). Transcription of the gene yields the mature preproinsulin mRNA 446 bp long. This process is tightly controlled by a number of factors and processes. The preproinsulin peptide is synthesized on the rough endoplasmic reticulum (RER). The signal peptide is cleaved from the final product, releasing the proinsulin peptide into the lumen of the RER. Translation and proinsulin biosynthesis is also controlled by various nutrients, hormones and neurotransmitters (13). Proinsulin is moved from the RER to the Golgi apparatus, then to immature β -granules where the processing of proinsulin to insulin occurs (14). The single-chain polypeptide proinsulin encompasses 3 regions: the 21 amino acid A-

chain and the 30 amino acid B-chain, connected by the C-peptide. It also contains two interchain disulfide bonds between the A- and B-chains, as well as one disulfide bond within the A-chain, prompting the spontaneous folding of the protein molecule. Proinsulin to insulin conversion occurs by cleavage at two dibasic amino acid sequences in the A-/C- chain and B-/C-chain junctions by the action of proteolytic enzymes known as prohormone convertases (PC1 and PC2). This process releases C-peptide, yielding the insulin molecule with the disulfide linked A- and B-chains properly aligned.

Insulin released from the β -cell acts globally in human metabolism in a number of areas, namely: controlling cellular uptake of particular substances, most prominently glucose in muscle and adipose tissue; modifying the activity of numerous enzymes; and, increasing DNA replication and protein synthesis via control of amino acid uptake. Insulin action occurs through binding with the insulin receptor, a receptor with tyrosine kinase activity and with a major intracellular target protein called the insulin receptor substrate (IRS) (15). The effects of insulin on the target cells are both metabolic, particularly promoting glucose uptake, and mitogenic. Metabolic effects are mediated primarily from the IRS proteins through the phosphatidylinositide-3 (PI-3) kinase pathway. These include, but are not limited to increases in glucose transport, glycogenesis in the liver, lipogenesis in adipose tissue, and protein synthesis, as well as corresponding decreases in proteinolysis, lipolysis, and gluconeogenesis (16). Similarly, insulin activation of the PI-3 kinase pathway activates protein kinase B (PKB), stimulating the glucose transport system, leading to the translocation of GLUT-4 glucose transporters to the plasma membrane of peripheral tissues, further increasing glucose uptake. Mitogenic effects are divergently mediated from IRS proteins through Ras and

the MAP kinase pathway. This MAP kinase pathway potentiates but is not critical to the metabolic signaling pathways, nor is the MAP kinase pathway necessary for stimulation of glucose transport.

1.2 DIABETES MELLITUS

Diabetes mellitus is the term used to describe a group of diseases marked by high levels of circulating blood glucose resulting from defects in insulin production, insulin action, or both. Diabetes can lead to serious complications and premature death. Diabetes has become a global epidemic, with the World Health Organization (WHO) estimating that in 2000, 2.8% of the world population (7% of North America) had diabetes, expecting the total number of people with the disease to rise from 171 million on 2000 to 366 million in 2030 (17). Of even further concern are estimates that almost one third of these individuals are undiagnosed. Closer to home, the Canadian Diabetes Association has reported that diabetes currently affects over 2 million Canadians, with 60,000 new cases every year (18). The economic costs of diabetes are enormous, with direct medical or indirect expenditures account for approximately one in seven health care dollars spent in North America annually, approximately \$9\$ billion in Canada (19), or \$132 billion in the United States (20). These estimates, however, underestimate the true burden of the disease as they omit the intangibles, such as pain and suffering, that diabetes puts on the individuals and families affected by this condition.

1.2.1 Etiology & Pathophysiology of Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus

Of all instances of diabetes, approximately 10% fall under the banner of Type 1 diabetes, also known as juvenile-onset or insulin-dependent diabetes. This disease develops as a result of selective immune destruction of the pancreatic β -cells (21) and a subsequent insulin deficiency. While the exact cause of this immune attack is still a matter of debate, it is generally believed that genetic factors play a role in the development of the disease (22;23). Most notable of these are the HLA genes encoded within the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) on chromosome 6p21, designated IDDM1 (24). Nonetheless, studies of twins have shown the disease concordance rate in genetically identical monozygotic twins to be about 50%, versus only 6% among dizygotic twins (25). While this data clearly demonstrates the genetic component of the disease, a less than 100% concordance rate illustrates that genetic susceptibility is not sufficient alone to cause Type 1 diabetes. As such, environmental factors have in the past been proposed to play a role in the development of the disease (26;27), most notable among these being cow's milk (28;29) and viruses (30-32). Clearly, more work needs to be done to determine the relative contribution of each of these genetic and environmental elements.

Type 1 diabetes can lead to a number of serious and potentially life-threatening complications, including heart disease (33), stroke (34), hypertension (35), retinopathy (36), nephropathy (37), and neuropathy (38). Additionally, individuals with diabetes have increased risk of amputations (39), periodontal disease (40), erectile dysfunction (41) and pregnancy complications (42). Fluctuating glycemia levels associated with diabetes and the subsequent accumulation of glucose-based compounds on blood vessel walls are the source of these microvascular and macrovascular effects (43) along with the all-too-often pre-mature mortality rates in these patients (44). While there is as yet no known way to prevent Type 1 diabetes, a number of treatments have been developed over time both to manage the disease and to attempt to prevent the complications arising from the primary disease.

1.2.2 Treatment of Type 1 Diabetes

The general goal of treatment is to improve the glycemic control of diabetic patients (43). So doing prevents the development of potentially lethal diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA) (45), resulting from chronically low insulin levels leading to severe and chronic hyperglycemia (glucose toxicity). Furthermore, improved glycemic control drastically reduces the risk of microvascular complications (eye, kidney, and nerve diseases) (46). Prior to 1922, the only treatment available to diabetics was the strict administration of a near starvation diet, which seemed only to postpone the inevitable death to ketoacidosis (47). This would change in Toronto, Canada in the 1920's.

1.2.2.1 Exogenous insulin

The treatment and care of diabetic patients would be forever changed with the discovery and purification of insulin (8). To this day, daily injections of exogenous insulin have remained the standard of care for patients with Type 1 diabetes and have allowed them to live long and relatively normal lives. Furthermore, findings from the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial have indicated that strict monitoring of blood glucose and intensive insulin therapy can greatly reduce diabetes related complications. This therapy is not without its risks, however. Diabetic patients need daily to perform a sort of juggling act as they attempt to balance diet, exercise, environmental factors, illness, etc.

with their injection regimens, where too little insulin can lead to transient hyperglycemic episodes, and where too much insulin can result in sever hypoglycemia, diabetic coma, and death. Patient compliance to injection regimens is also an issue, particularly among adolescent patients. In more recent years, new insulin formulations have been developed to provide individuals with diabetes an added level of control. Short- and long-acting formulations, and combinations of the two, have provided better maintenance of normal glucose concentration levels, when accompanied with proper planning. Insulin pumps have improved over the years and were developed to provide continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (CSII) (48). Current models have been shown to reduce the incidences of hypoglycemic and ketoacidotic episodes (49), though they are still not widely used. More advanced "closed-loop" systems involving automatic sensing of glucose and administration of insulin are being investigated, though the technology is still severely limited by the short life of the glucose sensors. Irrespective of the formulation or the method used for administration of exogenous insulin, however, even the best case scenario does not offer the same level of glycemic control as the normally functioning pancreas.

1.2.2.2 Pancreas transplantation

Transplantation of insulin producing tissue has a number of advantages over daily injection of exogenous insulin. To begin with, tissue has the ability to provide a physiological balance by responding to fluctuations in blood glucose concentrations throughout the day to maintain glucose homeostasis, versus injections that require 'best guess' estimates by the patient to determine how much insulin will be needed, and when. Furthermore, subcutaneous injection of insulin diffuses into the blood and travels

systemically, versus the portal circulation that occurs physiologically. As the liver has a role in regulating insulin, transplantation of living tissue into an anatomical site having portal drainage may be ideal (50), though convincing evidence for this in the clinical setting still remains to be seen (51).

Pancreas transplantation was first performed for the treatment of Type 1 diabetes in 1966 (52). While the following 12 years yielded few pancreas transplants due to low rates of graft survival (53), improvements since 1978 in surgical techniques and immunosuppressive drugs, and the establishment of regulated procedures for organ procurement, have led to progressively higher graft and patient survival rates. As of December 31st, 2004, the International Pancreas Transplant Registry (IPTR) has reported more than 23,000 pancreas transplants with one year graft survival rates climbing to 85% for simultaneous pancreas-kidney cases, 78% for pancreas after kidney cases, and 77% for pancreas transplant alone cases, with patient survival exceeding 95% in all categories (54). These transplants have been shown to provide a state of stable normoglycemia to recipients (55) and may provide benefit and some restoration of function to patients with nephropathy (56), neuropathy (57), retinopathy (58), and macrovascular disease (59). Despite these benefits, the extreme invasiveness and complicated nature of the surgery, along with the lifelong need for immunosuppression, limits this therapy to only the most severe diabetics and those requiring renal transplant (60).

1.3 ISLET TRANSPLANTATION

In addition to the aforementioned complexities of pancreas transplantation, there also remains the fact that the procedure involves the transplantation of far more tissue than what is actually necessary. As the islets only comprise approximately 2% of the pancreatic mass (61), and given that the presence of exocrine secretions in pancreas transplantation can lead to their own problems such as sepsis and urological complications (62;63), it would seem logical to attempt to pursue techniques allowing the transplantation of pancreatic endocrine tissue alone.

While initial attempts at islet isolation were largely unsuccessful (64), isolations using collagenase enzyme digestion of pancreatic fragments to free islets from the surrounding exocrine tissue greatly improved the process (65). Further refinements increasing islet yield were made by Paul Lacy, who developed a method involving intraductal distention and digestion of the pancreas with collagenase, mechanical disruption of the islets from the pancreas, and density centrifugation to separate islets from exocrine remnants (66). These processes lead to the first successful transplantation of intact rat islets by Ballinger and Lacy in 1972 (67). Further advancements were made later when ficoll was substituted for sucrose on density gradients (68), ficoll providing a better osmotic environment for the islets.

Early animal experiments in islet transplantation proved to be highly successful, at least in rodent models, with transplanted islets sustaining demonstrable insulin secretion (66;67), and even a biphasic insulin secretory response to glucose (69). Despite these successes, it became apparent that the techniques involved in the isolation of islets from small animals did not translate well into larger animals such as the dog (70) or human (71), due in large measure to the size and more fibrous nature of the pancreas. Despite the struggles, advances continued to be made by a number of groups that continued to have faith that this therapy could have clinical relevance in the future.

The first human islet transplants were performed in the 1970's (72), though normalization of blood glucose and insulin independence was only rarely reported (73). As with the animal trials, several advances in human islet transplantation were made by investigators over the course of the following two decades. In particular, the development of the Ricordi digestion chamber (74) and the development of a protocol for the controlled perfusion and distension of the pancreas with the digestive enzyme collagenase (75;76) greatly improved islet purity and yields. Nontheless, when the Islet Transplant Registry reported in 1992 the results of the 90 procedures between 1974 and 1989, only 5 patients (5.6%) were insulin independent after one year (77). Improvements were made during the following decade – such as the introduction of the COBE continuous purification system (78) and the use of purified enzyme blends with low endotoxin content (79) - when 237 procedures were performed between 1990 and 1999, though still only 27 of the patients (11.4%) remained insulin independent after one year (80). It seemed clear that some change needed to be made in the existing protocols of the time for islet transplantation to provide for diabetic patients a real hope of living a life without insulin.

1.3.1 The Edmonton protocol

In 2000, the culmination of thirty years of work led the group at Edmonton to announce in a landmark paper that they had managed to normalize blood glucose by islet transplantation without exogenous insulin in 100% of 7 patients for greater than 1 year (81). This new protocol in particular involved improvements with respect to an increased mass of transplanted islets and a new glucocorticoid-free immunosuppression regime. The announcement led to the establishment of multi-center clinical trials with subsequent success in other centers (82), with success rates varying between centers due to site specific modifications and improvements in the experimental protocol (83-86). In fact, success rates were so dramatically improved that from the announcement in 2000 to mid 2005, a total of 471 patients with Type 1 diabetes in 43 institutions worldwide had received islet transplant therapy (87), more than had received islet transplants in the entire 30-year history preceding the Edmonton protocol. One year follow up rates continue to be impressive in most established centers. In a total of 118 patients in Edmonton, Minnesota and Miami, 82% were insulin free at 1 year (83). In another study of 36 patients at nine international sites, 80% of recipients at the three most experienced sites was over 80% (82).

Though early results have been promising, it is clear also that the long term efficacy of this islet transplant therapy remains somewhat uncertain. In a follow-up study of patients transplanted at Edmonton it was found that only a minority of patients (approximately 10%) remained insulin independent at five years, though about 80% seemingly retained some level of graft function (88). Furthermore, a number of patients developed complications as a result of immunosuppressive therapy, such as mouth ulcers, edema, anemia, diarrhea, weigh loss or ovarian cysts. Still others developed hypertension, pneumonia or macroproteinuria. Three patients had pneumonia, two seroconverted to CMV and many developed an increased need for lipid-lowering medications. One patient developed papillary carcinoma of the thyroid. Despite the advances, there are clearly deficiencies in islet transplant therapy yet to be overcome in order to make this treatment a stable, long-term solution to the problem and complications of Type 1 diabetes.

1.3.2 Limitations of islet transplantation

Though much less invasive than pancreas transplantation, islet transplant surgery is not free from complications. In the five-year follow-up from Edmonton, a number of acute complications were associated with the procedure (88), namely: portal vein thrombosis (n=5), punctured gall bladder (n=2), elevated average portal pressure and elevated average liver transaminases. Each of these complications, though not without risk, were easily managed or resolved with time. Of larger concern were complications associated with the immunosuppression regime of tacrolimus, sirolimus, and daclizumab necessary to prevent immediate rejection and destruction of the islet graft (81). Immunosuppressive drugs are not well tolerated by all patients, the benefits of which need to be weighed against the potential risks and complications, mentioned earlier. Furthermore, the whole area of islet transplantation suffers from a mammoth shortage of donor tissue, evidenced in the mere hundreds of procedures done in the face of hundreds of millions of diabetics world wide. We shall hereafter focus our attention on the challenges faced by investigators in field of islet transplantation to two main areas: the shortage of islet supply, and the problem of tissue rejection.

1.3.2.1 Source/supply

Recent data obtained from the Edmonton group has reported that and average of nearly 800,000 islets were required among recipients to achieve insulin independence (88). Compound this finding with the multiple pancreas donors needed to supply this number of islets to each recipient, with the variations in islet isolation yield between each pancreas (for not every pancreas obtained makes it to transplant) (89), and with the

overall shortage of organ donors, we can see that we just need more islets. Even highestyield preparations only recover 20-50% of the potential islet mass (90), and though increased numbers of islets per pancreas may obtained through improvements in pancreas procurement (91-93) and islet isolation (94-96), it is not enough. The ability to use single versus multiple donor transplantation to achieve insulin independence (84) could potentially double the number of graft recipients; however it is not enough. The use of non-heart beating donors has been proposed as a means of increasing the pool of available pancreata (85), but it is not enough. Also, the use of living related donors to provide pancreatic segments (97;98) for islet isolation has recently been considered as a potential source of transplant table islets. Still, this does not provide enough tissue to manage the millions of patients with Type 1 diabetes. Clearly, if ever investigators are to manage Type 1 diabetes independent of daily insulin injections, alternative reserves of transplantable tissue must be found. We shall explore these potential sources of shortly hereafter.

1.3.2.2 Immune rejection

It has already heretofore been discussed the complications resulting from the immunosuppressive drugs used to prevent rejection of islet grafts. Nonetheless, were it not for these medications the engrafted islets would have no chance of survival beyond one week, much less one year, as allograft rejection is an immunologic inevitability. It has also been shown that islets exposed to ABO-compatible blood triggers a blood-mediated inflammatory reaction instantaneously, leading to clot formation, leukocyte infiltration and subsequent islet damage (99;100). Furthermore, the primary pathology of Type 1 diabetes, namely the autoimmune attack of pancreatic β -cells, may unless treated

lead to the selective destruction of transplanted β -cells, just as in the native pancreas (101). In order for islet transplantation to be reasonably applicable to all Type 1 diabetic patients, researchers and clinicians must develop immunosuppressive regimens that minimize the side effects of such therapies, or alternatively develop strategies that overcome the need for chronic systemic immunosuppression altogether. Much of the focus of our present work has been focused on exploiting such strategies, and as such, alternatives to immune suppression shall be discussed later in this text.

1.4 ALTERNATIVE SOURCES OF TRANSPLANTABLE ISLETS

Due to the extreme shortage of human cadaveric islets, it is essential to find an alternate source of transplantable tissue is this treatment is to become widespread therapy among the population of diabetic patients at large. This tissue would need to adhere to a number of criteria in order to be a suitable replacement for the allogeneic islets currently used in clinical trials. First, and obviously, the tissue would need to produce insulin. This could potentially occur naturally, as in islets, or could be the result of manipulating non-islet cells to produce insulin. Furthermore, this tissue would need to produce enough insulin to warrant the procedure; that is, they would need to produce enough insulin to normalize blood glucose, or at least reduce the requirement for injection. Next, the transplanted cells should respond to physiological stimuli in a manner similar to pancreatic β -cells, particularly in response to changes in blood glucose concentrations. We would want to ensure that insulin is released in response to a meal, for example, but not so much insulin that the transplant recipient becomes severely hypoglycemic. Ideally, the transplanted cells would maintain stable normoglycemia just like native β -cells. Finally, we would hope that transplanted cells would be as non-immunogenic as possible. This could

potentially reduce or eliminate the requirement for immunosuppressive medications, along with their associated side effects and complications.

1.4.1 Cellular approaches

A number of cell-based approaches have the potential to provide an abundant supply of insulin producing cells. One potential approach is through the establishment of an immortalized β -cell line (102). Such lines have been reported to produce near physiological amounts of insulin (102;103) and have been shown to normalize blood glucose concentrations in mice (104;105). Another cell based approach is the use genetically modified of non- β -cell lines – cells that do not naturally produce insulin but are bioengineered to produce and release insulin via gene transfection. Such cells that could be engineered to produce insulin might include K-cells from the gut (106), myoblasts (107), fibroblasts (107), and hepatocytes (108;109). While it seems as though there may be a whole myriad of cells that might potentially be used in place of pancreatic β -cells, these various cell lines are not without their shortcomings. To begin with, some of these cell lines have been shown to de-differentiate in culture, subsequently leading to changes in insulin release dynamics (103;104). Also, it can be difficult to replicate all of the molecular machinery necessary for glucose sensing, insulin production and insulin release in cells not naturally predisposed to do so. Finally, some of these cell lines are often shown to have unregulated proliferation potential *in vivo* (102), subsequently leading to insulin overproduction, severe hypoglycemia and death of the recipient. What is certain is that much more work needs to be done before any such cell lines can be used in the clinical realm.

1.4.2 Islet progenitor cells

Other cells need not be unnaturally manipulated to grow or to produce insulin – the potential to do so lies within the cell itself. These cells may exist as stem cells or precursor cells within the pancreas itself and could potentially be differentiated to become actual islets. A number of investigators have published data supporting the thought that the ductal cells of the pancreas have the ability to act as pancreatic precursor cells (110;111). Others have suspected that it is rather a specific sub-population of cells within the pancreatic ducts that are the islet precursors (112;113). Others have hypothesized that these precursor exist within the islet itself (114;115). Still others hypothesize that islets may develop from a dedifferentiation of exocrine cell of the pancreas into ductal cells and subsequent re-differentiation event into endocrine cells (116-118). Extensive study has been done trying to determine the events and factors involved in islet neogenesis, and while much uncertainty exists, what is certain is that the endocrine pancreas is a dynamic organ, responding to growth, development, and changes in conditions. As more is understood about the dynamic pancreas, the potential exists to greatly expand the mass of donor islets through the expansion of cadaveric donor islet precursors. Furthermore, the potential exists also to activate β -cell neogenesis in the pancreatic tissue of the Type 1 diabetic patient, either in vivo or ex vivo, allowing regeneration of the patients own insulin producing tissue and eliminating the need for chronic systemic immunosuppression in that patient.

1.4.3 Embryonic stem cells for islets

Human embryonic stem (ES) cells are derived from the inner layer of the blastocyst (119;120). The wide interest of these cells in the field of medical research lies in the ability of these cells to self renew and differentiate (121;122), theoretically giving these cells the ability to differentiate into any definitive cell type when exposed to the proper signals over time. Furthermore, with the establishment of ES cell lines it could be possible to develop an unlimited supply of cells for transplantation. Thus, the hope is that study will lead researchers to discover the necessary cues to transform these cells into glucose-sensitive insulin producing endocrine β -cells (123). Already, some investigators have demonstrated the ability to obtain insulin-producing cell clusters from human ES cells (124;125). Furthermore, it has been shown in animal models that ES cells differentiated into islet-like structures have the ability to correct hyperglycemia when transplanted into diabetic animals (126;127). Even more promising is the proposal that ES cells may have reduced immunogenicity (128), as in the undifferentiated state they have been proposed to be immunologically undefined and programmed by the host's own immune system as "self" tissue (129). Furthermore, these cells could also be manipulated prior to transplantation to induce immune-compatibility with the intended recipient (128;130). Unfortunately, the use of ES cells in the clinical realm is not without its obstacles to overcome. Like other cell lines, much work yet needs to be done to determine the factors and timing necessary to transform an undifferentiated stem cell into something resembling a β -cell. Also, understanding mechanisms of cell expansion, particularly how to turn it on and off, is key before moving into the clinic in order to avoid teratoma formation in transplant recipients (119). Finally, there are the various

ethical and religious sensitivities concerning the use of human embryonic tissue for medical research (131;132), which makes the future of embryonic stem cell research somewhat uncertain.

1.4.4 Xenografts

With the shortage of tissues of human origin, it becomes prudent to look to other potential sources for transplantable tissues. Xenotransplantation refers to the use of tissues from non-human species for transplantation into humans. Xenotransplantation is not a new concept and has been studied and even used for years (133), particularly in the realm of heart and pulmonary transplantation (134). Even in the treatment of diabetes, xenotransplantation was first considered over a century ago when Watson attempted to cure diabetes in a 13-year-old child through subcutaneous implantation of sheep pancreas fragments (135). A number of animal models have been studied in an attempt to find suitable donors, and while much has been learned, a number of obstacles still need to be considered to make xenotransplantation feasible.

1.4.4.1 Potential sources of xenogeneic tissue

A number of species have been considered as potential sources of tissues for islet xenotransplantation. Whereas non-human primates (NHP) may initially seem to be the most obvious choice given their genetic and anatomical similarities to humans, there are a number of problems associated with using NHP's as donors. These animals do not breed well in captivity and have relatively few young over the course of their lifetime compared to other large mammals. Also of concern is the risk of cross-species disease transmission (136), given the concordance between these species and the similarity between NHP and
human pathogens. As such, other discordant species have been considered as islet donors, more notably the cow (137;138), the pig (139;140), and the islet-like structures known as Brockmann bodies of teleost fish (141;142). As the consensus among many investigators regards the pig as the species of choice with regards to xenotransplantation (143), we shall focus our discussion hereafter on the use of porcine islet transplantation as a treatment for Type 1 diabetes.

1.4.4.2 Pig

Pigs have a number of characteristics that make them very appealing for xenotransplantation donors over NHP's or other animals (144). Pigs breed rapidly and have large litters. Pigs are domesticated and can be easily housed in a specific pathogenfree environment. Though an immunologically discordant species to humans, they are anatomically, physiologically and biochemically similar to humans and have shown some compatibility with humans (143). As an example, porcine insulin differs from human insulin by only one amino acid (145). Furthermore, pigs have the added advantage of being quite easily genetically manipulated, potentially addressing some of the rejection issues surrounding xenotransplantation (146). Results were poor, however, in attempts to isolate of adult pig islets (147), due largely to the inability to obtain a relatively pure islet preparation (148) and the overall fragility of the islets (147;149). Fetal porcine islets were isolated from the pancreas with greater success, though given the immaturity of these islets, they tended to exhibit poor insulin responsiveness to glucose (150;151). What was needed was a means of obtaining best of both adult and neonatal islets: islets that were easy to isolate, produced sufficient yields, and which showed acceptable insulin responsiveness to a glucose challenge.

1.4.4.2.1 Neonatal porcine islets

In the early 1980's it was shown that islets isolated from neonatal (newborn) pigs were capable of secreting significant quantities of insulin in response to a glucose challenge *in vitro* (152;153). Then, in 1996, Korbutt *et al.* published a method for the large scale isolation of neonatal porcine islets (NPI) (154). Furthermore, results published that these islets survived well in tissue culture, during which time the total β -cell mass increased 150%. These islets had the ability to correct hyperglycemia in 100% of diabetic mice receiving 2000 islets, and when recovered at 14-weeks post-transplantation had a 20- to 30-fold increase in cellular insulin than at the time of transplantation. Subsequent experiments have shown evidence that suggests that these relatively immature islets have the ability to grow and mature both in tissue culture (139) and in vivo (155). Further experiments in Edmonton and elsewhere have also shown the ability of these NPI's to restore normoglycemia diabetic animals both small (154;156) and large (157;158).

What is most exciting about advances in the use of neonatal pig islets is their potential to move quickly into clinical trials. It was shown in Sweden in the early 1990's (140) and subsequent follow-up studies (159-161) that fetal porcine islets transplanted into human recipients failed to demonstrate any adverse effects to recipient patients. Furthermore, though none of the recipients became insulin independent, four patients in this trial demonstrated signs of xenografts function (C-peptide release) for 200 to 400 days post-transplantation. Given the immature nature of fetal islets versus the incredible growth, differentiation and insulin release potential of neonatal porcine islets, it would seem hopeful that NPI's would be effectual in providing a measure of insulin-relief to primates and humans. In fact, a recent study in *Nature Medicine* demonstrated the ability

of transplanted NPI's to restore insulin independence to rhesus monkeys with only minimal immune suppression for up to >260 days (162). This announcement signifies a huge leap forward in islet transplant research, and is one major step closer to advancing neonatal porcine islet transplantation into the clinical arena. Furthermore, considering the fact that a single litter of pigs could potentially produce enough islets to transplant two human diabetics (163), this therapy has the added advantage over any other available modality of being able to treat a significant proportion of the population of diabetic patients at large.

1.4.4.3 Barriers to xenotransplantation

The obstructions to clinical xenotransplantation fall under three broad headings. First, there are a number of ethical issues surrounding xenotransplantation (164). Formation of the Ethics Committee of the International Xenotransplantation Association (165) and other such organizations are the result of such issues. While a discussion on this matter is of a scope far larger than the constraints of this work, it is nonetheless of relevance to add that there will inevitably be persons of various nations or religious convictions for whom xenotransplantation will not be an option. Next, the risk of cross-species infection or disease transmission (xenozoonosis) requires significant attention to ensure that the donor tissue is in fact safe to be transplanted into human recipients. It would be irresponsible to transplant a patient with tissue that may not only instigate disease in the recipient, but in the case of endogenous retroviruses potentially to their progeny as well. Finally, to become a clinical reality we must ensure that the effects of host immunity are addressed in order to ensure the success of the transplanted xenogeneic tissue. Potentially, this could be the result of either treating the donor of interest, or the recipient, or both.

1.4.4.3.1 Xenozoonosis

Certainly, in an age when SARS and Avian flu make general public fearful of disease transmission from animals, the issue of xenozoonoisis from xenotransplantation must be approached with great prudence. Much of the attention has focused on the pig with regards to xenograft disease transmission to humans. Within the genome of the pigs are found porcine endogenous retroviruses (PERVs), and a great deal of concern has focused on the potential risk of this retrovirus replicating and initiating disease in human recipients or their families. While there has been no indication as yet of PERV transmission to humans working with (166) or receiving transplants of porcine tissues (160;161;167), nor has it been shown that PERV is capable of a productive infection (168;169), it has nonetheless been shown that there is a risk of PERV migrating from implanted tissue into the blood (170) and peripheral tissues (171) of the recipient, and that PERV can in fact infect human cells (172). A recent study also noted that PERV expression is up-regulated briefly after transplantation (173). These concerns are further amplified by discoveries that these retrovirally infected cells may be able to evade immune destruction (172) and that these cells may potentially give rise to retrovirally induced cancers such as leukemia (172;174). New studies indicate that the treatment of the PERV problem may be possible through the use of RNA interference (175;176), and naturally occurring human antibodies have been shown to prevent transmission of PERV to human cells (177;178). Still, further study on PERV is needed, and continued longterm follow-up of recipients of porcine tissue is certainly warranted, not only to determine the risk of infection, but particularly to determine if PERV is pathogenic to humans.

1.4.4.3.2 Xenograft rejection

Multiple immunological barriers must be overcome if pig-to-human transplantation is to become successful, though of greatest consequence among the various xenoreactive antigens are the presence of glycoproteins containing the terminal carbohydrate galactose $\alpha(1,3)$ -galactose ($\alpha 1,3$ -Gal). This epitope is generated by the enzyme $\alpha 1,3$ -galactosyltransferase (α 1,3-GT), which is absent in humans, apes and Old World monkeys, though it is present in the vascular epithelium of other mammals. α 1,3-Gal is also a cell wall component of gastrointestinal bacteria, and as such, anti- α 1,3-Gal antibodies develop early in life. Binding of these naturally occurring xenoreactive antibodies (XNA) in human sera to α 1,3-Gal antigens present xenograft cells initiates an immune process known as hyperacute rejection (HAR). Antibody binding activates compliment, rapidly destroying the graft within 2 days through an intense inflammatory response (179). Acute humoral and cellular rejection may also develop subsequent to HAR (167). Innate and adaptive responses to xenografts must not be underestimated [reviewed in (180)]. Finally, as Type 1 diabetes is an autoimmune disease, the recurrence of the autoimmune disease and subsequent destruction of the transplanted xenograft by the original diabetogenic immune response must be considered (101). It is not totally certain whether xenogeneic islets can be recognized by the specific autoimmune repertoire, though there is some evidence that this may be of little concern, as the effectors of autoreactivity may be species specific (138). Nonetheless, it is certain that graft rejection is a major obstacle to the success of xenotransplantation, the treatment of which warrants intense study and review.

1.5 CIRCUMVENTING REJECTION OF TRANSPLANTED ISLETS

In addition to protecting the well-being of the recipient, investigators in the area of islet xenotransplantation aim to secure the safety and longevity of the donor graft within the recipient. In attempting to meet both these goals, one or more strategies may be employed. First, therapies can be employed to reduce host immunity prior to and/or following transplantation of xenogeneic tissues. Next, donor animals can be addressed, in an attempt to find or develop animals of reduced immunogenicity. Finally, donor tissue can be treated following recovery from the donor, but prior to transplantation in an attempt to make it more immune-compatible with its potential host. The remainder of this treatise shall be concerned with a review of techniques for protecting islet grafts from host immunity.

1.5.1 Reducing recipient immune responsiveness

Methods for reducing the ability of the recipients to form an immune response to an islet transplant fall into three areas. To begin with, the use of immunosuppressive medications can be used to ameliorate graft survival by reducing the ability of immune effector cells to mount a response to the implanted cells. Next, other techniques have been studied that attempt to hide transplanted cells by tolerizing the host immune system to the graft, making the graft appear as though it were 'self' tissue. Finally, within the body there exist specific sites that are in themselves immune compromised and which provide a level of protection to both foreign and self cells existing within the localized environment. Each of these techniques shall briefly be discussed.

1.5.1.1 Immunosuppression

As mentioned earlier, current clinical islet transplantation protocols involve the use of three primary immunosuppressants, sirolimus, low-dose tacrolimus and daclizumab, along with oral antibiotic prophylaxis to prevent post-surgical infection (81). These primary medications prevent rejection of the implanted islet by systemically suppressing the immune function of the recipient. While this does slow the rate of graft failure, it also results in secondary complications and side effects (88). As a result, this therapy may be poorly tolerated in many patients. Systemic suppression of immunity opens the host up to a myriad of potential infections, parasites and cancers that might otherwise be easily handled by regular immune function. New approaches have sought to more specifically inhibit host immunity to xenogeneic cells through the use of monoclonal antibodies (mAb). As an example, CD154 mAb has been used to specifically bind and deplete circulating anti-Gal antibodies in recipients with encouraging results (181;182). Combinations of multiple mAb's have more recently been used as a means of adding even further specificity to the therapy (183;184). Similar to mAb therapy, infusions of specific synthetic Gal oligosaccharides into graft recipients have been used to competitively bind and deplete anti-Gal antibodies (185;186). Such therapies provide specificity of response and reduce the susceptibility of human antibody/complement cytolysis of the graft in the recipient while minimizing potential side effects, making such treatments appealing for continued study and future therapeutic use.

1.5.1.2 Induction of immune tolerance

Ultimately the hope is that islet transplantation will be able to restore normal glucose responsiveness in the absence of exogenous immunosuppressive therapy. Tolerance defined is a permanent state of immune unresponsiveness of the recipient to the islet graft. The ability to induce such a state would allow clinicians the opportunity to extend this therapy to recipients for whom islet transplantation was not previously possible. A number of experimental procedures to induce tolerance are currently underway and have shown promise. One approach includes the selective withdrawal or 'weaning' of patients from immunosuppressive medications or monoclonal antibody therapies (187-189). Another such strategy to induce tolerance involves the co-stimulatory blockade of Tcells, effectively preventing T-cell activation and clonal expansion. Of particular interest here are the monoclonal antibodies CTLA immunoglobulin (190) and anti-CD154 (191;192) (anti-CD154 you may recall also has an anti-Gal antibody depleting effect, and is thus particularly effective). Similarly, the use of potent T-cell depleting agents at the time of transplantation has been shown to be an effective strategy for facilitating tolerance and long term survival to islet xenografts (193;194). Myeloablation followed by bone marrow transplantation has been shown to induce mixed hematopoetic chimerism and has proved to be perhaps the most successful means of inducing tolerance in the clinic (195;196). Clearly, tolerance induction is an exciting area of study, and though it has only been reviewed briefly here, more thorough reviews of the topic are available (180;197).

1.5.1.3 Transplantation to immune compromised sites

A form of tolerance exists whereby foreign tissue can be implanted into one of a number of naturally occurring sites in the body in the absence of immune suppression with little or reduced risk of rejection (198). Some of these locations include the testes (199), brain (200) and thymus (201). Furthermore, islets implanted into each of these sites have shown improved or indefinite survival compared with non-privileged sites. The mechanism of this protection certainly includes the blood tissue barriers (202;203), but it also extends beyond these physical barriers to include an immune system actively involved in this protection (203). Immune privilege in these sites likely also involves the induction of apoptosis in invading T-cells (204) and mononuclear cells (205) as a means of prolonging the survival of foreign cells transplanted into these sites. This reaction is mediated by, but not restricted to the interaction of Fas ligand receptors in these sites with Fas receptors on invading immune cells (205). Unfortunately, islet transplantation into these sites is limited clinically by a number of anatomical constraints, such as the size of the site, or in the case of the testes, the complete absence of the site in roughly half the population. As such, investigation of these sites has largely focused on the mechanisms of protection provided by specific effector cells. Of particular interest are the Sertoli cells of the testes.

1.5.1.3.1 Sertoli cells

Sertoli cells are found within the seminiferous tubules of the testes where they function to nurse and support developing germ cells (206). Sertoli cells have also been shown to form tight junctions creating a blood-testes barrier, providing a site of immune-privilege

to germ cells inside the barrier (207;208). In addition to providing this barrier, Sertoli cells have a role in the prevention of immune rejection of host germ cells through the secretion of numerous factors that have been shown to have a role in local immune tolerance (209-214). Sertoli cells have particularly developed the interest of researchers for their ability to be isolated from and transplanted distally to the testes to form a surgically created site of immune privilege (215;216). Sertoli cells have been shown to secrete a number of factors, many of which are involved in active immune suppression. These include proteins involved in transport and bio-protection; proteases and protease inhibitors; basement membrane proteins; hormones and growth factors; and many other factors involved in immune regulation. While a thorough review of these regulators is too extensive for the purposes of this work, they are nonetheless reviewed in greater detail elsewhere (217;218). What is of importance for our purposes is that, taken together, Sertoli cells transplanted into a foreign site have been shown to provide an immunoprotective (204;209), anti-inflammatory (219;220), and tolerizing (221;222) environment in the immediate vicinity of the Sertoli cell graft.

1.5.1.3.1.1 Co-transplantation with islets

As a result of this locally created environment of immune privilege, Sertoli cells have been of great interest o researchers in the area of islet transplantation. As a result of the fact that both islets and Sertoli cells are transplanted as cellular grafts, these cells can be transplanted together in the hopes of the Sertoli cells creating a microenvironment of protection for the co-engrafted islets. Furthermore, in the case of neonatal porcine islets, it is hoped that the 'nurse cell' properties of Sertoli cells will provide factors for the aided growth and maturation of the islets. Co-transplantation studies have clearly shown that

Sertoli cells have some ability to protect pancreatic islets from allograft (215;216) and xenograft (223;224) rejection. Additionally, there is evidence that Sertoli cells have some ability to protect β -cells from a recurrence in autoimmune destruction (210;211). This model for providing an environment of tolerance for transplanted islets shows great promise clinically, may provide an excellent means of delivery for xenogeneic islets into humans, and is currently under investigation clinically (225).

1.5.2 Reduction of donor animal immunogenicity

Alteration of donor animals for xenotransplantation is an appealing prospect for reducing the immunogenicity of porcine donor tissues. In particular, the creation of transgenic pigs has evolved as a popular prospect. Genetically engineered galactosyl-transferase gene "knockout" pigs are produced by inactivating the α 1,3-GT gene in an attempt to evade hyperacute rejection (226). RNA interference can be used similarly to downregulate α 1,3-GT expression to decrease porcine endothelial cell immunogenicity (227). Other transgenic pigs have been developed expressing human complement inhibitors to surmount immune destruction of the xenografts (228-230). Genetically manipulated animals are not without their shortcomings, however. Unfortunately, in eliminating HAR, PERV derived from infection α 1,3-GT knockout pigs may have increased infectious potential (231). Furthermore, when hyperacute rejection can be prevented, acute humoral and cellular rejection develops (167). While the development of immunologically compatible xenogeneic donors is ideal, further refinement and understanding is necessary to achieve greater success.

1.5.3 Pre-transplantation treatment of donor islets

In addition to developing genetically compatible transgenic animals, transplantable islets can be treated prior to transplantation in an attempt to reduce their ability to elicit an immune response or be destroyed by such a response. In fact, one the of the great tenets of islet transplantation, and in fact cellular transplantation in general over whole organ transplantation is the ability to work with the cells of interest prior to their transplantation and function in recipients. For example, there is evidence that the immunogenicity of islets may be reduced by tissue culture (232), antibody treatment (233), UV irradiation of the islets (234) or cryopreservation (235;236) of islets prior to transplantation. Improving islet isolation techniques in order to increase the purity of islet preps could arguably decrease the immunogenicity of the graft be reducing the vascular content and subsequent α 1,3-Gal content of the graft (237). The reduction of α 1,3-Gal through enzymatic cleavage of α 1,3-Gal or its replacement with some innocuous oligosaccharide has also shown potential in rendering pig cells less immunogenic to the human immune system (238;239). Furthermore, islets transfected with genes protecting against apoptosis (240) or genes inducing islets to produce their own immunoprotective cytokines (241) prior to transplantation could potentially protect islets and greatly improve graft survival.

1.5.3.1 Immune barriers

In addition to specifically treating the cells within the islet to reduce donor immunogenicity, there exists another strategy for the pre-transplant handling of the islets. Whereas the use of immunosuppression, the creation of transgenic animals, and the manipulation of islet cells prior to transplant involves the creation of a conceptual barrier

around the islet to prevent immune destruction of the graft, the next approach involves the creation of actual physical barriers around the transplanted tissues for protection. Thus, these technologies may act in principle much as the naturally occurring sites of immune privilege in the body, though they are artificially created. This technology involved devices that could be placed in a number of different sites within the body and may have either direct vascular access or may operate by diffusion of nutrients and products into the interstitial tissues. Intravascular devices allow the flow of blood through the lumen of some sort of porous tube that houses the islets, whereas extravascular devices function by diffusion and do not require vascular anastomoses (reducing the risk of thrombosis). Furthermore, islets can be placed in devices where all of the implanted cells are housed within the same chamber (macroencapsulation), or islets can be individually enveloped in their own membrane (microencapsulation). Regardless of the means of encapsulation or location of the implant, these devices must allow the selective permeation of glucose, nutrients and oxygen in and the passage of metabolic wastes and secreted factors such as insulin out, all while protecting from host immunity. Furthermore, the encapsulation material itself should be immunologically inert.

1.5.3.1.1 Immunoisolation devices

The use of a semi-permeable membrane for protection of islets from immune attack was first published by Chick *et al.* in 1977 (242). Since then, researchers and industry working in this field have evolved into the study of two types of macroencapsulation device: vascular biohybrid devices and diffusion chambers. Vascularized bioartificial pancreas (VBAP) devices (243) consisted of a single-coiled acrylic polymer in a disc shaped acrylic housing could be anastomosed into the vascular system. These devices allowed the exchange of products between the blood and luminal space of the device, and showed some promising results, particularly in dogs (244). Unfortunately, the period of insulin independence was only brief, and thrombosis associated with the presence of the islets was a major problem and cause of failure (245). Hollow fiber (246;247) and flat disk-shaped (248;249) diffusion chambers were also investigated. Experiments explored the use of a variety of materials of differing porosities in an attempt to improve the immunoprotective and biocompatibility properties of these devices, with varying success (reviewed in (250)). One of these diffusion chambers, the TheraCyte device (Baxter Healthcare, Round Lake, IL, USA) even had the added advantage of a double layer polyester-Biopore membrane (248) that could be subcutaneously implanted and neovascularized prior to islet transplantation into the device (251). Unfortunately all these devices were severely limited by lack of nutrient availability caused by the high density of islets within the device and the extensive fibrosis that tended to develop on the surface of these chambers over time.

1.5.3.1.2 Microencapsulation

As an alternative to larger immunoisolation devices designed to contain hundreds or thousands of islets in one central chamber, microencapsulation employs the use of stable, purified biocompatible materials to surround and protect individual islets from immune destruction. Microcapsules offer a number of advantages over other encapsulation devices, including greater surface area to volume ratio, ease of implantation, and retrievability by lavage and aspiration, if necessary. While the mechanisms by which microcapsules protect islet xenografts from host destruction are not fully understood, it has been suggested that prevention of cell-cell contact with host lymphocytes may be a factor (252). Another advantage is the ability to manipulate these microcapsules for their biocompatibility (253;254), size (255;256), loading density (number of islets per capsule) (257), porosity (258:259) and rate of degradation (260), all of which have effects on the subsequent survival of the islets. A number of materials have been used in the past for encapsulation of islets. Among these are a number of synthetic materials, such as isopropylacrylamide (261), hydroxyethyl methacrylate-methyl methacrylate (HEMA-MMA) (262), polyethylene glycol (PEG) (263), and polyacrylonitrile (AN69) (264). Also, a number of naturally occurring biomaterials have been used for encapsulation of islets, including cellulose (265), agarose (266), chitosan (267) and alginate (268). Furthermore, variations of capsules combining these various substrates, along with other materials, have been explored (269;270). Despite the various materials used, however, alginate has predominated as the material of choice in the field of islet encapsulation as it has been shown to remain stable for up to years in small and large animals and found to not interfere with the cellular function of the islet (271). As such, alginate encapsulation of islets shall be the focus of the remainder of our discussion.

1.5.3.1.2.1 Alginate microcapsules

Alginate was first used in 1977 by Kiestan and Bucke to study the effects of alginate immobilization on microbial cells. Then, in 1980, Lim and Sun published results indicating that islets immobilized in alginate gels could be transplanted into diabetic rats and correct the diabetic state for 2-3 weeks (268). This paper subsequently inspired more than 25 years of research among investigators attempting to optimize this procedure and extend the period of normoglycemia in transplanted animals indefinitely. To better

understand this technology, we will discuss the make-up of alginate, some of the past successes and challenges in this area, and discuss potential future directions for success.

1.5.3.1.2.1.1 Composition and properties of alginate

Alginate, a derivative of brown algae, is a linear polysaccharide consisting of 1,4-linked β -D-mannuronate (M) and its C-5 epimer α -L-guluronate (G). Monomers can appear in chains of consecutive G-residues (G-blocks), consecutive M-residues (M-blocks), alternating M and G-residues (MG-blocks), or in randomly organized blocks. Chemical composition, primary structure and average block lengths are determined by NMR spectroscopy (272). The relative amount of each block type varies with the geographical origin of the algae from which it is obtained as well as the method used for the alginate extraction (273). The physical-chemical and biological properties of alginate vary widely with this differing composition. Alginate gels instantaneously in the presence of divalent cations like Ca²⁺ or Ba²⁺ and occurs when the divalent cations take part in the interchain ionic binding between guluronic acid blocks (G-blocks) in the polymer chain, giving rise to a three dimensional network. Consequently alginates with a high content of G-blocks induce stronger gels with a more stable and more porous network. Gels made of M-rich alginate are softer, more fragile and have a lower porosity due to the lower binding strength between the polymer chains and to the greater flexibility of the molecules.

A number of issues require attention with respect to using alginate as a material for encapsulation. Biocompatibility is a significant issue when working with alginate, or any materials used in transplantation for that matter. Alginate biocompatibility is dependent on a number of factors. Foremost among these is the relative purity and compositions of the alginate (274). Crude forms of alginate are known to contain a number of impurities known to provoke inflammation (275-277), and the careful purification of the alginate has been shown to considerably reduce its inflammatory potential (254) and demonstrate the need for using pure alginate preparations (278). Furthermore, the biocompatibility of the alginate may be influenced by the relative Mand G-contents of the alginate (276-278), though there still remains some discussion as to whether high G or high M alginates are more ideal. Also, biocompatibility is a function of the M- and G-contents of the alginate which affects whether islets are adequately encapsulated (279) and the relative smoothness of the capsule surface (271). Finally, size of the capsules generated is of great interest. Smaller capsules have the advantage of a higher surface to volume ratio, allowing good transport of essential nutrients. Smaller capsules are also less fragile. Diffusion limitations with larger beads may limit cellular metabolism, as the lack of oxygen and essential nutrients to the interior of the capsule may lead to death of the islet to starvation (280). In overcoming these issues, great refinements have been made in the purification and production of alginate microcapsules (281-283), which has led to increasing promise and success in vivo with this transplantation technology.

1.5.3.1.2.1.2 Transplantation of alginate encapsulated islets

A discussion of the transplantation of encapsulated islets begins with an exploration of the site of implantation of the capsules. The regular sites involved, namely the liver, spleen and kidney capsule have not been considered to be ideal for the transplantation of encapsulated islets due to the large increase in the volume of the graft resulting from the alginate capsule, though one study has reported that the intraportal delivery may be feasible (284). Regardless, larger sites have been favored for implantation of encapsulated islets, particularly the peritoneal cavity. Unfortunately, the peritoneal cavity has its drawbacks as a site, such as the low oxygen tension (285) and non-physiologic route for insulin delivery (286). Creation of a surgical omental pouch has shown promise as an alternative site to the peritoneum (255), and recently one study involving transplantation of encapsulated islets under the skin and kidney capsule has shown promising results (287), though this has yet to be repeated elsewhere.

As of now, transplantation of encapsulated islets has been extensively studied and has been shown to enhance the survival of both allogeneic and xenogeneic islets in small animal models. Intraperitoneal (i.p.) transplants of encapsulated islet allografts have been performed successfully in mice (288) and rats (289), and intraperitoneal xenografts transplanted into diabetic mice have normalized blood glucose for over 100 days (290;291). Transplantation of encapsulated islet allografts have also shown moderate success in pancreatectomized larger mammals (255). Furthermore, one center has shown sustained insulin independence for more than 9 months after i.p. transplantation of microencapsulated allogeneic islets into spontaneously diabetic dogs (292;293) and in one diabetic human (294), and in another center xenotransplantation of pig islets into cynomolgus monkeys has demonstrated normoglycemia in recipients for up to 803 days in the absence of adjuvant immunosuppressive therapy (295). While insulin independence as this has not been repeated in other labs, recent results demonstrating reduced blood glycemia and glucose requirements in cynomolgus primates transplanted with neonatal porcine islets (296) and two humans transplanted with allogeneic islets (297) demonstrate the clinical relevance of alginate encapsulation of islets and the need for continued study.

1.5.3.1.2.1.3 Obstacles to transplantation of encapsulated islets

Despite successes using encapsulated islets to alleviate hyperglycemia in diabetic animals and humans, this technology is still fraught with areas requiring improvement. Already discussed were concerns with alginate biocompatibility, the emphasis of which cannot be understated, particularly as it pertains to the necessity of complete encapsulation of islets for transplantation. Transplantation of incompletely encapsulated tissue, particularly in humans, would negate the immune barrier properties of this technology. Additionally, capsule size is of concern (298), not only with respect to the volume and site of implantation but also with regards to the diffusion properties of the capsule and the ability of oxygen and other nutrients to reach the islets (299). Furthermore, there are technical difficulties with regards to the relatively slow production rates of capsules (300), which would certainly need to be overcome prior to this therapy becoming widely available to the population of diabetic patients *en mass*.

Technical difficulties associated with islet encapsulation technology are sure to be overcome with time and as methods improve. Of perhaps greater concern are the immunological barriers to islet transplantation that investigators hope to overcome through the use of alginate immunoprotection. Though alginate microencapsulation provides some protection to islets from host-mediated immune destruction, it is by no means a perfect barrier. Observations that transplanted capsules have shown the adherence of cells to the membrane surface indicates that the material forming the capsules was not sufficiently inert to prevent a foreign-body reaction (301;302). As we discussed earlier, alginates of differing compositions exhibit different immunogenicities, a likely reason for difficulties in reproducability of results between labs. In fact, it has

been shown that commercial alginates contain at least 10-20 fractions with different electrophoretic mobility, which induced lymphocyte proliferation in vitro (303). Incomplete encapsulation of islets and subsequent capsule fracture and exposure of donor antigens to the host system further complicates the problem, adding another source of immunogenicity. This may be minimized, however, with effective selection of intact islet capsules. Furthermore, it must be remembered that the microcapsule is porous. This means that shed antigens, complement, cytokines, and radicals have the potential of crossing the membrane and eliciting a host immune response or causing destruction of the contained islet. It has been shown that the macrophage is the major cell type interacting with microencapsulated islet grafts (304;305), and that macrophage derived cytokines and other factors are deleterious to β -cell function and integrity (304;306-308). Furthermore, humoral mechanisms may come into play after HAR, and whereas it is highly unlikely that the larger immunoglobulins or immunological cells would come into contact with the encapsulated islets, it has been shown that induction of IgG and IgM antibody production occurs after encapsulated xenotransplantation (309;310;310). Since empty capsules do not initiate a humoral response, it seems that activation of the host's immune system by factors that are released by the encapsulated graft through the semipermeable membrane may play a crucial role as a trigger of cellular and humoral immunity. Resultant inflammatory infiltrate and microcapsular fibrotic overgrowth clearly impair trans-membrane gas/nutrient fluxes (311;312). Clearly, for all of the emerging successes in encapsulated islet transplantation, researchers must certainly address potential problems prior to clinical implementation of this therapy.

1.6 OBJECTIVES & GENERAL THESIS OUTLINE

The primary objective of this work is to take a straight forward, systematic approach to islet encapsulation with respect to using models of increasing immune challenge to explore the viability potential therapy for type-1 diabetes. While much work has been done in the area of islet encapsulation, what is missing from the field is a unified progression of experiments from tissue culture on to animal models of sequentially increasing immunogenicity in order to better understand the shortcomings of this method and thus better know how to overcome deficiencies. Furthermore, while much work has been done in the area of alginate modification and purification, and the subsequent analysis of the products, little has been published on the procedures that have been used, and little has been done to compare how these processes affect graft success when these alginate products are used to encapsulate islets. The hope is that by investigating the alginate, the graft, and the recipient we will have a greater understanding of this technology, overcome the potential barriers and find clinical applicability for islet encapsulation in the foreseeable future.

Chapter 2 begins this thesis by studying the long term tissue culture of islets, comparing islets encapsulated in alginate with non-encapsulated islets free floating in tissue culture. Here we demonstrate that encapsulation improves the survival and function of islets in long term tissue culture. Encapsulated and non-encapsulated islets were subsequently transplanted into mice lacking a functional immune system, in order to demonstrate the ability of these islets to normalize hyperglycemia in these mice. We demonstrated that encapsulation resulted in improved overall survival and function of islets *in vivo*. Furthermore, encapsulated islets showed tighter glucose control when

stimulated with oral glucose than non-encapsulated islets. Finally, in this chapter we demonstrate that encapsulation not only improves the function of islets both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, but that the encapsulation process results in improved survival and tighter glucose control in transplant recipients with far fewer numbers of islets transplanted than recipients of non-encapsulated islets. Our data clearly demonstrates the benefits of islet encapsulation prior to transplantation into animals lacking a functional immune system.

Chapter 3 explores the use of encapsulated islets in a syngeneic immune competent transplant model. The objective was to demonstrate the ability of the capsule itself to avoid immune detection, as tissue from syngeneic recipients is arguably immunologically inert. In order to successfully achieve our objective, it was necessary for us to develop a protocol for the purification of commercially obtained alginate. This chapter involves an in depth description of the methodology involved in this process, and includes an analysis of both the pre- and post-purification products for contamination, molecular weight, and content of the alginate. We relate the improved survival and function of our transplanted islets to our alginate modification analysis to demonstrate the importance of using a highly pure alginate of specific content to achieve graft success when using encapsulated islets to restore normoglycemia to immune-competent diabetic recipients. Recipients of purified alginate encapsulated islets demonstrated better longterm survival, improved graft function and tighter insulin responsiveness to glucose than did recipients transplanted with islets encapsulated with non-modified alginate. Based on these results, modified alginate was used for encapsulation throughout the remainder of our experiments.

In Chapter 4, we explore the use of encapsulated islets transplanted in immune competent xenogeneic recipients. Experiments described here investigate the ability of the capsule to protect the contained xenogeneic islets from host immunity. Results demonstrated that encapsulation of the islets provided only limited protection – such that the graft survived in a number of recipients, though demonstrable *in vivo* function of the graft was not detected. Thus, a second objective of this chapter was to investigate the coencapsulation of Sertoli cells with islets in order to determine whether the 'nurse cell' properties and immune-modulatory properties of the Sertoli cells could modify this response. It is shown herein that co-encapsulation with Sertoli cells had the ability to improve *in vivo* graft function in many of the recipients over encapsulated islet alone transplant recipients, and that the co-encapsulated Sertoli cell have the ability to abrogate much of the host immune response. Thus, these results demonstrate that while encapsulation is of certain value in islet survival and function, it is also true that additional techniques, such as the addition of Sertoli cells to the capsule, are of importance in staving off the effects of host immunity not easily overcome by that capsule alone.

In summary, this thesis provides a sequential progression of experiments demonstrating the therapeutic potential of encapsulated islet transplantation. While there is more work yet to be done to advance these techniques to the clinical realm, it is promising that this technology, combined with additional immune modulation, may provide a tool for reducing the systemic immunosuppression currently required in clinical islet transplantation. In particular, as support grows for the transplantation of islets from

xenogeneic sources in humans, the encapsulation of these islets in alginate may provide a level or protection and support otherwise not available.

1.7 REFERENCES

- Rahier, J, Goebbels, RM, Henquin, JC: Cellular composition of the human diabetic pancreas. *Diabetologia* 24:366-371, 1983
- Bertelli, E, Regoli, M, Orazioli, D, Bendayan, M: Association between islets of Langerhans and pancreatic ductal system in adult rat. Where endocrine and exocrine meet together? *Diabetologia* 44:575-584, 2001
- Maclean, N, Ogilvie, RF: Quantitative estimation of the pancreatic islet tissue in diabetic subjects. *Diabetes* 4:367-376, 1955
- Langerhans, PHM: Contributions to the microscopic anatomy of the pancreas. Bull Inst History Med 5:259-297, 1937
- Hellman,B: A method for rapid estimation of the islet volume in the rat pancreas based on counting instead of measuring the islet section surfaces. *Acta Pathol.Microbiol.Scand.* 47:21-34, 1959
- Pace,CS, Tarvin,JT: Somatostatin: mechanism of action in pancreatic islet betacells. *Diabetes* 30:836-842, 1981
- Lane,MA: The cytological characteristics of the areas of Langerhans. *Am.J.Anat.* 7:409-422, 1907
- Banting,FG, Best,CH: The internal secretion of the pancreas. J Lab Clin Med 7:465-480, 1922

- Schuit,FC, Huypens,P, Heimberg,H, Pipeleers,DG: Glucose sensing in pancreatic beta-cells: a model for the study of other glucose-regulated cells in gut, pancreas, and hypothalamus. *Diabetes* 50:1-11, 2001
- Grodsky,GM: A threshold distribution hypothesis for packet storage of insulin and its mathematical modeling. J Clin Invest 51:2047-2059, 1972
- Porksen,N, Hollingdal,M, Juhl,C, Butler,P, Veldhuis,JD, Schmitz,O: Pulsatile insulin secretion: detection, regulation, and role in diabetes. *Diabetes* 51 Suppl 1:S245-S254, 2002
- 12. Steiner, DF, Chan, SJ, Welsh, JM, Kwok, SC: Structure and evolution of the insulin gene. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* 19:463-484, 1985
- Campbell,IL, Hellquist,LN, Taylor,KW: Insulin biosynthesis and its regulation. Clin Sci.(Lond) 62:449-455, 1982
- Orci,L: The insulin factory: a tour of the plant surroundings and a visit to the assembly line. The Minkowski lecture 1973 revisited. *Diabetologia* 28:528-546, 1985
- 15. Siddle,K: The insulin receptor and type I IGF receptor: comparison of structure and function. *Prog.Growth Factor Res.* 4:301-320, 1992
- Garvey,WT, Birnbaum,MJ: Cellular insulin action and insulin resistance.
 Baillieres Clin Endocrinol. Metab 7:785-873, 1993
- Wild,S, Roglic,G, Green,A, Sicree,R, King,H: Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. *Diabetes Care* 27:1047-1053, 2004
- 18. Canadian Diabetes Association. The Prevalence and Cost of Diabetes. 2004.

- Dawson,KG, Gomes,D, Gerstein,H, Blanchard,JF, Kahler,KH: The economic cost of diabetes in Canada, 1998. *Diabetes Care* 25:1303-1307, 2002
- Hogan, P, Dall, T, Nikolov, P: Economic costs of diabetes in the US in 2002.
 Diabetes Care 26:917-932, 2003
- Kolb,H, Kolb-Bachofen,V, Roep,BO: Autoimmune versus inflammatory type I diabetes: a controversy? *Immunol.Today* 16:170-172, 1995
- 22. Field,LL, Tobias,R: Unravelling a complex trait: the genetics of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Clin Invest Med* 20:41-49, 1997
- Kraine, MR, Tisch, RM: The role of environmental factors in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: an unresolved issue. *Environ.Health Perspect.* 107 Suppl 5:777-781, 1999
- 24. Davies, JL, Kawaguchi, Y, Bennett, ST, Copeman, JB, Cordell, HJ, Pritchard, LE, Reed, PW, Gough, SC, Jenkins, SC, Palmer, SM, .: A genome-wide search for human type 1 diabetes susceptibility genes. *Nature* 371:130-136, 1994
- Lo,SS, Tun,RY, Hawa,M, Leslie,RD: Studies of diabetic twins. *Diabetes Metab Rev.* 7:223-238, 1991
- 26. Maclaren, N, Atkinson, M: Is insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus environmentally induced? *N.Engl.J Med* 327:348-349, 1992
- 27. Haverkos,HW: Could the aetiology of IDDM be multifactorial? *Diabetologia* 40:1235-1240, 1997
- Karjalainen, J, Martin, JM, Knip, M, Ilonen, J, Robinson, BH, Savilahti, E, Akerblom, HK, Dosch, HM: A bovine albumin peptide as a possible trigger of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *N.Engl.J Med* 327:302-307, 1992

- Saukkonen, T, Virtanen, SM, Karppinen, M, Reijonen, H, Ilonen, J, Rasanen, L, Akerblom, HK, Savilahti, E: Significance of cow's milk protein antibodies as risk factor for childhood IDDM: interactions with dietary cow's milk intake and HLA-DQB1 genotype. Childhood Diabetes in Finland Study Group. *Diabetologia* 41:72-78, 1998
- 30. Singh, B, Prange, S, Jevnikar, AM: Protective and destructive effects of microbial infection in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Semin.Immunol.* 10:79-86, 1998
- Von Herrath, MG, Holz, A, Homann, D, Oldstone, MB: Role of viruses in type I diabetes. *Semin.Immunol.* 10:87-100, 1998
- Jun,HS, Yoon,JW: The role of viruses in type I diabetes: two distinct cellular and molecular pathogenic mechanisms of virus-induced diabetes in animals.
 Diabetologia 44:271-285, 2001
- Nathan, DM, Cleary, PA, Backlund, JY, Genuth, SM, Lachin, JM, Orchard, TJ, Raskin, P, Zinman, B: Intensive diabetes treatment and cardiovascular disease in patients with type 1 diabetes. *N.Engl.J Med* 353:2643-2653, 2005
- Idris, I, Thomson, GA, Sharma, JC: Diabetes mellitus and stroke. *Int.J Clin Pract.* 60:48-56, 2006
- 35. de La,SA, Ruilope,LM: Treatment of hypertension in diabetes mellitus. *Curr.Hypertens.Rep.* 2:335-342, 2000
- Lovestam-Adrian, M, Agardh, E, Agardh, CD: The temporal development of retinopathy and nephropathy in type 1 diabetes mellitus during 15 years diabetes duration. *Diabetes Res. Clin Pract.* 45:15-23, 1999

- Ibrahim, HA, Vora, JP: Diabetic nephropathy. Baillieres Best.Pract.Res.Clin Endocrinol.Metab 13:239-264, 1999
- Donaghue, KC, Silink, M: Diabetic neuropathy in childhood. *Diabetes Nutr. Metab* 12:154-160, 1999
- Reiber,GE, Raugi,GJ: Preventing foot ulcers and amputations in diabetes. *Lancet* 366:1676-1677, 2005
- 40. Jahn, C: Diabetes and periodontal health. Dent. Assist. 73:24-27, 2004
- Saenz, dT, I, Angulo, J, Cellek, S, Gonzalez-Cadavid, N, Heaton, J, Pickard, R, Simonsen, U: Pathophysiology of erectile dysfunction. *J Sex Med* 2:26-39, 2005
- 42. Carroll,MA, Yeomans,ER: Diabetic ketoacidosis in pregnancy. *Crit Care Med* 33:S347-S353, 2005
- The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group: The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *N.Engl.J Med* 329:977-986, 1993
- 44. Sochett, E, Daneman, D: Early diabetes-related complications in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes. Implications for screening and intervention. *Endocrinol.Metab Clin North Am.* 28:865-882, 1999
- 45. Faich, GA, Fishbein, HA, Ellis, SE: The epidemiology of diabetic acidosis: a population-based study. *Am.J Epidemiol.* 117:551-558, 1983
- 46. Nathan, DM: Long-term complications of diabetes mellitus. *N.Engl.J Med*328:1676-1685, 1993
- 47. Bliss M: The Discovery of Insulin. Toronto, University of Toronto Press, 1982,

- 48. Tamborlane, WV, Sherwin, RS, Genel, M, Felig, P: Reduction to normal of plasma glucose in juvenile diabetes by subcutaneous administration of insulin with a portable infusion pump. *N.Engl.J Med* 300:573-578, 1979
- 49. Hanas, R, Adolfsson, P: Insulin pumps in pediatric routine care improve long-term metabolic control without increasing the risk of hypoglycemia. *Pediatr.Diabetes* 7:25-31, 2006
- Kissler,HJ, Hennig,R, Gepp,H, Hohenberger,W, Schwille,PO: The solution to hyperglucagonemia after pancreas transplantation in inbred rats. *Eur.Surg.Res.* 33:370-376, 2001
- Petruzzo,P, Laville,M, Badet,L, Lefrancois,N, Bin-Dorel,S, Chapuis,F, Andreelli,F, Martin,X: Effect of venous drainage site on insulin action after simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation. *Transplantation* 77:1875-1879, 2004
- Kelly,WD, Lillehei,RC, Aust,JB, Varco,RL, Leonard,AS, Griffin,WO, Markland,C, Herdman,RC, Vernier,RL, Michael,AF, Levitt,J: Kindey transplantation: experiences at the University of Minnesota Hospitals. *Surgery* 62:704-720, 1967
- Sutherland, DE: Report of International Human Pancreas and Islet Transplantation Registry Cases through 1981. *Diabetes* 31 Suppl 4:112-116, 1982
- 54. Gruessner, AC, Sutherland, DE: Pancreas transplant outcomes for United States (US) and non-US cases as reported to the United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) and the International Pancreas Transplant Registry (IPTR) as of June 2004. *Clin Transplant.* 19:433-455, 2005

- Robertson, RP, Sutherland, DE, Lanz, KJ: Normoglycemia and preserved insulin secretory reserve in diabetic patients 10-18 years after pancreas transplantation. *Diabetes* 48:1737-1740, 1999
- Fioretto, P, Steffes, MW, Sutherland, DE, Goetz, FC, Mauer, M: Reversal of lesions of diabetic nephropathy after pancreas transplantation. *N.Engl.J Med* 339:69-75, 1998
- 57. Navarro,X, Kennedy,WR, Loewenson,RB, Sutherland,DE: Influence of pancreas transplantation on cardiorespiratory reflexes, nerve conduction, and mortality in diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes* 39:802-806, 1990
- Koznarova, R, Saudek, F, Sosna, T, Adamec, M, Jedinakova, T, Boucek, P, Bartos, V, Lanska, V: Beneficial effect of pancreas and kidney transplantation on advanced diabetic retinopathy. *Cell Transplant*. 9:903-908, 2000
- 59. Jukema,JW, Smets,YF, van der Pijl,JW, Zwinderman,AH, Vliegen,HW, Ringers,J, Reiber,JH, Lemkes,HH, van der Wall,EE, de Fijter,JW: Impact of simultaneous pancreas and kidney transplantation on progression of coronary atherosclerosis in patients with end-stage renal failure due to type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 25:906-911, 2002
- American Diabetes Association: Pancreas transplantation for patients with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 23 Suppl 1:S85, 2000
- Purrello,F, Pipeleers,D: Transplantation in diabetes: a cell biological problem. J Endocrinol.Invest 18:311-319, 1995
- 62. Pirsch, JD, Odorico, JS, D'Alessandro, AM, Knechtle, SJ, Becker, BN, Sollinger, HW: Posttransplant infection in enteric versus bladder-drained

simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplant recipients. *Transplantation* 66:1746-1750, 1998

- Sollinger, HW, Odorico, JS, Knechtle, SJ, D'Alessandro, AM, Kalayoglu, M,
 Pirsch, JD: Experience with 500 simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplants.
 Ann. Surg. 228:284-296, 1998
- 64. Hellerstroem, C: A method for the microdissection of intact pancreatic islets of mammals. *Acta Endocrinol.(Copenh)* 45:122-132, 1964
- 65. Moskalewski,S: Isolation and culture of the islets of Langerhans of the guinea pig. *Gen.Comp Endocrinol.* 44:342-353, 1965
- 66. Lacy, PE, Kostianovsky, M: Method for the isolation of intact islets of Langerhans from the rat pancreas. *Diabetes* 16:35-39, 1967
- 67. Ballinger,WF, Lacy,PE: Transplantation of intact pancreatic islets in rats. *Surgery* 72:175-186, 1972
- Scharp,DW, Kemp,CB, Knight,MJ, Ballinger,WF, Lacy,PE: The use of ficoll in the preparation of viable islets of langerhans from the rat pancreas. *Transplantation* 16:686-689, 1973
- 69. Bromme,HJ, Hahn,HJ, Blech,W: Biphasic release of insulin from islets of Langerhans after their transplantation into the liver of rats. *Horm. Metab Res.* 20:138-140, 1988
- Scharp,DW, Downing,R, Merrell,RC, Greider,M: Isolating the elusive islet. Diabetes 29 Suppl 1:19-30, 1980
- Gray, DW, McShane, P, Grant, A, Morris, PJ: A method for isolation of islets of Langerhans from the human pancreas. *Diabetes* 33:1055-1061, 1984

- 72. Najarian, JS, Sutherland, DE, Matas, AJ, Steffes, MW, Simmons, RL, Goetz, FC: Human islet transplantation: a preliminary report. *Transplant.Proc.* 9:233-236, 1977
- 73. Largiader, F, Kolb, E, Binswanger, U, Illig, R: [Successful allotransplantation of an island of Langerhans]. *Schweiz. Med Wochenschr.* 109:1733-1736, 1979
- 74. Ricordi,C, Lacy,PE, Finke,EH, Olack,BJ, Scharp,DW: Automated method for isolation of human pancreatic islets. *Diabetes* 37:413-420, 1988
- Rajotte,RV, Warnock,GL, Evans,MG, Ellis,D, Dawidson,I: Isolation of viable islets of Langerhans from collagenase-perfused canine and human pancreata. *Transplant.Proc.* 19:918-922, 1987
- 76. Lakey, JR, Warnock, GL, Shapiro, AM, Korbutt, GS, Ao, Z, Kneteman, NM, Rajotte, RV: Intraductal collagenase delivery into the human pancreas using syringe loading or controlled perfusion. *Cell Transplant* 8:285-292, 1999
- Federlin, K., Bretzel, R. G., and Hering, B. International Islets Transplant Registry Report. Newsletter No. 9. 1992. Germany, University of Giessen.
- Linetsky, E, Bottino, R, Lehmann, R, Alejandro, R, Inverardi, L, Ricordi, C: Improved human islet isolation using a new enzyme blend, liberase. *Diabetes* 46:1120-1123, 1997
- Robertson,GS, Chadwick,DR, Contractor,H, James,RF, London,NJ: The optimization of large-scale density gradient isolation of human islets. *Acta Diabetol.* 30:93-98, 1993

- Brendel, M., Hering, B., Schultz, A., and Bretzel, R. G. International Islets Transplant Registry Report. Newsletter No. 9. 2001. Germany, University of Giessen.
- 81. Shapiro,AM, Lakey,JR, Ryan,EA, Korbutt,GS, Toth,E, Warnock,GL,
 Kneteman,NM, Rajotte,RV: Islet transplantation in seven patients with type 1
 diabetes mellitus using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen. *N Engl J Med* 343:230-238, 2000
- Shapiro, AM, Ricordi, C, Hering, B: Edmonton's islet success has indeed been replicated elsewhere. *Lancet* 362:1242, 2003
- 83. Shapiro, AM, Ricordi, C: Unraveling the secrets of single donor success in islet transplantation. *Am.J Transplant.* 4:295-298, 2004
- Hering, BJ, Kandaswamy, R, Ansite, JD, Eckman, PM, Nakano, M, Sawada, T, Matsumoto, I, Ihm, SH, Zhang, HJ, Parkey, J, Hunter, DW, Sutherland, DE: Singledonor, marginal-dose islet transplantation in patients with type 1 diabetes. *JAMA* 293:830-835, 2005
- Markmann, JF, Deng, S, Desai, NM, Huang, X, Velidedeoglu, E, Frank, A, Liu, C, Brayman, KL, Lian, MM, Wolf, B, Bell, E, Vitamaniuk, M, Doliba, N, Matschinsky, F, Markmann, E, Barker, CF, Naji, A: The use of non-heart-beating donors for isolated pancreatic islet transplantation. *Transplantation* 75:1423-1429, 2003
- 86. Owen,RJ, Ryan,EA, O'Kelly,K, Lakey,JR, McCarthy,MC, Paty,BW, Bigam,DL, Kneteman,NM, Korbutt,GS, Rajotte,RV, Shapiro,AM: Percutaneous transhepatic

pancreatic islet cell transplantation in type 1 diabetes mellitus: radiologic aspects. *Radiology* 229:165-170, 2003

- 87. Shapiro, AM, Lakey, JR, Paty, BW, Senior, PA, Bigam, DL, Ryan, EA: Strategic opportunities in clinical islet transplantation. *Transplantation* 79:1304-1307, 2005
- Ryan, EA, Paty, BW, Senior, PA, Bigam, D, Alfadhli, E, Kneteman, NM, Lakey, JR, Shapiro, AM: Five-year follow-up after clinical islet transplantation. *Diabetes* 54:2060-2069, 2005
- O'Gorman, D, Kin, T, Murdoch, T, Richer, B, McGhee-Wilson, D, Ryan, EA, Shapiro, JA, Lakey, JR: The standardization of pancreatic donors for islet isolations. *Transplantation* 80:801-806, 2005
- 90. Ricordi, C, Lakey, JR, Hering, BJ: Challenges toward standardization of islet isolation technology. *Transplant.Proc.* 33:1709, 2001
- Lakey, JR, Kneteman, NM, Rajotte, RV, Wu, DC, Bigam, D, Shapiro, AM: Effect of core pancreas temperature during cadaveric procurement on human islet isolation and functional viability. *Transplantation* 73:1106-1110, 2002
- Lakey, JR, Rajotte, RV, Warnock, GL, Kneteman, NM: Human pancreas preservation prior to islet isolation. Cold ischemic tolerance. *Transplantation* 59:689-694, 1995
- 93. Matsumoto,S, Qualley,SA, Goel,S, Hagman,DK, Sweet,IR, Poitout,V, Strong,DM, Robertson,RP, Reems,JA: Effect of the two-layer (University of Wisconsin solution-perfluorochemical plus O2) method of pancreas preservation on human islet isolation, as assessed by the Edmonton Isolation Protocol. *Transplantation* 74:1414-1419, 2002

- 94. Hering, BJ, Kandaswamy, R, Harmon, JV, Ansite, JD, Clemmings, SM, Sakai, T, Paraskevas, S, Eckman, PM, Sageshima, J, Nakano, M, Sawada, T, Matsumoto, I, Zhang, HJ, Sutherland, DE, Bluestone, JA: Transplantation of cultured islets from two-layer preserved pancreases in type 1 diabetes with anti-CD3 antibody. *Am.J Transplant.* 4:390-401, 2004
- 95. Fraga,DW, Sabek,O, Hathaway,DK, Gaber,AO: A comparison of media supplement methods for the extended culture of human islet tissue. *Transplantation* 65:1060-1066, 1998
- 96. Gaber, AO, Fraga, DW, Callicutt, CS, Gerling, IC, Sabek, OM, Kotb, MY: Improved in vivo pancreatic islet function after prolonged in vitro islet culture. *Transplantation* 72:1730-1736, 2001
- 97. Humar, A, Gruessner, RW, Sutherland, DE: Living related donor pancreas and pancreas-kidney transplantation. *Br. Med Bull* 53:879-891, 1997
- Gruessner, RW, Kendall, DM, Drangstveit, MB, Gruessner, AC, Sutherland, DE: Simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation from live donors. *Ann.Surg.* 226:471-480, 1997
- 99. Bennet,W, Sundberg,B, Lundgren,T, Tibell,A, Groth,CG, Richards,A, White,DJ, Elgue,G, Larsson,R, Nilsson,B, Korsgren,O: Damage to porcine islets of Langerhans after exposure to human blood in vitro, or after intraportal transplantation to cynomologus monkeys: protective effects of sCR1 and heparin. *Transplantation* 69:711-719, 2000
- 100. Bennet,W, Groth,CG, Larsson,R, Nilsson,B, Korsgren,O: Isolated human islets trigger an instant blood mediated inflammatory reaction: implications for

intraportal islet transplantation as a treatment for patients with type 1 diabetes. Ups.J Med Sci. 105:125-133, 2000

- 101. Stegall,MD, Lafferty,KJ, Kam,I, Gill,RG: Evidence of recurrent autoimmunity in human allogeneic islet transplantation. *Transplantation* 61:1272-1274, 1996
- Efrat,S: Genetically engineered pancreatic beta-cell lines for cell therapy of diabetes. Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci. 875:286-293, 1999
- Efrat, S, Leiser, M, Surana, M, Tal, M, Fusco-DeMane, D, Fleischer, N: Murine insulinoma cell line with normal glucose-regulated insulin secretion. *Diabetes* 42:901-907, 1993
- 104. Knaack, D, Fiore, DM, Surana, M, Leiser, M, Laurance, M, Fusco-DeMane, D, Hegre, OD, Fleischer, N, Efrat, S: Clonal insulinoma cell line that stably maintains correct glucose responsiveness. *Diabetes* 43:1413-1417, 1994
- 105. Efrat,S, Fusco-DeMane,D, Lemberg,H, al Emran,O, Wang,X: Conditional transformation of a pancreatic beta-cell line derived from transgenic mice expressing a tetracycline-regulated oncogene. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 92:3576-3580, 1995
- 106. Cheung, AT, Dayanandan, B, Lewis, JT, Korbutt, GS, Rajotte, RV, Bryer-Ash, M, Boylan, MO, Wolfe, MM, Kieffer, TJ: Glucose-dependent insulin release from genetically engineered K cells. *Science* 290:1959-1962, 2000
- Shaw, JA, Delday, MI, Hart, AW, Docherty, HM, Maltin, CA, Docherty, K:
 Secretion of bioactive human insulin following plasmid-mediated gene transfer to non-neuroendocrine cell lines, primary cultures and rat skeletal muscle in vivo. J Endocrinol. 172:653-672, 2002
- Horb, ME, Shen, CN, Tosh, D, Slack, JM: Experimental conversion of liver to pancreas. *Curr.Biol.* 13:105-115, 2003
- 109. Zalzman,M, Gupta,S, Giri,RK, Berkovich,I, Sappal,BS, Karnieli,O, Zern,MA, Fleischer,N, Efrat,S: Reversal of hyperglycemia in mice by using human expandable insulin-producing cells differentiated from fetal liver progenitor cells. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 100:7253-7258, 2003
- Bonner-Weir,S, Taneja,M, Weir,GC, Tatarkiewicz,K, Song,KH, Sharma,A,
 O'Neil,JJ: In vitro cultivation of human islets from expanded ductal tissue. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97:7999-8004, 2000
- Heremans, Y, Van de, CM, In't, VP, Gradwohl, G, Serup, P, Madsen, O, Pipeleers, D, Heimberg, H: Recapitulation of embryonic neuroendocrine differentiation in adult human pancreatic duct cells expressing neurogenin 3. *J Cell Biol.* 159:303-312, 2002
- 112. Sharma,A, Zangen,DH, Reitz,P, Taneja,M, Lissauer,ME, Miller,CP, Weir,GC,
 Habener,JF, Bonner-Weir,S: The homeodomain protein IDX-1 increases after an
 early burst of proliferation during pancreatic regeneration. *Diabetes* 48:507-513,
 1999
- 113. Heimberg,H, Bouwens,L, Heremans,Y, Van De Casteele,M, Lefebvre,V,
 Pipeleers,D: Adult human pancreatic duct and islet cells exhibit similarities in expression and differences in phosphorylation and complex formation of the homeodomain protein Ipf-1. *Diabetes* 49:571-579, 2000

- 114. Guz, Y, Nasir, I, Teitelman, G: Regeneration of pancreatic beta cells from intra-islet precursor cells in an experimental model of diabetes. *Endocrinology* 142:4956-4968, 2001
- 115. Petropavlovskaia, M, Rosenberg, L: Identification and characterization of small cells in the adult pancreas: potential progenitor cells? *Cell Tissue Res.* 310:51-58, 2002
- 116. Hall,PA, Lemoine,NR: Rapid acinar to ductal transdifferentiation in cultured human exocrine pancreas. *J Pathol* 166:97-103, 1992
- 117. Rooman, I, Heremans, Y, Heimberg, H, Bouwens, L: Modulation of rat pancreatic acinoductal transdifferentiation and expression of PDX-1 in vitro. *Diabetologia* 43:907-914, 2000
- 118. Gmyr,V, Kerr-Conte,J, Vandewalle,B, Proye,C, Lefebvre,J, Pattou,F: Human pancreatic ductal cells: large-scale isolation and expansion. *Cell Transplant* 10:109-121, 2001
- Evans, MJ, Kaufman, MH: Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. *Nature* 292:154-156, 1981
- Martin,GR: Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 78:7634-7638, 1981
- 121. Wobus, AM, Holzhausen, H, Jakel, P, Schoneich, J: Characterization of a pluripotent stem cell line derived from a mouse embryo. *Exp. Cell Res.* 152:212-219, 1984

- 122. Reubinoff,BE, Pera,MF, Fong,CY, Trounson,A, Bongso,A: Embryonic stem cell lines from human blastocysts: somatic differentiation in vitro. *Nat.Biotechnol.* 18:399-404, 2000
- 123. Roche, E, Sepulcre, MP, Ensenat-Waser, R, Maestre, I, Reig, JA, Soria, B: Bioengineering inslulin-secreting cells from embryonic stem cells: a review of progress. *Med Biol.Eng Comput.* 41:384-391, 2003
- 124. Segev,H, Fishman,B, Ziskind,A, Shulman,M, Itskovitz-Eldor,J: Differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into insulin-producing clusters. *Stem Cells* 22:265-274, 2004
- 125. Brolen,GK, Heins,N, Edsbagge,J, Semb,H: Signals From the Embryonic Mouse Pancreas Induce Differentiation of Human Embryonic Stem Cells Into Insulin-Producing {beta}-Cell-Like Cells. *Diabetes* 54:2867-2874, 2005
- 126. Hori,Y, Rulifson,IC, Tsai,BC, Heit,JJ, Cahoy,JD, Kim,SK: Growth inhibitors promote differentiation of insulin-producing tissue from embryonic stem cells. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 99:16105-16110, 2002
- 127. Blyszczuk,P, Czyz,J, Kania,G, Wagner,M, Roll,U, St Onge,L, Wobus,AM: Expression of Pax4 in embryonic stem cells promotes differentiation of nestinpositive progenitor and insulin-producing cells. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 100:998-1003, 2003
- 128. Drukker, M, Katchman, H, Katz, G, Even-Tov, FS, Shezen, E, Hornstein, E, Mandelboim, O, Reisner, Y, Benvenisty, N: Human embryonic stem cells and their differentiated derivatives are less susceptible to immune rejection than adult cells. *Stem Cells* 24:221-229, 2006

- 129. Street, CN, Rajotte, RV, Korbutt, GS: Stem cells: a promising source of pancreatic islets for transplantation in type 1 diabetes. *Curr.Top.Dev.Biol.* 58:111-136, 2003
- Drukker,M: Immunogenicity of human embryonic stem cells: can we achieve tolerance? Springer Semin.Immunopathol. 26:201-213, 2004
- 131. McLaren, A: Ethical and social considerations of stem cell research. *Nature* 414:129-131, 2001
- 132. Copland, PS: The Roman Catholic Church and embryonic stem cells. *J Med Ethics* 30:607-608, 2004
- 133. Kues,WA, Niemann,H: The contribution of farm animals to human health. *Trends Biotechnol.* 22:286-294, 2004
- 134. Cooper, DK, Keogh, AM, Brink, J, Corris, PA, Klepetko, W, Pierson, RN,
 Schmoeckel, M, Shirakura, R, Warner, SL: Report of the Xenotransplantation
 Advisory Committee of the International Society for Heart and Lung
 Transplantation: the present status of xenotransplantation and its potential role in
 the treatment of end-stage cardiac and pulmonary diseases. *J Heart Lung Transplant.* 19:1125-1165, 2000
- 135. Williams, P: Notes on diabetes treated with extract and by grafts of sheep's pancreas. *Br Med J* 2:1303-1304, 1894
- 136. Lanza, RP, Cooper, DK: Xenotransplantation of cells and tissues: application to a range of diseases, from diabetes to Alzheimer's. *Mol.Med Today* 4:39-45, 1998
- 137. Marchetti,P, Giannarelli,R, Cosimi,S, Masiello,P, Coppelli,A, Viacava,P,
 Navalesi,R: Massive isolation, morphological and functional characterization, and xenotransplantation of bovine pancreatic islets. *Diabetes* 44:375-381, 1995

- Piro,S, Lupi,R, Dotta,F, Patane,G, Rabuazzo,MA, Marselli,L, Santangelo,C,
 Realacci,M, Del Guerra,S, Purrello,F, Marchetti,P: Bovine islets are less
 susceptible than human islets to damage by human cytokines. *Transplantation*71:21-26, 2001
- 139. Korbutt,GS, Ao,Z, Flashner,M, Rajotte,RV: Neonatal porcine islets as a possible source of tissue for humans and microencapsulation improves the metabolic response of islet graft posttransplantation. Ann N Y Acad Sci 831:294-303, 1997
- Groth,CG, Korsgren,O, Tibell,A, Tollemar,J, Moller,E, Bolinder,J, Ostman,J,
 Reinholt,FP, Hellerstrom,C, Andersson,A: Transplantation of porcine fetal
 pancreas to diabetic patients. *Lancet* 344:1402-1404, 1994
- 141. Wright, JR, Jr., Polvi, S, MacLean, H: Experimental transplantation with principal islets of teleost fish (Brockmann bodies). Long-term function of tilapia islet tissue in diabetic nude mice. *Diabetes* 41:1528-1532, 1992
- 142. Wright, JR, Yang, H, Dooley, KC: Tilapia--a source of hypoxia-resistant islet cells for encapsulation. *Cell Transplant* 7:299-307, 1998
- 143. Lambrigts, D, Sachs, DH, Cooper, DK: Discordant organ xenotransplantation in primates: world experience and current status. *Transplantation* 66:547-561, 1998
- 144. Ravelingien, A: Use of pigs for xenotransplantation: the speciesism by proxy syndrome. *Xenotransplantation*. 12:235-239, 2005
- 145. Home,PD, Massi-Benedetti,M, Shepherd,GA, Hanning,I, Alberti,KG, Owens,DR:
 A comparison of the activity and disposal of semi-synthetic human insulin and porcine insulin in normal man by the glucose clamp technique. *Diabetologia* 22:41-45, 1982

- Samstein, B, Platt, JL: Physiologic and immunologic hurdles to xenotransplantation. J Am.Soc.Nephrol. 12:182-193, 2001
- 147. Ricordi,C, Socci,C, Davalli,AM, Staudacher,C, Baro,P, Vertova,A, Sassi,I,
 Gavazzi,F, Pozza,G, Di,C, V: Isolation of the elusive pig islet. *Surgery* 107:688-694, 1990
- 148. Socci, C, Ricordi, C, Davalli, AM, Staudacher, C, Baro, P, Vertova, A, Freschi, M, Gavazzi, F, Braghi, S, Pozza, G, .: Selection of donors significantly improves pig islet isolation yield. *Horm. Metab Res. Suppl* 25:32-34, 1990
- 149. van Deijnen, JH, Hulstaert, CE, Wolters, GH, Van Schilfgaarde, R: Significance of the peri-insular extracellular matrix for islet isolation from the pancreas of rat, dog, pig, and man. *Cell Tissue Res.* 267:139-146, 1992
- 150. Korsgren,O, Jansson,L, Eizirik,D, Andersson,A: Functional and morphological differentiation of fetal porcine islet-like cell clusters after transplantation into nude mice. *Diabetologia* 34:379-386, 1991
- 151. Korsgren,O, Andersson,A, Sandler,S: Pretreatment of fetal porcine pancreas in culture with nicotinamide accelerates reversal of diabetes after transplantation to nude mice. Surgery 113:205-214, 1993
- 152. Britt,LD, Stojeba,PC, Scharp,CR, Greider,MH, Scharp,DW: Neonatal pig pseudoislets. A product of selective aggregation. *Diabetes* 30:580-583, 1981
- 153. Archer,FJ: Monolayer culture of neonatal pig pancreatic islet cells. *Diabetologia* 24:185-190, 1983

- 154. Korbutt,GS, Elliott,JF, Ao,Z, Smith,DK, Warnock,GL, Rajotte,RV: Large scale isolation, growth, and function of porcine neonatal islet cells. *J Clin Invest* 97:2119-2129, 1996
- 155. Korbutt,GS, Aspeslet,L, Ao,Z, Warnock,GL, Ezekowitz,J, Koshal,A, Rajotte,RV, Yatscoff,RW: Porcine islet cell antigens are recognized by xenoreactive natural human antibodies of both IgG and IgM subtypes. *Transplant.Proc.* 28:837-838, 1996
- 156. Trivedi,N, Hollister-Lock,J, Lopez-Avalos,MD, O'Neil,JJ, Keegan,M, Bonner-Weir,S, Weir,GC: Increase in beta-Cell Mass in Transplanted Porcine Neonatal Pancreatic Cell Clusters Is Due to Proliferation of beta-Cells and Differentiation of Duct Cells. *Endocrinology* 142:2115-2122, 2001
- 157. Gores, PF, Hayes, DH, Copeland, MJ, Korbutt, GS, Halberstadt, C, Kirkpatrick, SA, Rajotte, RV: Long-term survival of intratesticular porcine islets in nonimmunosuppressed beagles. *Transplantation* 75:613-618, 2003
- Kin,T, Korbutt,GS, Kobayashi,T, Dufour,JM, Rajotte,RV: Reversal of diabetes in pancreatectomized pigs after transplantation of neonatal porcine islets. *Diabetes* 54:1032-1039, 2005
- 159. Tibell,A, Groth,CG, Moller,E, Korsgren,O, Andersson,A, Hellerstrom,C: Pig-tohuman islet transplantation in eight patients. *Transplant Proc* 26:762-763, 1994
- Groth,CG, Tibell,A, Wennberg,L, Korsgren,O: Xenoislet transplantation: experimental and clinical aspects. J Mol. Med 77:153-154, 1999

- 161. Groth,CG, Tibell,A, Wennberg,L, Bennet,W, Lundgren,T, Rydgard,KJ, Lundin,S, Lindeborg,E, Korsgren,O: Clinical aspects and perspectives in islet xenotransplantation. *J Hepatobiliary*. *Pancreat*. Surg. 7:364-369, 2000
- 162. Cardona,K, Korbutt,GS, Milas,Z, Lyon,J, Cano,J, Jiang,W, Bello-Laborn,H, Hacquoil,B, Strobert,E, Gangappa,S, Weber,CJ, Pearson,TC, Rajotte,RV, Larsen,CP: Long-term survival of neonatal porcine islets in nonhuman primates by targeting costimulation pathways. *Nat. Med.* 2006
- 163. Weir,GC, Quickel,RR, Yoon,KH, Tatarkiewicz,K, Ulrich,TR, Hollister-Lock,J, Bonner-Weir,S: Porcine neonatal pancreatic cell clusters (NPCCs): a potential source of tissue for islet transplantation. *Ann.Transplant.* 2:63-68, 1997
- Smetanka, C, Cooper, DK: The ethics debate in relation to xenotransplantation. *Rev.Sci.Tech.* 24:335-342, 2005
- Cox,A, Zhong,R: Current advances in xenotransplantation.
 Hepatobiliary.Pancreat.Dis.Int. 4:490-494, 2005
- 166. Patience, C, Patton, GS, Takeuchi, Y, Weiss, RA, McClure, MO, Rydberg, L, Breimer, ME: No evidence of pig DNA or retroviral infection in patients with short-term extracorporeal connection to pig kidneys. *Lancet* 352:699-701, 1998
- Rebellato, LM, Verbanac, KM, Haisch, CE: The current status of xenotransplantation. *Curr.Surg.* 62:481-488, 2005
- 168. Paradis,K, Langford,G, Long,Z, Heneine,W, Sandstrom,P, Switzer,WM, Chapman,LE, Lockey,C, Onions,D, Otto,E: Search for cross-species transmission of porcine endogenous retrovirus in patients treated with living pig tissue. The XEN 111 Study Group. Science 285:1236-1241, 1999

- 169. Switzer, WM, Michler, RE, Shanmugam, V, Matthews, A, Hussain, AI, Wright, A, Sandstrom, P, Chapman, LE, Weber, C, Safley, S, Denny, RR, Navarro, A, Evans, V, Norin, AJ, Kwiatkowski, P, Heneine, W: Lack of cross-species transmission of porcine endogenous retrovirus infection to nonhuman primate recipients of porcine cells, tissues, or organs. *Transplantation* 71:959-965, 2001
- 170. Di Nicuolo,G, van de Kerkhove,MP, Hoekstra,R, Beld,MG, Amoroso,P,
 Battisti,S, Starace,M, di Florio,E, Scuderi,V, Scala,S, Bracco,A, Mancini,A,
 Chamuleau,RA, Calise,F: No evidence of in vitro and in vivo porcine endogenous
 retrovirus infection after plasmapheresis through the AMC-bioartificial liver. *Xenotransplantation.* 12:286-292, 2005
- 171. Binette,TM, Seeberger,KL, Lyon,JG, Rajotte,RV, Korbutt,GS: Porcine endogenous retroviral nucleic acid in peripheral tissues is associated with migration of porcine cells post islet transplant. *Am.J.Transplant.* 4:1051-1060, 2004
- Patience, C, Takeuchi, Y, Weiss, RA: Infection of human cells by an endogenous retrovirus of pigs. *Nat. Med* 3:282-286, 1997
- 173. Schmidt,P, Forsman,A, Andersson,G, Blomberg,J, Korsgren,O: Pig islet xenotransplantation: activation of porcine endogenous retrovirus in the immediate post-transplantation period. *Xenotransplantation*. 12:450-456, 2005
- 174. Herring, C, Cunningham, DA, Whittam, AJ, Fernandez-Suarez, XM, Langford, GA: Monitoring xenotransplant recipients for infection by PERV. *Clin Biochem*.
 34:23-27, 2001

- 175. Miyagawa,S, Nakatsu,S, Nakagawa,T, Kondo,A, Matsunami,K, Hazama,K, Yamada,J, Tomonaga,K, Miyazawa,T, Shirakura,R: Prevention of PERV infections in pig to human xenotransplantation by the RNA interference silences gene. J Biochem.(Tokyo) 137:503-508, 2005
- 176. Karlas, A, Kurth, R, Denner, J: Inhibition of porcine endogenous retroviruses by RNA interference: increasing the safety of xenotransplantation. *Virology* 325:18-23, 2004
- McKane,BW, Ramachandran,S, Xu,XC, Olack,BJ, Chapman,WC,
 Mohanakumar,T: Natural antibodies prevent in vivo transmission of porcine isletderived endogenous retrovirus to human cells. *Cell Transplant.* 13:137-143, 2004
- 178. McKane, BW, Ramachandran, S, Yang, J, Xu, XC, Mohanakumar, T: Xenoreactive anti-Galalpha(1,3)Gal antibodies prevent porcine endogenous retrovirus infection of human in vivo. *Hum.Immunol.* 64:708-717, 2003
- 179. Cantarovich, D, Blancho, G, Potiron, N, Jugeau, N, Fiche, M, Chagneau, C,
 Letessier, E, Boeffard, F, Loth, P, Karam, G, Soulillou, JP, Le Mauff, B: Rapid
 failure of pig islet transplantation in non human primates. *Xenotransplantation*.
 9:25-35, 2002
- Rayat,GR, Gill,RG: Pancreatic islet xenotransplantation: barriers and prospects.
 Curr.Diab.Rep. 3:336-343, 2003
- 181. Knosalla,C, Ryan,DJ, Moran,K, Gollackner,B, Schuler,W, Sachs,DH, Awwad,M, Schuurman,HJ, Cooper,DK: Initial experience with the human anti-human CD154 monoclonal antibody, ABI793, in pig-to-baboon xenotransplantation. *Xenotransplantation*. 11:353-360, 2004

- 182. Kuwaki,K, Knosalla,C, Dor,FJ, Gollackner,B, Tseng,YL, Houser,S, Mueller,N, Prabharasuth,D, Alt,A, Moran,K, Cheng,J, Behdad,A, Sachs,DH, Fishman,JA, Schuurman,HJ, Awwad,M, Cooper,DK: Suppression of natural and elicited antibodies in pig-to-baboon heart transplantation using a human anti-human CD154 mAb-based regimen. *Am.J Transplant.* 4:363-372, 2004
- 183. Kobayashi, T, Harb, G, Rayat, GR: Prolonged survival of microencapsulated neonatal porcine islets in mice treated with a combination of anti-CD154 and anti-LFA-1 monoclonal antibodies. *Transplantation* 80:821-827, 2005
- 184. Rayat,GR, Gill,RG: Indefinite survival of neonatal porcine islet xenografts by simultaneous targeting of LFA-1 and CD154 or CD45RB. *Diabetes* 54:443-451, 2005
- 185. Simon,PM, Neethling,FA, Taniguchi,S, Goode,PL, Zopf,D, Hancock,WW, Cooper,DK: Intravenous infusion of Galalpha1-3Gal oligosaccharides in baboons delays hyperacute rejection of porcine heart xenografts. *Transplantation* 65:346-353, 1998
- 186. Romano, E, Neethling, FA, Nilsson, K, Kosanke, S, Shimizu, A, Magnusson, S, Svensson, L, Samuelsson, B, Cooper, DK: Intravenous synthetic alphaGal saccharides delay hyperacute rejection following pig-to-baboon heart transplantation. *Xenotransplantation.* 6:36-42, 1999
- 187. Mazariegos, GV, Reyes, J, Marino, IR, Demetris, AJ, Flynn, B, Irish, W, McMichael, J, Fung, JJ, Starzl, TE: Weaning of immunosuppression in liver transplant recipients. *Transplantation* 63:243-249, 1997

- 188. Strober,S, Benike,C, Krishnaswamy,S, Engleman,EG, Grumet,FC: Clinical transplantation tolerance twelve years after prospective withdrawal of immunosuppressive drugs: studies of chimerism and anti-donor reactivity. *Transplantation* 69:1549-1554, 2000
- Starzl,TE, Murase,N, Abu-Elmagd,K, Gray,EA, Shapiro,R, Eghtesad,B, Corry,RJ, Jordan,ML, Fontes,P, Gayowski,T, Bond,G, Scantlebury,VP, Potdar,S, Randhawa,P, Wu,T, Zeevi,A, Nalesnik,MA, Woodward,J, Marcos,A, Trucco,M, Demetris,AJ, Fung,JJ: Tolerogenic immunosuppression for organ transplantation. *Lancet* 361:1502-1510, 2003
- 190. Lenschow, DJ, Zeng, Y, Thistlethwaite, JR, Montag, A, Brady, W, Gibson, MG, Linsley, PS, Bluestone, JA: Long-term survival of xenogeneic pancreatic islet grafts induced by CTLA4lg. *Science* 257:789-792, 1992
- 191. Kenyon,NS, Chatzipetrou,M, Masetti,M, Ranuncoli,A, Oliveira,M, Wagner,JL, Kirk,AD, Harlan,DM, Burkly,LC, Ricordi,C: Long-term survival and function of intrahepatic islet allografts in rhesus monkeys treated with humanized anti-CD154. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 96:8132-8137, 1999
- 192. Kenyon,NS, Fernandez,LA, Lehmann,R, Masetti,M, Ranuncoli,A, Chatzipetrou,M, Iaria,G, Han,D, Wagner,JL, Ruiz,P, Berho,M, Inverardi,L, Alejandro,R, Mintz,DH, Kirk,AD, Harlan,DM, Burkly,LC, Ricordi,C: Long-term survival and function of intrahepatic islet allografts in baboons treated with humanized anti-CD154. *Diabetes* 48:1473-1481, 1999
- 193. Thomas,FT, Ricordi,C, Contreras,JL, Hubbard,WJ, Jiang,XL, Eckhoff,DE, Cartner,S, Bilbao,G, Neville,DM, Jr., Thomas,JM: Reversal of naturally occuring

diabetes in primates by unmodified islet xenografts without chronic immunosuppression. *Transplantation* 67:846-854, 1999

- 194. Contreras, JL, Eckhoff, DE, Cartner, S, Bilbao, G, Ricordi, C, Neville, DM, Thomas, FT, Thomas, JM: Long-term functional islet mass and metabolic function after xenoislet transplantation in primates. *Transplantation* 69:195-201, 2000
- 195. Ricordi,C, Karatzas,T, Nery,J, Webb,M, Selvaggi,G, Fernandez,L, Khan,FA, Ruiz,P, Schiff,E, Olson,L, Fernandez,H, Bean,J, Esquenazi,V, Miller,J, Tzakis,AG: High-dose donor bone marrow infusions to enhance allograft survival: the effect of timing. *Transplantation* 63:7-11, 1997
- 196. Angelico, MC, Alejandro, R, Nery, J, Webb, M, Bottino, R, Kong, SS, Karatzas, T, Olson, L, Tzakis, AG, Ricordi, C: Transplantation of islets of Langerhans in patients with insulin-requiring diabetes mellitus undergoing orthotopic liver transplantation--the Miami experience. J Mol. Med 77:144-147, 1999
- 197. Shapiro, AM, Nanji, SA, Lakey, JR: Clinical islet transplant: current and future directions towards tolerance. *Immunol.Rev* 196:219-236, 2003
- 198. Streilein, JW: Unraveling immune privilege. Science 270:1158-1159, 1995
- 199. Selawry, HP, Whittington, K: Extended allograft survival of islets grafted into intra-abdominally placed testis. *Diabetes* 33:405-406, 1984
- Tze,WJ, Tai,J: Intrathecal allotransplantation of pancreatic endocrine cells in diabetic rats. *Transplantation* 41:531-534, 1986
- 201. Posselt,AM, Barker,CF, Tomaszewski,JE, Markmann,JF, Choti,MA, Naji,A: Induction of donor-specific unresponsiveness by intrathymic islet transplantation. *Science* 249:1293-1295, 1990

- 202. MEDAWAR,PB: Two notes on immunological tolerance. *Transplant.Bull* 4:72-74, 1957
- 203. Streilein, JW: Immune privilege as the result of local tissue barriers and immunosuppressive microenvironments. *Curr.Opin.Immunol.* 5:428-432, 1993
- 204. Griffith,TS, Brunner,T, Fletcher,SM, Green,DR, Ferguson,TA: Fas ligandinduced apoptosis as a mechanism of immune privilege. *Science* 270:1189-1192, 1995
- 205. Takeda, Y, Gotoh, M, Dono, K, Nishihara, M, Grochowiecki, T, Kimura, F, Yoshida, T, Ohta, Y, Ota, H, Ohzato, H, Umeshita, K, Takeda, T, Matsuura, N, Sakon, M, Kayagaki, N, Yagita, H, Okumura, K, Miyasaka, M, Monden, M: Protection of islet allografts transplanted together with Fas ligand expressing testicular allografts. *Diabetologia* 41:315-321, 1998
- 206. Griswold, MD: The central role of Sertoli cells in spermatogenesis. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 9:411-416, 1998
- 207. Dym,M, Fawcett,DW: The blood-testis barrier in the rat and the physiological compartmentation of the seminiferous epithelium. *Biol.Reprod.* 3:308-326, 1970
- 208. Whitmore, WF, III, Karsh, L, Gittes, RF: The role of germinal epithelium and spermatogenesis in the privileged survival of intratesticular grafts. *J Urol.* 134:782-786, 1985
- 209. Bellgrau, D, Gold, D, Selawry, H, Moore, J, Franzusoff, A, Duke, RC: A role for CD95 ligand in preventing graft rejection. *Nature* 377:630-632, 1995
- 210. Suarez-Pinzon,W, Korbutt,GS, Power,R, Hooton,J, Rajotte,RV, Rabinovitch,A: Testicular sertoli cells protect islet beta-cells from autoimmune destruction in

NOD mice by a transforming growth factor-beta1-dependent mechanism. Diabetes 49:1810-1818, 2000

- 211. Korbutt,GS, Suarez-Pinzon,WL, Power,RF, Rajotte,RV, Rabinovitch,A:
 Testicular Sertoli cells exert both protective and destructive effects on syngeneic islet grafts in non-obese diabetic mice. *Diabetologia* 43:474-480, 2000
- 212. Selawry,HP, Kotb,M, Herrod,HG, Lu,ZN: Production of a factor, or factors, suppressing IL-2 production and T cell proliferation by Sertoli cell-enriched preparations. A potential role for islet transplantation in an immunologically privileged site. *Transplantation* 52:846-850, 1991
- 213. De Cesaris, P, Filippini, A, Cervelli, C, Riccioli, A, Muci, S, Starace, G, Stefanini, M, Ziparo, E: Immunosuppressive molecules produced by Sertoli cells cultured in vitro: biological effects on lymphocytes. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 186:1639-1646, 1992
- Wyatt,CR, Law,L, Magnuson,JA, Griswold,MD, Magnuson,NS: Suppression of lymphocyte proliferation by proteins secreted by cultured Sertoli cells. *J.Reprod.Immunol.* 14:27-40, 1988
- 215. Selawry, HP, Cameron, DF: Sertoli cell-enriched fractions in successful islet cell transplantation. *Cell Transplant.* 2:123-129, 1993
- 216. Korbutt,GS, Elliott,JF, Rajotte,RV: Cotransplantation of allogeneic islets with allogeneic testicular cell aggregates allows long-term graft survival without systemic immunosuppression. *Diabetes* 46:317-322, 1997
- 217. Griswold, MD: Protein secretions of Sertoli cells. *Int.Rev.Cytol.* 110:133-156, 1988

- 218. Dufour, JM, Rajotte, RV, Korbutt, GS, Emerich, DF: Harnessing the immunomodulatory properties of Sertoli cells to enable xenotransplantation in type I diabetes. *Immunol.Invest* 32:275-297, 2003
- Merly,F, Huard,C, Asselin,I, Robbins,PD, Tremblay,JP: Anti-inflammatory effect of transforming growth factor-beta1 in myoblast transplantation. *Transplantation* 65:793-799, 1998
- 220. Wahl,SM, McCartney-Francis,N, Mergenhagen,SE: Inflammatory and immunomodulatory roles of TGF-beta. *Immunol.Today* 10:258-261, 1989
- 221. Bailey, R, Griswold, MD: Clusterin in the male reproductive system: localization and possible function. *Mol.Cell Endocrinol.* 151:17-23, 1999
- 222. Jenne, DE, Tschopp, J: Molecular structure and functional characterization of a human complement cytolysis inhibitor found in blood and seminal plasma: identity to sulfated glycoprotein 2, a constituent of rat testis fluid. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 86:7123-7127, 1989
- Yang,H, Wright,JR: Co-encapsulation of Sertoli enriched testicular cell fractions further prolongs fish-to-mouse islet xenograft survival. *Transplantation* 67:815-820, 1999
- 224. Dufour, JM, Rajotte, RV, Kin, T, Korbutt, GS: Immunoprotection of rat islet xenografts by cotransplantation with sertoli cells and a single injection of antilymphocyte serum. *Transplantation* 75:1594-1596, 2003
- 225. Valdes-Gonzalez,RA, Dorantes,LM, Garibay,GN, Bracho-Blanchet,E, Mendez,AJ, Davila-Perez,R, Elliott,RB, Teran,L, White,DJ: Xenotransplantation

of porcine neonatal islets of Langerhans and Sertoli cells: a 4-year study. Eur.J.Endocrinol. 153:419-427, 2005

- 226. Phelps,CJ, Koike,C, Vaught,TD, Boone,J, Wells,KD, Chen,SH, Ball,S, Specht,SM, Polejaeva,IA, Monahan,JA, Jobst,PM, Sharma,SB, Lamborn,AE, Garst,AS, Moore,M, Demetris,AJ, Rudert,WA, Bottino,R, Bertera,S, Trucco,M, Starzl,TE, Dai,Y, Ayares,DL: Production of alpha 1,3-galactosyltransferasedeficient pigs. *Science* 299:411-414, 2003
- 227. Zhu,M, Wang,SS, Xia,ZX, Cao,RH, Chen,D, Huang,YB, Liu,B, Chen,ZK, Chen,S: Inhibition of xenogeneic response in porcine endothelium using RNA interference. *Transplantation* 79:289-296, 2005
- 228. Cozzi, E, White, DJ: The generation of transgenic pigs as potential organ donors for humans. *Nat. Med* 1:964-966, 1995
- 229. McCurry,KR, Kooyman,DL, Alvarado,CG, Cotterell,AH, Martin,MJ, Logan,JS, Platt,JL: Human complement regulatory proteins protect swine-to-primate cardiac xenografts from humoral injury. *Nat.Med* 1:423-427, 1995
- 230. Cowan,PJ, Shinkel,TA, Aminian,A, Romanella,M, Wigley,PL, Lonie,AJ, Nottle,MB, Pearse,MJ, d'Apice,AJ: High-level co-expression of complement regulators on vascular endothelium in transgenic mice: CD55 and CD59 provide greater protection from human complement-mediated injury than CD59 alone. *Xenotransplantation.* 5:184-190, 1998
- 231. Quinn,G, Wood,JC, Ryan,DJ, Suling,KM, Moran,KM, Kolber-Simonds,DL, Greenstein,JL, Schuurman,HJ, Hawley,RJ, Patience,C: Porcine endogenous

retrovirus transmission characteristics of galactose alpha1-3 galactose-deficient pig cells. *J Virol.* 78:5805-5811, 2004

- 232. Lacy,PE, Davie,JM, Finke,EH: Prolongation of islet allograft survival following in vitro culture (24 degrees C) and a single injection of ALS. *Science* 204:312-313, 1979
- 233. Faustman, D, Hauptfeld, V, Lacy, P, Davie, J: Prolongation of murine islet allograft survival by pretreatment of islets with antibody directed to Ia determinants. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 78:5156-5159, 1981
- 234. Lau,H, Reemtsma,K, Hardy,MA: Prolongation of rat islet allograft survival by direct ultraviolet irradiation of the graft. *Science* 223:607-609, 1984
- 235. Coulombe,MG, Warnock,GL, Rajotte,RV: Prolongation of islet xenograft survival by cryopreservation. *Diabetes* 36:1086-1088, 1987
- Rajotte, RV, Evans, MG, Warnock, GL, Kneteman, NM: Islet cryopreservation.
 Horm Metab Res Suppl 25:72-81, 1990
- 237. Gotoh, M, Maki, T, Satomi, S, Porter, J, Monaco, AP: Immunological characteristics of purified pancreatic islet grafts. *Transplantation* 42:387-390, 1986
- Sandrin, MS, Osman, N, McKenzie, IF: Transgenic approaches for the reduction of Galalpha(1,3)Gal for xenotransplantation. *Front Biosci.* 2:e1-11, 1997
- 239. Ezzelarab, M, Cooper, DK: Reducing Gal expression on the pig organ a retrospective review. *Xenotransplantation*. 12:278-285, 2005
- 240. Rabinovitch, A, Suarez-Pinzon, W, Strynadka, K, Ju, Q, Edelstein, D, Brownlee, M, Korbutt, GS, Rajotte, RV: Transfection of human pancreatic islets with an anti-

apoptotic gene (bcl-2) protects beta-cells from cytokine-induced destruction. Diabetes 48:1223-1229, 1999

- Desai,NM, Korbutt,GS, Barker,CF, Lafferty,KJ: Beta-cell replacement.
 Diabetologia 40 Suppl 3:B44-B49, 1997
- 242. Chick,WL, Perna,JJ, Lauris,V, Low,D, Galletti,PM, Panol,G, Whittemore,AD,
 Like,AA, Colton,CK, Lysaght,MJ: Artificial pancreas using living beta cells:.
 effects on glucose homeostasis in diabetic rats. *Science* 197:780-782, 1977
- 243. Monaco, AP, Maki, T, Ozato, H, Carretta, M, Sullivan, SJ, Borland, KM, Mahoney, MD, Chick, WL, Muller, TE, Wolfrum, J, .: Transplantation of islet allografts and xenografts in totally pancreatectomized diabetic dogs using the hybrid artificial pancreas. *Ann.Surg.* 214:339-360, 1991
- 244. Maki, T, Lodge, JP, Carretta, M, Ohzato, H, Borland, KM, Sullivan, SJ, Staruk, J, Muller, TE, Solomon, BA, Chick, WL, .: Treatment of severe diabetes mellitus for more than one year using a vascularized hybrid artificial pancreas. *Transplantation* 55:713-717, 1993
- 245. Maki,T, Otsu,I, O'Neil,JJ, Dunleavy,K, Mullon,CJ, Solomon,BA, Monaco,AP: Treatment of diabetes by xenogeneic islets without immunosuppression. Use of a vascularized bioartificial pancreas. *Diabetes* 45:342-347, 1996
- Zekorn, T, Renardy, M, Planck, H, Zschocke, P, Bretzel, RG, Siebers, U, Federlin, K:
 Experiments on a new hollow fiber membrane for immuno isolated
 transplantation of islets of Langerhans. *Horm. Metab Res. Suppl* 25:202-206, 1990
- 247. Scharp, DW, Swanson, CJ, Olack, BJ, Latta, PP, Hegre, OD, Doherty, EJ, Gentile, FT, Flavin, KS, Ansara, MF, Lacy, PE: Protection of encapsulated human islets

implanted without immunosuppression in patients with type I or type II diabetes and in nondiabetic control subjects. *Diabetes* 43:1167-1170, 1994

- 248. Loudovaris, T, Jacobs, S, Young, S, Maryanov, D, Brauker, J, Johnson, RC: Correction of diabetic nod mice with insulinomas implanted within Baxter immunoisolation devices. *J. Mol. Med.* 77:219-222, 1999
- 249. Ohgawara,H, Kobayashi,A, Kawamura,M, Karibe,S, Fu,Q, Omori,Y, Akaike,T: Development of a method for embedded-culture of pig pancreatic islet-like cell clusters in agarose containing maltose-carrying polystyrene (HEVM) and nicotinamide. *Cell Transplant.* 3:83-89, 1994
- 250. Ohgawara,H: Strategies for immunoisolation in islet transplantation: challenges for the twenty-first century. *J Hepatobiliary*.*Pancreat.Surg.* 7:374-379, 2000
- 251. Rafael,E, Wu,GS, Hultenby,K, Tibell,A, Wernerson,A: Improved survival of macroencapsulated islets of Langerhans by preimplantation of the immunoisolating device: a morphometric study. *Cell Transplant*. 12:407-412, 2003
- 252. Halle, JP, Bourassa, S, Leblond, FA, Chevalier, S, Beaudry, M, Chapdelaine, A, Cousineau, S, Saintonge, J, Yale, JF: Protection of islets of Langerhans from antibodies by microencapsulation with alginate-poly-L-lysine membranes. *Transplantation* 55:350-354, 1993
- 253. Zekorn, TD, Horcher, A, Mellert, J, Siebers, U, Altug, T, Emre, A, Hahn, HJ, Federlin, K: Biocompatibility and immunology in the encapsulation of islets of Langerhans (bioartificial pancreas). *Int. J Artif. Organs* 19:251-257, 1996

- 254. De Vos,P, De Haan,BJ, Wolters,GH, Strubbe,JH, Van Schilfgaarde,R: Improved biocompatibility but limited graft survival after purification of alginate for microencapsulation of pancreatic islets. *Diabetologia* 40:262-270, 1997
- 255. Calafiore, R, Basta, G, Luca, G, Boselli, C, Bufalari, A, Cassarani, MP, Giustozzi, GM, Brunetti, P: Transplantation of pancreatic islets contained in minimal volume microcapsules in diabetic high mammalians. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 875:219-232, 1999
- 256. De Vos,P, De Haan,B, Pater,J, Van Schilfgaarde,R: Association between capsule diameter, adequacy of encapsulation, and survival of microencapsulated rat islet allografts. *Transplantation* 62:893-899, 1996
- 257. Hill,RS, Cruise,GM, Hager,SR, Lamberti,FV, Yu,X, Garufis,CL, Yu,Y, Mundwiler,KE, Cole,JF, Hubbell,JA, Hegre,OD, Scharp,DW: Immunoisolation of adult porcine islets for the treatment of diabetes mellitus. The use of photopolymerizable polyethylene glycol in the conformal coating of mass-isolated porcine islets. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 831:332-343, 1997
- 258. Brissova, M, Lacik, I, Powers, AC, Anilkumar, AV, Wang, T: Control and measurement of permeability for design of microcapsule cell delivery system. J Biomed. Mater. Res. 39:61-70, 1998
- 259. Gaserod,O, Smidsrod,O, Skjak-Braek,G: Microcapsules of alginate-chitosan--I. A quantitative study of the interaction between alginate and chitosan. *Biomaterials* 19:1815-1825, 1998

- 260. Lanza, RP, Jackson, R, Sullivan, A, Ringeling, J, McGrath, C, Kuhtreiber, W, Chick, WL: Xenotransplantation of cells using biodegradable microcapsules. *Transplantation* 67:1105-1111, 1999
- 261. Shimizu,S, Yamazaki,M, Kubota,S, Ozasa,T, Moriya,H, Kobayashi,K, Mikami,M, Mori,Y, Yamaguchi,S: In vitro studies on a new method for islet microencapsulation using a thermoreversible gelation polymer, Nisopropylacrylamide-based copolymer. *Artif Organs* 20:1232-1237, 1996
- 262. Dawson,RM, Broughton,RL, Stevenson,WT, Sefton,MV: Microencapsulation of CHO cells in a hydroxyethyl methacrylate-methyl methacrylate copolymer.
 Biomaterials 8:360-366, 1987
- 263. Cruise,GM, Hegre,OD, Lamberti,FV, Hager,SR, Hill,R, Scharp,DS, Hubbell,JA: In vitro and in vivo performance of porcine islets encapsulated in interfacially photopolymerized poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate membranes. *Cell Transplant*. 8:293-306, 1999
- 264. Kessler, L, Pinget, M, Aprahamian, M, Dejardin, P, Damge, C: In vitro and in vivo studies of the properties of an artificial membrane for pancreatic islet encapsulation. *Horm. Metab Res.* 23:312-317, 1991
- 265. Risbud, MV, Bhargava, S, Bhonde, RR: In vivo biocompatibility evaluation of cellulose macrocapsules for islet immunoisolation: Implications of low molecular weight cut-off. *J Biomed Mater. Res* 66A:86-92, 2003
- 266. Iwata,H, Amemiya,H, Matsuda,T, Takano,H, Hayashi,R, Akutsu,T: Evaluation of microencapsulated islets in agarose gel as bioartificial pancreas by studies of

hormone secretion in culture and by xenotransplantation. *Diabetes* 38 Suppl 1:224-225, 1989

- 267. Zielinski, BA, Aebischer, P: Chitosan as a matrix for mammalian cell encapsulation. *Biomaterials* 15:1049-1056, 1994
- 268. Lim,F, Sun,AM: Microencapsulated islets as bioartificial endocrine pancreas. Science 210:908-910, 1980
- Chandy, T, Mooradian, DL, Rao, GH: Evaluation of modified alginate-chitosanpolyethylene glycol microcapsules for cell encapsulation. *Artif.Organs* 23:894-903, 1999
- 270. Haque, T, Chen, H, Ouyang, W, Martoni, C, Lawuyi, B, Urbanska, AM, Prakash, S: Superior cell delivery features of poly(ethylene glycol) incorporated alginate, chitosan, and poly-L-lysine microcapsules. *Mol. Pharm.* 2:29-36, 2005
- 271. De Vos,P, Hamel,AF, Tatarkiewicz,K: Considerations for successful transplantation of encapsulated pancreatic islets. *Diabetologia* 45:159-173, 2002
- 272. Grasdalen,H: High-field, 1H-n.m.r. spectroscopy of alginate: sequential structure and linkage conformations. *Carbohydrate Research* 118:255-260, 1983
- 273. Martinsen, A, Skjak-Baek, G, Smidsrod, O: Alginate as Immobilization Material: I.
 Correlation between Chemical and Physical Properties of Alginate. *Biotechnol Bioeng.* 33:79-89, 1989
- 274. Clayton,HA, London,NJ, Colloby,PS, Bell,PR, James,RF: The effect of capsule composition on the biocompatibility of alginate-poly-l-lysine capsules. J Microencapsul. 8:221-233, 1991

- 275. Otterlei, M, Ostgaard, K, Skjak-Braek, G, Smidsrod, O, Soon-Shiong, P, Espevik, T: Induction of cytokine production from human monocytes stimulated with alginate. *J Immunother*. 10:286-291, 1991
- 276. De Vos,P, De Haan,B, Van Schilfgaarde,R: Effect of the alginate composition on the biocompatibility of alginate-polylysine microcapsules. *Biomaterials* 18:273-278, 1997
- 277. Van Schilfgaarde, R, De Vos, P: Factors influencing the properties and performance of microcapsules for immunoprotection of pancreatic islets. J Mol Med 77:199-205, 1999
- 278. Klock,G, Pfeffermann,A, Ryser,C, Grohn,P, Kuttler,B, Hahn,HJ, Zimmermann,U:
 Biocompatibility of mannuronic acid-rich alginates. *Biomaterials* 18:707-713, 1997
- 279. De Vos,P, De Haan,B, Wolters,GH, Van Schilfgaarde,R: Factors influencing the adequacy of microencapsulation of rat pancreatic islets. *Transplantation* 62:888-893, 1996
- 280. Schrezenmeir, J, Kirchgessner, J, Gero, L, Kunz, LA, Beyer, J, Mueller-Klieser, W: Effect of microencapsulation on oxygen distribution in islets organs. *Transplantation* 57:1308-1314, 1994
- 281. Klock,G, Frank,H, Houben,R, Zekorn,T, Horcher,A, Siebers,U, Wohrle,M, Federlin,K, Zimmermann,U: Production of purified alginates suitable for use in immunoisolated transplantation. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 40:638-643, 1994

- 282. Dusseault, J, Tam, SK, Menard, M, Polizu, S, Jourdan, G, Yahia, L, Halle, JP: Evaluation of alginate purification methods: Effect on polyphenol, endotoxin, and protein contamination. J.Biomed.Mater.Res.A 76:243-251, 2006
- 283. Tam,SK, Dusseault,J, Polizu,S, Menard,M, Halle,JP, Yahia,L: Impact of residual contamination on the biofunctional properties of purified alginates used for cell encapsulation. *Biomaterials* 27:1296-1305, 2006
- 284. Toso,C, Oberholzer,J, Ceausoglu,I, Ris,F, Rochat,B, Rehor,A, Bucher,P,
 Wandrey,C, Schuldt,U, Belenger,J, Bosco,D, Morel,P, Hunkeler,D: Intra-portal
 injection of 400- microm microcapsules in a large-animal model. *Transpl.Int.*16:405-410, 2003
- 285. Noth,U, Grohn,P, Jork,A, Zimmermann,U, Haase,A, Lutz,J: 19F-MRI in vivo determination of the partial oxygen pressure in perfluorocarbon-loaded alginate capsules implanted into the peritoneal cavity and different tissues. *Magn Reson.Med* 42:1039-1047, 1999
- Udelsman, R, Boyne, MS, Loman, KE, Saudek, CD: Intraperitoneal delivery of insulin via mechanical pump: surgical implications. *Langenbecks Arch.Surg.* 385:367-372, 2000
- 287. Dufrane,D, Steenberghe,MV, Goebbels,RM, Saliez,A, Guiot,Y, Gianello,P: The influence of implantation site on the biocompatibility and survival of alginate encapsulated pig islets in rats. *Biomaterials* 27:3201-3208, 2006
- 288. Duvivier-Kali,VF, Omer,A, Parent,RJ, O'Neil,JJ, Weir,GC: Complete protection of islets against allorejection and autoimmunity by a simple barium-alginate membrane. *Diabetes* 50:1698-1705, 2001

- 289. Trivedi,N, Keegan,M, Steil,GM, Hollister-Lock,J, Hasenkamp,WM, Colton,CK, Bonner-Weir,S, Weir,GC: Islets in alginate macrobeads reverse diabetes despite minimal acute insulin secretory responses. *Transplantation* 71:203-211, 2001
- 290. Omer,A, Duvivier-Kali,VF, Trivedi,N, Wilmot,K, Bonner-Weir,S, Weir,GC: Survival and maturation of microencapsulated porcine neonatal pancreatic cell clusters transplanted into immunocompetent diabetic mice. *Diabetes* 52:69-75, 2003
- 291. Duvivier-Kali,VF, Omer,A, Lopez-Avalos,MD, O'Neil,JJ, Weir,GC: Survival of microencapsulated adult pig islets in mice in spite of an antibody response.
 Am.J.Transplant. 4:1991-2000, 2004
- 292. Soon-Shiong,P, Feldman,E, Nelson,R, Komtebedde,J, Smidsrod,O, Skjak-Braek,G, Espevik,T, Heintz,R, Lee,M: Successful reversal of spontaneous diabetes in dogs by intraperitoneal microencapsulated islets. *Transplantation* 54:769-774, 1992
- 293. Soon-Shiong, P, Feldman, E, Nelson, R, Heintz, R, Yao, Q, Yao, Z, Zheng, T, Merideth, N, Skjak-Braek, G, Espevik, T, .: Long-term reversal of diabetes by the injection of immunoprotected islets. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 90:5843-5847, 1993
- 294. Soon-Shiong, P, Heintz, RE, Merideth, N, Yao, QX, Yao, Z, Zheng, T, Murphy, M, Moloney, MK, Schmehl, M, Harris, M, .: Insulin independence in a type 1 diabetic patient after encapsulated islet transplantation. *Lancet* 343:950-951, 1994
- 295. Sun,Y, Ma,X, Zhou,D, Vacek,I, Sun,AM: Normalization of diabetes in spontaneously diabetic cynomologus monkeys by xenografts of

microencapsulated porcine islets without immunosuppression. J. Clin. Invest 98:1417-1422, 1996

- 296. Elliott,RB, Escobar,L, Tan,PL, Garkavenko,O, Calafiore,R, Basta,P, Vasconcellos,AV, Emerich,DF, Thanos,C, Bambra,C: Intraperitoneal alginateencapsulated neonatal porcine islets in a placebo-controlled study with 16 diabetic cynomolgus primates. *Transplant.Proc.* 37:3505-3508, 2005
- 297. Calafiore,R, Basta,G, Luca,G, Lemmi,A, Montanucci,MP, Calabrese,G, Racanicchi,L, Mancuso,F, Brunetti,P: Microencapsulated pancreatic islet allografts into nonimmunosuppressed patients with type 1 diabetes: first two cases. *Diabetes Care* 29:137-138, 2006
- 298. Canaple, L, Rehor, A, Hunkeler, D: Improving cell encapsulation through size control. *J Biomater.Sci.Polym.Ed* 13:783-796, 2002
- 299. Carlsson,PO, Palm,F, Andersson,A, Liss,P: Markedly decreased oxygen tension in transplanted rat pancreatic islets irrespective of the implantation site. *Diabetes* 50:489-495, 2001
- 300. De Vos,P, Wolters,GH, Fritschy,WM, Van Schilfgaarde,R: Obstacles in the application of microencapsulation in islet transplantation. *Int.J Artif.Organs* 16:205-212, 1993
- 301. Fritschy,WM, De Vos,P, Groen,H, Klatter,FA, Pasma,A, Wolters,GH, Van Schilfgaarde,R: The capsular overgrowth on microencapsulated pancreatic islet grafts in streptozotocin and autoimmune diabetic rats. *Transpl.Int.* 7:264-271, 1994

- 302. King,A, Sandler,S, Andersson,A, Hellerstrom,C, Kulseng,B, Skjak-Braek,G:
 Glucose metabolism in vitro of cultured and transplanted mouse pancreatic islets
 microencapsulated by means of a high-voltage electrostatic field. *Diabetes Care*22 Suppl 2:B121-B126, 1999
- 303. Zimmermann,U, Klock,G, Federlin,K, Hannig,K, Kowalski,M, Bretzel,RG, Horcher,A, Entenmann,H, Sieber,U, Zekorn,T: Production of mitogencontamination free alginates with variable ratios of mannuronic acid to guluronic acid by free flow electrophoresis. *Electrophoresis* 13:269-274, 1992
- 304. Wiegand,F, Kroncke,KD, Kolb-Bachofen,V: Macrophage-generated nitric oxide as cytotoxic factor in destruction of alginate-encapsulated islets. Protection by arginine analogs and/or coencapsulated erythrocytes. *Transplantation* 56:1206-1212, 1993
- 305. Juste, S, Lessard, M, Henley, N, Menard, M, Halle, JP: Effect of poly-L-lysine coating on macrophage activation by alginate-based microcapsules: assessment using a new in vitro method. J.Biomed.Mater.Res.A 72:389-398, 2005
- Campbell,IL, Iscaro,A, Harrison,LC: IFN-gamma and tumor necrosis factoralpha. Cytotoxicity to murine islets of Langerhans. *J Immunol.* 141:2325-2329, 1988
- 307. Zawalich,WS, Diaz,VA: Interleukin 1 inhibits insulin secretion from isolated perifused rat islets. *Diabetes* 35:1119-1123, 1986
- 308. Sternesjo, J, Bendtzen, K, Sandler, S: Effects of prolonged exposure in vitro to interferon-gamma and tumour necrosis factor-alpha on nitric oxide and insulin production of rat pancreatic islets. *Autoimmunity* 20:185-190, 1995

- 309. Kulseng,B, Skjak-Braek,G, Ryan,L, Andersson,A, King,A, Faxvaag,A, Espevik,T: Transplantation of alginate microcapsules: generation of antibodies against alginates and encapsulated porcine islet-like cell clusters. *Transplantation* 67:978-984, 1999
- 310. Weber, C, D'Agati, V, Ward, L, Costanzo, M, Rajotte, R, Reemtsma, K: Humoral reaction to microencapsulated rat, canine, and porcine islet xenografts in spontaneously diabetic NOD mice. *Transplant.Proc.* 25:462-463, 1993
- 311. Colton,CK: Implantable biohybrid artificial organs. *Cell Transplant*. 4:415-436, 1995
- 312. Calafiore, R, Basta, G, Luca, G, Boselli, C, Bufalari, A, Giustozzi, GM, Moggi, L, Brunetti, P: Alginate/polyaminoacidic coherent microcapsules for pancreatic islet graft immunoisolation in diabetic recipients. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 831:313-322, 1997

CHAPTER 2

IMPROVED SURVIVAL OF MICROENCAPSULATED ISLETS DURING IN VITRO CULTURE AND ENHANCED METABOLIC FUNCTION POSTTRANSPLANTATION*

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Advances in clinical islet transplantation have resulted in increased attention to islet transplantation as a potential therapy in the management of Type 1 diabetes (1). This therapy has not been of use among diabetics at large, however, due to two major obstacles. First, the shortage of cadaveric human pancreases limits the availability of donor tissue available for transplantation. In fact, current protocols require islets from multiple donors to effectively establish normoglycemia in diabetic recipients. Long term culture has been considered as a potential solution for accruing a suitable mass of islets for transplantation from multiple donors (2,3). Unfortunately, long term islet culture often results in a significant loss in islet mass and viability. The use of biocompatible matrices such as sodium alginate have been used as a means of reducing the detrimental effects of long term culture (4-6).

The second barrier to islet transplantation as a widespread therapy is the current need for chronic immunosuppression to prevent graft rejection (7). To overcome this

* A version of this chapter has been published: Korbutt et al. 2004 Diabetologia. 47:1810-1818.

hurdle, microencapsulation of allogeneic or xenogeneic islet grafts has been proposed as a means of protecting islets from immune mediated destruction (8-11). An evaluation of the literature reveals, however, that success has so far been very limited and nonreproducible. The inability of encapsulated islet grafts to reproducibly achieve and maintain long-term euglycemia is presumably related not only to insufficient immunoprotection but also to a variety of technical and metabolic issues, including the: encapsulation process, composition/purity of the microcapsule (12), capsule size & surface structure (13,14), poor biocompatibility (15,16), and endotoxin levels of the alginate (17,18). Furthermore, while the addition of poly-L-lysine (PLL) has been used to reduce capsule porosity (19), its addition has resulted in an increased fibrotic response (15). It has been shown also that a simple alginate capsule, devoid of PLL, retains the ability to prolong graft survival and protect the graft (6).

The aim of this study was to determine whether islets, encapsulated in a highly purified calcium-alginate capsule exhibit prolonged survival and function during long term tissue culture and post-transplantation. We used immuno-incompetent mice implanted with canine islets, as well as syngeneic mouse islet grafts where a potential fibrotic response could be examined.

2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.2.1 Experimental design

The survival and function of encapsulated canine islets were examined both in vitro and in vivo. Controls included non-encapsulated islets. Islets were cultured for 1,

2, and 3 weeks and were compared with respect to islet recovery, glucose stimulated insulin secretion, and metabolic function following transplantation. Experiments compared the success and longevity of transplants using varying masses of encapsulated or non-encapsulated canine islets in nude mice. Another set of experiments determined the efficacy of encapsulated syngeneic mouse islets transplanted intraperitoneally to assess graft survival in a model able to exhibit an inflammatory response.

2.2.2 Animals

Donor pancreases were obtained from halothane anesthetized mongrel dogs (University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada) of either sex, weighing 9-30 kg. Male, inbred, athymic nude BALB/c mice (age 6-8 weeks) (Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbour, MA, USA) were used as recipients of the canine islets. Male BALB/c mice (University of Alberta) were used as donors and as recipients for syngeneic grafts. Mice were rendered diabetic by intravenous injection of 90 mg/kg body wt alloxan (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) freshly dissolved in 1 mmol/l hydrochloric acid 7-10 days before transplantation. Recipients exhibited blood glucose levels above 20mmol/l. Blood samples were obtained from the tail vein for glucose assay (Medisense glucose meter, Medisense Canada, Mississauga, ON). Animals were maintained under Virus Antibody Free conditions in climatized rooms with free access to sterilized tap water and pelleted food.

2.2.3 Preparation and microencapsulation of islets

Canine islets were retrieved through pancreatectomy, islet isolation by collagenase (type V, Sigma) digestion and purification on discontinuous Ficoll (Sigma) density

gradients(20,21). The mean number of islets in each of 6 diameter ranges from 60 to 350µm was determined in order to convert the total yield into 150-µm diameter islet equivalents (IE) (22). Islets were then distributed in groups of 5000 IE per non-treated bacteriologic Petri dish (15 cm diameter; Fisher Scientific, Canada), suspended in 35ml of CMRL 1066 tissue culture medium (Gibco) supplemented with 5.6mmol/l glucose, 2mmol/l L-glutamine, 10% (v/v) fetal calf serum (Gibco), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100µg/ml streptomycin and cultured overnight at 22°C in humidified air (5% CO₂, 95% air).

Mouse islets were isolated by collagenase (type V, Sigma) digestion of the pancreas (23), purified using discontinuous Ficoll (Sigma) density gradients, hand-picked and cultured overnight at 22°C in humidified air (5% CO₂, 95% air) in supplemented CMRL 1066.

After culture, aliquots of approximately 10,000 canine IE or 3000-5000 mouse islets were washed and re-suspended in 0.44ml with Ca⁺⁺ and Mg⁺⁺ free HBSS (Gibco, Burlington, ON) and mixed with 0.55 ml of 1.5% (w/v) highly purified, high guluronic content alginate (high G alginate, 72% G-content, 28% M-content, 193,800MW, endotoxins 0.25 IU/ml; provided by Metabolex, Inc., Hayward, CA) dissolved in HBSS (no Ca⁺⁺, Mg⁺⁺) (pH 7.4). Alginate microcapsules (250-350µm in diameter) were formed using an electrostatic droplet generator (designed by Metabolex, Inc.) and a 120mM calcium chloride solution for gelation of alginate beads. Capsules were then cultured in supplemented CMRL medium at 22°C for 1, 2, or 3 weeks.

Characterization of canine islet preparations after long-term tissue culture After 1, 2, or 3 weeks culture at 22°C, canine islet preparations were re-counted to determine total IE recovery and assessed for functional viability. These islets were washed in HBSS and transferred to supplemented CMRL 1066 medium for 24h culture at 37°C. The islets' insulin secretory responsiveness to glucose was determined during a 2h static incubation at 37°C (24). Samples of 50 IE were incubated in 24-well non-tissue culture treated plates (Becton Dickson Labware, Franklin Lakes, NJ) with 1.5ml of RPMI medium (Gibco) supplemented with 2mmol/l L-glutamine, 0.5% BSA and either 2.8mmol/l glucose or 20mmol/l glucose. The insulin content of the medium was expressed as a percentage of the total content (i.e., tissue plus medium). Stimulation indices were calculated by dividing the amount of insulin release at 20mmol/l glucose by that released at 2.8mmol/l glucose.

2.2.5 Transplantation and metabolic follow-up

2.2.4

In long term culture experiments, non-encapsulated and encapsulated canine islets were transplanted (renal subcapsule and intraperitoneal, respectively) following 1, 2 or 3 weeks culture into Halothane-anesthetized diabetic nude mice. In short term culture experiments, freshly isolated canine islets were cultured for 24 hours, encapsulated, then cultured overnight in supplemented CMRL. Varying masses of islets were transplanted under the renal subcapsule (non-encapsulated) or in the peritoneal cavity (nonencapsulated or encapsulated). To standardize the mass of canine islets transplanted in each experiment, representative aliquots of each preparation were counted prior to implantation to determine total islet equivalents. Grafts consisted of 1000 or 2000 canine

IE for long term culture experiments, while grafts for islet mass studies varied between 250 to 4000 canine IE. For syngeneic mouse grafts, 500 non-encapsulated (renal subcapsular) or encapsulated (intraperitoneally) mouse islets were transplanted into diabetic recipients. All grafts were suspended in supplemented CMRL 1066 medium and then implanted into the peritoneal cavity via a small incision in the linea alba or under the left renal capsule with the aid of a micromanipulator syringe (24).

Mice were monitored for blood glucose levels between 8:00 and 11:00 a.m. When the blood glucose level was \leq 8.4mmol/l the graft was deemed a success. At 100-120 days post-transplantation, oral glucose tolerance tests (OGTT) were performed on recipients with normalized basal glycemia and in normal controls. After a 2-h fast, Dglucose (3 mg/g body weight) was administered as a 50% solution by oral gavage into non-anesthetized mice. Blood samples were obtained from the tail vein at 0, 15, 30, 60, and 120min.

At various time points (i.e., >100 days post-transplantation) capsules were recovered by intraperitoneal lavage with phosphate buffered saline containing 12 mmol/l CaCl₂. Recovered grafts were subsequently stained with dithizone. To confirm the efficacy of the encapsulated islets at correcting diabetes, the pancreas of each recipient was assayed for insulin content as previously described (24). Animals with renal subcapsular grafts were nephrectomized and subsequently monitored to confirm a return to hyperglycemia.

2.2.6 Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as means \pm SE of n independent observations. Statistical significance of differences was calculated with a two-tailed unpaired Student's *t*-test or a one-way

analysis of variance in case of multiple comparisons. Significance was attributed when p<0.05.

2.3 RESULTS

2.3.1 Canine islet microencapsulation

Immediately following the encapsulation process, islet recovery was $92\pm2\%$ (n=10 independent isolations). In eight independent experiments, the volume of representative aliquots of encapsulated canine islets was estimated in 15ml Falcon centrifuge tubes, where as the volume of non-encapsulated preparations was calculated as previously defined (22). The mean volume of 4000 encapsulated and non-encapsulated IE was $160\pm16\mu$ l and $7.2\pm0.8\mu$ l, respectively. When 4000 encapsulated IE were handpicked to eliminate empty capsules the average volume was $150\pm8\mu$ l, demonstrating that approximately 94% of the capsules contained islets.

2.3.2 Effect of microencapsulation on canine islet survival and insulin secretory activity in vitro

The number of encapsulated islets recovered throughout the various culture periods was significantly higher when compared to non-encapsulated control islets incubated for the same time (Table 2-1). The recovery of encapsulated islets was 54, 61 and 190% higher than controls following 1, 2, and 3 weeks culture, respectively (Table 2-1). When compared to the start of the experiment, total islet yield of non-encapsulated controls significantly decreased to 63, 55, and 25% after 1, 2, and 3 weeks culture, respectively (p<0.0001 at all time points). On the other hand, islet loss was substantially reduced
		Insulin secretory a	Stimulation indices		
Condition	Islet Recovery (%)	2.8mmol/L glucose	20mmol/L glucose	High:low	
Non-encapsulated					
1 week (n=5)	63.2±5.3	0.55±0.06	10.1±0.2	18.7±1.8	
2 weeks (n=6)	55.5±4.2	0.97±0.11‡	9.4±0.4	9.7±0.4‡	
3 weeks (n=4)	24.5±10.2‡	1.07±0.11‡	9.2±0.2	8.8±0.7‡	
Encapsulated					
1 week (n=6)	97.3±2.6†	0.43±0.06	8.7±0.4	20.8±2.0	
2 weeks (n=7)	89.6±4.2†	0.54±0.04†	9.5±0.3	17.6±1.4*	
3 weeks (n=4)	71.4±7.6*§	0.87±0.04§	8.7±0.1	10.1±0.4§	

Table 2-1. Effect of microencapsulation on canine islet recovery and insulin secretory activity over a three week period in culture.

Values are mean±SEM. Islet recovery was expressed as the percentage of islets remaining after 1, 2 and 3 weeks culture as compared to day 0. Islet insulin release experiments were performed in minimally 4 independent experiments per condition and stimulation indices were calculated dividing amount of insulin release at high glucose (20mmol/L) by that released at low (2.8mmol/L) glucose. p<0.05, p<0.001 vs. non-encapsulated at same time period (unpaired Student's t-test). p<0.01 vs. non-encapsulated at 1 week, p<0.01 vs. encapsulated at 1 week (analysis of variance).

when the islets were encapsulated, with 97, 90, and 71% recovery of islet equivalents after 1, 2, and 3 weeks culture, respectively (p<0.01).

The insulin secretory activity of control and encapsulated islets was tested by determining the percentages of cellular insulin that was released at low (2.8mmol/l) and high glucose (20mmol/l) during a 2 h static incubation assay. After 1 week culture, no statistically significant differences were observed in the amount of insulin released between the two groups (Table 2-1). Control and encapsulated islets released >18-fold more insulin at high glucose than at low glucose. These values were similar to freshly isolated non-encapsulated canine islets cultured for 24 h at 37°C (0.41 \pm 0.02% and 8.9 \pm 0.03% at 2.8 and 20 mmol/l glucose, respectively; data not shown). Control islets cultured for 2 or 3 weeks released higher levels (p<0.001) of insulin in response to 2.8mmol/l glucose than observed after 1 week culture. Hence, stimulation indices were significantly lower when control islets were cultured for periods longer than 1 week. In contrast, encapsulated islets showed similar insulin secretory responses when cultured for 1 or 2 weeks (Table 2-1), while increased insulin release at low glucose was observed only at 3 weeks culture. Thus, for our encapsulated islets, the calculated stimulation index dropped significantly at 3 weeks culture.

2.3.3 Transplantation of long-term cultured canine islets

Control or encapsulated canine islets preserved for 1, 2, and 3 weeks at 22°C were transplanted either under the renal capsule or intraperitoneally into diabetic nude mice, respectively. Transplantation under the renal capsule of 2000 non-encapsulated control IE cultured for 1 week corrected diabetes in two of three recipients for >100 days, whereas one of three recipients maintained normoglycemia for >100 days when culture

Graft	Culture period (weeks)	Days of euglycemia (MST±SE)	% Survival (>100 days)		
Non-encapsulated*					
2000I.E.'s	1	0, 134x2‡ (89±45)	66		
	2	0, 80, 201‡ (94±58)	33		
	3	0, 23, 312‡ (112±100)	33		
Encapsulated [†]					
1000 I.E.'s	1	134‡, 169§, 170§, 223§ (174±18)	100		
	2	24, 107, 198x2‡ (132±42)	75		
	3	147, 171§, 190‡ (169±12)	100		
2000 I.E.'s	1	109§, 134‡, 170‡, 198x2‡, 255‡ (177±21)	100		
	2	180x2§, 185§ (181±2)	100		
	3	162‡, 190‡, 248‡ (200±25)	100		

Table 2-2. Effect of long-term culture on the survival of canine islet grafts in diabetic nude mice.

Euglycemia defined as blood glucose values \leq 8.4 mmol/L. I.E., islet equivalents; MST, mean standard time. *Renal subcapsular transplants. †Intraperitoneal transplants. ‡Grafts recovered from normoglycemic recipients for morphological assessment. §Animal died when normoglycemic.

was prolonged to 2 or 3 weeks (Table 2-2). In contrast, all animals implanted intraperitoneally with 2000 encapsulated islets cultured for 1 to 3 weeks exhibited blood glucose values ≤ 8.4 mmol/l for >100 days (Table 2-2). When 1000 encapsulated islets cultured for 1, 2, and 3 weeks were transplanted, 100% (4/4), 75% (3/4), and 100% (3/3) of the recipients achieved euglycemia for >100 days. At 100 days post-transplantation, OGTTs were performed in aged-matched normal controls and intraperitoneal recipients of 1000 encapsulated islets. OGTTs were not performed in animals implanted with nonencapsulated grafts due to the poor survival past 100 days. Compared to controls, animals receiving 1000 encapsulated islets cultured for 1, 2, and 3 weeks exhibited similar glycemic values at all time points (Figure 2-1). Mice transplanted with canine islets cultured for 3 weeks exhibited mean blood glucose values at times 15 min and 30 min that were significantly higher than those in animals implanted with grafts cultured for 1 week. In all groups, blood glycemia values at min 120 were not significantly different from the values at min 0. The pancreatic insulin content of all recipients of intraperitoneal implants was <2% (0.49±.03µg) that of normal control animals $(38.9\pm1.8\mu g)$, indicating that the grafts were responsible for the euglycemia. Similarly, removal of the graft-bearing kidneys from normoglycemic animals was followed by a rapid return to the diabetic state.

2.3.4 Effect of canine islet mass and transplant site

In another series of experiments the minimal mass of 48 h cultured non-encapsulated and encapsulated islets required to reverse diabetes in nude mice was assessed following transplantation under the kidney capsule or intraperitoneally. Implantation of 1000 and 2000 non-encapsulated islets under the renal subcapsular space corrected basal glucose



Figure 2-1. Blood glucose values during an OGTT in nude mice transplanted with 1000 encapsulated canine islets cultured for 1 (\circ ; n=4), 2 (\blacksquare ; n=3), and 3 (\Box ; n=3) weeks. Values are compared to aged matched normal controls (\bullet ; n=9) and expressed as means \pm SEM. Statistical significance of differences was calculated by one-way analysis of variance. *p<0.05 vs. 1 week culture.

levels in 50% (4/8) and 83% (15/18) of the animals, respectively (Table 2-3). However, at >100 days post-transplantation, euglycemia remained in only 2/8 (25%) and 12/18 (67%) of the 1000- and 2000-islet group, respectively. Intraperitoneal transplantation of either 2000 or 4000 non-encapsulated islets had little effect at correcting diabetes, as <15% of the animals exhibited normoglycemia lasting only a short time (Table 2-3). In contrast, normalization of blood glucose occurred in 100% of recipients receiving intraperitoneal grafts of 1000, 2000, and 4000 encapsulated islets (Table 2-3). In these

Group	Islet mass (I.E.)	n	Days of euglycemia (MST±SE)	% Survival (>100 days)
Non-encapsulate	d			
kidney	1000	8	0x4, 1, 10†, 120*, 163 (>37±23)	25
	2000	18	0x3, 46, 66, 85, 114, 116x3*, 120x2*, 133x2*, 156x2*, 184x2* (>103±14)	67
i.p.	2000	9	0x8, 6x1 (1.0±1.0¶)	0
	4000	8	0x7, 37 (5±5¶)	0
Encapsulated				
i.p.	250	8	0, 11, 12, 38x2, 87, 122x2* (>54±18)	25
	500	18	0x3, 23, 50, 135, 137x4*, 170x3*, 184*, 217*, 262†, 280*, 328* (>141±23‡¶)	72
	1000	19	79, 109, 132, 135, 136x3†, 137x5*, 150*, 177*, 184x4*, 223† (>149±8‡¶)	95
	2000	28	28, 48, 108, 116x5*, 120x6*, 137x4*, 148, 184x4*, 257*, 262x2*, 267x2 (>146±12‡¶)	93
	4000	11	104, 116x4*, 102x2*, 133x2*, 149x2* (>124±4‡§)	100

Table 2-3. Metabolic follow-up of non-encapsulated and encapsulated canine islet grafts in diabetic nude mice.

Euglycemia defined as blood glucose values $\leq 8.4 \text{ mmol/L}$. I.E., islet equivalents; MST, mean standard time; i.p. intraperitoneal. *Grafts recovered from normoglycemic recipients for morphological assessment. †Animal died while normoglycemic. Statistical significance of differences between groups were calculated by factorial two-way analysis of variance. p<0.01 vs. non-encapsulated kidney (1000 I.E.). p<0.05. p<0.01 vs. non-encapsulated kidney (2000 I.E.).

three groups, basal normoglycemia was maintained in 95%, 93%, and 100% of the animals for >100 days post-transplant. When the mass of the intraperitoneal grafts was decreased to 500 and 250 encapsulated islets, 72% (13/18) and 25% (2/8) of the recipients maintained euglycemia for periods greater than 100 days, respectively.

Glucose tolerance tests were performed in normoglycemic recipients and nondiabetic control mice at 100 days post-transplant (Figure 2-2). Compared to age-matched



Figure 2-2. Blood glucose values during an OGTT in nude mice transplanted with 2000 non-encapsulated canine islets under the kidney capsule (\circ ; n=5) or 500 (\blacksquare ; n=7) and 1000 (\Box ; n=10) encapsulated canine islets in the intraperitoneal cavity. Values are compared to aged matched normal controls (\bullet ; n=9) and expressed as means ± SEM. Statistical significance of differences was calculated by one-way analysis of variance. *p<0.05, †p<0.01 vs. control.

normal controls, animals implanted with 2000 non-encapsulated islets under the kidney capsule showed significantly lower (p<0.01) glucose values at 0, 30, and 60 min during the OGTT. When recipients of 500, 1000, 2000, and 4000 encapsulated islets placed intraperitoneally were compared, their blood glucose levels exhibited similar values to each other and to age matched normal controls, and were not statistically different at all time points during the OGTT (Figure 2-2; data represents recipients of only 500 and 1000 encapsulated islets). When the 2000 non-encapsulated (kidney capsule) group was compared to recipients of encapsulated islets, their glucoses were significantly lower at 0 min (p<0.05 vs. 500, 1000 and 2000 islets), 15 min (p<0.01 vs. 500 islets), and at 30 min (p<0.05 vs. 500, 1000, and 2000 islets). In all groups, the glycemia at min 120 was not significantly different from values at min 0.

Examination of recovered encapsulated canine islets at ≥ 100 days posttransplantation revealed structurally intact capsules and islets with no signs of capsule breakage or fibrotic reaction on the capsules' surface (Figure 2-3). In all the recipients of non-encapsulated islets, removal of the graft bearing kidney was followed by a rapid return to the diabetic state. The pancreatic insulin content of recipients of encapsulated islets was <2% (<0.6 µg) that of normal nude mice (38.9±1.8 µg). These results demonstrate that the normoglycemia observed in these recipients was attributable to insulin production from the encapsulated islet grafts and not from residual pancreatic beta cells.

2.3.5 Syngeneic transplantation of mouse islets

Syngeneic BALB/c mouse islet grafts were transplanted to test the ability of encapsulated islets to normalize the diabetic state in immunocompetent animals in order to observe the



 \backslash

Figure 2-3. Light micrographs of dithizone stained encapsulated canine islets before (A) and after (B) implantation into the peritoneum of alloxan-induced diabetic nude mice.

biocompatibility of our alginate. All animals implanted with either 500 non-encapsulated (kidney capsule) or encapsulated (intraperitoneally) islets exhibited normalization of blood glucose levels (<8.4mmol/l) within 48 h post-transplant (Figure 2-4A). This metabolic state was maintained over the 150 day follow-up period and there were no significant differences between the two groups (Figure 2-4A). An OGTT was performed on normoglycemic recipients and age matched normal controls approximately 150 days post-transplant (Figure 2-4B). Compared to normal controls, animals implanted with either non-encapsulated (kidney capsule) or encapsulated (intraperitoneally) islets showed comparable glucose values at all time points throughout the OGTT. Furthermore, at the end of the study removal of the graft bearing kidney resulted in a rapid return to hyperglycemia, whereas all pancreases from encapsulated islet recipients contained negligible insulin (< $0.5 \mu g$).

2.4 DISCUSSION

This study examined whether microencapsulation with a highly-purified alginate preserves islet survival and function during long term tissue culture, as well as following transplantation into both immune competent and immune deficient animals. Initial experiments assessed canine islet survival and insulin secretory responsiveness after long-term tissue culture. Once these experiments demonstrated excellent function and survival in vitro, encapsulated canine islets were then transplanted in diabetic nude mice to determine metabolic function and the minimal mass required to achieve euglycemia. An immuno-incompetent nude mouse model was chosen in order to exclude the effects of rejection, thereby accurately examining the metabolic function of the islet grafts. Syngeneic mouse islet transplants were also conducted to test the biocompatibility of the grafts and the ability to achieve euglycemia and glucose tolerance. Using a syngeneic



Figure 2-4. Function of syngeneic pancreatic islet grafts in alloxan-induced diabetic BALB/c mice. Grafts consisted of 500 non-encapsulated (\circ ; n=6; kidney capsule) or microencapsulated (\blacksquare ; n=11; intraperitoneal) syngeneic islets. (A) Non-fasting blood glucose concentrations are shown from the time of transplantation (day 0) to the conclusion of the follow-up period. (B) Blood glucose values during an OGTT in normal control BALB/c mice (\bullet ; n=5) and those transplanted with 500 non-encapsulated (\circ ; n=6; kidney) or encapsulated (\blacksquare ; n=7; intraperitoneal) syngeneic islets. Values are expressed as means \pm SEM.

model allowed us to observe any potential effects the alginate might have on the graft given that syngeneic tissue would not specifically elicit an immune response.

When non-encapsulated canine islets were cultured at 22°C, islet recovery decreased significantly and when the culture period was extended to 2 and 3 weeks, recovery of non-encapsulated canine islets was further reduced. However, when canine islets were encapsulated islet loss during culture was much lower with recoveries of 70% after 3 weeks. After these culture periods, glucose stimulated insulin secretion was assessed. During the static incubation at 2.8mmol/L and 20mmol/L glucose, similar amounts of insulin were secreted from both non-encapsulated and encapsulated islets cultured for 1 week. Moreover, both non-encapsulated and encapsulated canine islets maintained their glucose responsiveness after 1 week at 22°C since their insulin secretory activity remained comparable to freshly isolated islets (data not shown). After 2 and 3 weeks culture, the insulin secretion at high glucose was comparable; however the calculated stimulation indices for non-encapsulated islets were significantly decreased. This lower response was a direct result of higher basal release of insulin at low glucose (2.8mmol/L) which would suggest that extended culture induces beta cell injury causing passive discharge of insulin and ultimately an abnormal secretory capacity. This reduction of islet function was also observed by the poor ability of non-encapsulated islets cultured for 2 or 3 weeks to correct diabetes in nude mice, whereas encapsulated islets cultured for up to 3 weeks achieved euglycemia and normal glucose tolerance in 75% to 100% of the animals for \geq 100 days.

This comparative study on recovery and function of long-term cultured canine islets demonstrates that microencapsulation with highly purified alginate can be successfully used for storage of islet grafts for prolonged periods without a significant loss of islet cell mass or function. This technique maintains higher islet yields and functional viability both in vitro and post-transplantation than conventional suspension tissue culture. Microencapsulation may achieve this protective effect by providing an environment mimicking the anatomical three-dimensional pancreatic matrix structure, thus preventing islet deterioration and preserving survival and functional viability. Other studies have similarly shown that extracellular matrices play a significant role in inducing islet growth and differentiation (25-27). Preservation of individual islets within a microcapsule also offers the advantage over conventional culture by preventing islet aggregation which often causes central necrosis of these large cellular aggregates. Furthermore, the ability to maintain islets in long-term culture is useful for clinical islet transplantation since it permits the combination of isolates from multiple donors in order to achieve a critical beta cell mass.

We also compared the success and longevity of varying masses of encapsulated or non-encapsulated canine islets. Transplantation of 1000 non-encapsulated canine islets renal subcapsularly failed to correct hyperglycemia in the majority of recipients; whereas, 83% of the animals achieved normoglycemia when the mass was increased to 2000 islets. In contrast, when 2000 or 4000 non-encapsulated islets were implanted intraperitoneally, only one of seventeen recipients exhibited normoglycemia for longer than a day. This latter observation was expected because it has been previously reported that the intraperitoneum is not a very effective site for non-encapsulated islet grafts (28,29). In fact, intraperitoneal transplantation with even encapsulated islets has in the past shown problems with cellular overgrowth of the capsules (30), immune system sensitization

(31), and an inability of encapsulated islets to sense glucose concentration changes (32). In the present study, long-term normoglycemia was however, obtained when \geq 500 encapsulated islets were transplanted into the peritoneum. The majority of these recipients remained euglycemic for \geq 100 days and exhibited comparable glucose tolerance curves to normal controls. To our knowledge, this is the first report demonstrating that encapsulated islets transplanted intraperitoneally can not only reproducibly achieve euglycemia but also normal glucose tolerance.

Finally, grafts consisting of 500 encapsulated BALB/c mouse islets also reproducibly achieved euglycemia for 150 days post-transplantation. Blood glucose values for these animals were not significantly different than those obtained from animals transplanted with non-encapsulated syngeneic islets. Furthermore, both of these groups of animals showed normal glucose tolerance during an OGTT at 150 days when compared with our age matched controls. Since syngeneic islets will elicit no host response, and given that there were no appreciable differences between our groups, we concluded that the alginate used in these experiments is biocompatible since no detrimental effect was observed.

In all of the above experiments, the encapsulated grafts were shown to exhibit no fibrotic overgrowth after ≥100 days post-transplant. Much of the overgrowth of fibroblasts on capsules in other studies can be attributed to the effects of poly-L-lysine (15), however the complete absence of fibroblasts on the alginate capsules in our experiments may be a result of the high purity of the alginate, thereby contributing to its improved biocompatibility. This may also explain why a lower mass of encapsulated canine islets placed intraperitoneally (i.e., 1000 islets) was more effective at achieving

normoglycemia as compared to non-encapsulated control islets transplanted under the kidney capsule (i.e. 2000 islets). Since islets placed under the kidney capsule tend to fuse together forming large clumps, these grafts maybe exposed to more hypoxic conditions resulting in necrosis and/or apoptosis (33). Furthermore, encapsulation of islets, while not providing a perfect immune barrier, certainly may prolong graft survival (6,34). While the exclusion of poly-L-lysine from our alginate capsule increases the porosity of the capsule (35,36), the capsule retains the ability to prevent contact of host cells such as macrophages with the islets, ultimately extending graft survival (37). Nonetheless, an open pore alginate capsule is not an immune barrier so much as it is a support matrix to enhance islet viability, which is a critical step needed before a perm-selective membrane is placed on the islet. The ability of these capsules to so successfully restore glucose responsiveness may in large measure be a result of the high purity and low endotoxin content of the alginate (6,34). Therefore, microencapsulating islets with an alginate of excellent biocompatibility can provide an environment that supports long-term islet graft survival and function, ultimately reducing beta cell loss and dysfunction in the immediate post-transplant period.

This study demonstrates that a purified alginate can be successfully used for longterm storage of islet grafts. This approach succeeds in maintaining higher islet yields and functional viability than conventional suspension tissue culture. It is also encouraging that transplantation of islet grafts microencapsulated with purified alginate into a nonvascularized site such as the peritoneal cavity permits the grafts not only correct basal glycemia but also achieve normal glucose tolerance. Furthermore, it is encouraging that these grafts have the ability to provide long term reversal of hyperglycemia without any observable host reaction to the alginate.

2.5 REFERENCES

- Shapiro,AM, Lakey,JR, Ryan,EA, Korbutt,GS, Toth,E, Warnock,GL, Kneteman,NM, Rajotte,RV: Islet transplantation in seven patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen. *N Engl J Med* 343:230-238, 2000
- Zhao, M, Christie, MR, Heaton, N, George, S, Amiel, S, Cai, HG: Amelioration of streptozotocin-induced diabetes in mice using human islet cells derived from long-term culture in vitro. *Transplantation* 73:1454-1460, 2002
- Schmied, BM, Ulrich, A, Matsuzaki, H, Ding, X, Ricordi, C, Moyer, MP, Batra, SK, Adrian, TE, Pour, PM: Maintenance of human islets in long-term culture. *Differentiation* 66:173-180, 2000
- Tatarkiewicz,K, Garcia,M, Lopez-Avalos,M, Bonner-Weir,S, Weir,GC: Porcine neonatal pancreatic cell clusters in tissue culture: benefits of serum and immobilization in alginate hydrogel1. *Transplantation* 71:1518-1526, 2001
- Ao,Z, Korbutt,GS, Warnock,GL, Flashner,M, Colby,CB, Rajotte,RV: Microencapsulation enhances canine islet survival during long-term culture. *Transplant Proc.* 27:3350, 1995
- Duvivier-Kali,VF, Omer,A, Parent,RJ, O'Neil,JJ, Weir,GC: Complete protection of islets against allorejection and autoimmunity by a simple barium-alginate membrane. *Diabetes* 50:1698-1705, 2001

- Ryan,EA, Lakey,JR, Paty,BW, Imes,S, Korbutt,GS, Kneteman,NM, Bigam,D, Rajotte,RV, Shapiro,AM: Successful islet transplantation: continued insulin reserve provides long-term glycemic control. *Diabetes* 51:2148-2157, 2002
- Zimmermann,U, Thurmer,F, Jork,A, Weber,M, Mimietz,S, Hillgartner,M, Brunnenmeier,F, Zimmermann,H, Westphal,I, Fuhr,G, Noth,U, Haase,A, Steinert,A, Hendrich,C: A novel class of amitogenic alginate microcapsules for long-term immunoisolated transplantation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 944:199-215, 2001
- Sun,Y, Ma,X, Zhou,D, Vacek,I, Sun,AM: Normalization of diabetes in spontaneously diabetic cynomologus monkeys by xenografts of microencapsulated porcine islets without immunosuppression. *J.Clin.Invest* 98:1417-1422, 1996
- Lanza, RP, Ecker, DM, Kuhtreiber, WM, Marsh, JP, Ringeling, J, Chick, WL: Transplantation of islets using microencapsulation: studies in diabetic rodents and dogs. J Mol Med 77:206-210, 1999
- Van Schilfgaarde, R, De Vos, P: Factors influencing the properties and performance of microcapsules for immunoprotection of pancreatic islets. *J Mol Med* 77:199-205, 1999
- King,A, Andersson,A, Strand,BL, Lau,J, Skjak-Braek,G, Sandler,S: The role of capsule composition and biologic responses in the function of transplanted microencapsulated islets of Langerhans. *Transplantation* 76:275-279, 2003
- De Vos,P, De Haan,B, Pater,J, Van Schilfgaarde,R: Association between capsule diameter, adequacy of encapsulation, and survival of microencapsulated rat islet allografts. *Transplantation* 62:893-899, 1996

- Bunger,CM, Gerlach,C, Freier,T, Schmitz,KP, Pilz,M, Werner,C, Jonas,L, Schareck,W, Hopt,UT, De Vos,P: Biocompatibility and surface structure of chemically modified immunoisolating alginate-PLL capsules. *J Biomed Mater.Res* 67A:1219-1227, 2003
- Strand, BL, Ryan, TL, In't, VP, Kulseng, B, Rokstad, AM, Skjak-Brek, G, Espevik, T: Poly-L-Lysine induces fibrosis on alginate microcapsules via the induction of cytokines. *Cell Transplant* 10:263-275, 2001
- King, A, Lau, J, Nordin, A, Sandler, S, Andersson, A: The effect of capsule composition in the reversal of hyperglycemia in diabetic mice transplanted with microencapsulated allogeneic islets. *Diabetes Technol Ther* 5:653-663, 2003
- Klock,G, Frank,H, Houben,R, Zekorn,T, Horcher,A, Siebers,U, Wohrle,M, Federlin,K, Zimmermann,U: Production of purified alginates suitable for use in immunoisolated transplantation. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 40:638-643, 1994
- Wandrey, C, Vidal, DS: Purification of polymeric biomaterials. Ann N Y Acad Sci 944:187-198, 2001
- Halle, JP, Bourassa, S, Leblond, FA, Chevalier, S, Beaudry, M, Chapdelaine, A, Cousineau, S, Saintonge, J, Yale, JF: Protection of islets of Langerhans from antibodies by microencapsulation with alginate-poly-L-lysine membranes. *Transplantation* 55:350-354, 1993
- 20. Warnock, GL, Cattral, MS, Rajotte, RV: Normoglycemia after implantation of purified islet cells in dogs. *Can.J Surg.* 31:421-426, 1988
- Yakimets,WJ, Lakey,JR, Yatscoff,RW, Katyal,D, Ao,Z, Finegood,DT,
 Rajotte,RV, Kneteman,NM: Prolongation of canine pancreatic islet allograft

survival with combined rapamycin and cyclosporine therapy at low doses. Rapamycin efficacy is blood level related. *Transplantation* 56:1293-1298, 1993

- 22. Ricordi,C, Gray,DW, Hering,BJ, Kaufman,DB, Warnock,GL, Kneteman,NM, Lake,SP, London,NJ, Socci,C, Alejandro,R, .: Islet isolation assessment in man and large animals. *Acta Diabetol.Lat.* 27:185-195, 1990
- 23. Ohzato,H, Gotoh,M, Monden,M, Dono,K, Kanai,T, Mori,T: Improvement in islet yield from a cold-preserved pancreas by pancreatic ductal collagenase distention at the time of harvesting. *Transplantation* 51:566-570, 1991
- Korbutt,GS, Elliott,JF, Ao,Z, Smith,DK, Warnock,GL, Rajotte,RV: Large scale isolation, growth, and function of porcine neonatal islet cells. *J Clin Invest* 97:2119-2129, 1996
- 25. Bonner-Weir,S, Taneja,M, Weir,GC, Tatarkiewicz,K, Song,KH, Sharma,A, O'Neil,JJ: In vitro cultivation of human islets from expanded ductal tissue. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97:7999-8004, 2000
- Beattie,GM, Rubin,JS, Mally,MI, Otonkoski,T, Hayek,A: Regulation of proliferation and differentiation of human fetal pancreatic islet cells by extracellular matrix, hepatocyte growth factor, and cell-cell contact. *Diabetes* 45:1223-1228, 1996
- 27. Kerr-Conte, J, Pattou, F, Lecomte-Houcke, M, Xia, Y, Boilly, B, Proye, C,
 Lefebvre, J: Ductal cyst formation in collagen-embedded adult human islet
 preparations. A means to the reproduction of nesidioblastosis in vitro. *Diabetes* 45:1108-1114, 1996

- Fritschy,WM, Van Straaten,JF, De Vos,P, Strubbe,JH, Wolters,GH, Van Schilfgaarde,R: The efficacy of intraperitoneal pancreatic islet isografts in the reversal of diabetes in rats. *Transplantation* 52:777-783, 1991
- 29. De Vos,P, Hillebrands,JL, De Haan,BJ, Strubbe,JH, Van Schilfgaarde,R: Efficacy of a prevascularized expanded polytetrafluoroethylene solid support system as a transplantation site for pancreatic islets. *Transplantation* 63:824-830, 1997
- 30. King,A, Sandler,S, Andersson,A, Hellerstrom,C, Kulseng,B, Skjak-Braek,G:
 Glucose metabolism in vitro of cultured and transplanted mouse pancreatic islets
 microencapsulated by means of a high-voltage electrostatic field. *Diabetes Care*22 Suppl 2:B121-B126, 1999
- Orlowski, T, Godlewska, E, Moscicka, M, Sitarek, E: The influence of intraperitoneal transplantation of free and encapsulated Langerhans islets on the second set phenomenon. *Artif.Organs* 27:1062-1067, 2003
- 32. Del Guerra,S, Bracci,C, Nilsson,K, Belcourt,A, Kessler,L, Lupi,R, Marselli,L, De Vos,P, Marchetti,P: Entrapment of dispersed pancreatic islet cells in CultiSpher-S macroporous gelatin microcarriers: Preparation, in vitro characterization, and microencapsulation. *Biotechnol Bioeng*. 75:741-744, 2001
- Davalli,AM, Scaglia,L, Zangen,DH, Hollister,J, Bonner-Weir,S, Weir,GC: Vulnerability of islets in the immediate post-transplantation period. Dynamic changes in structure and function. *Diabetes* 45:1161-1167, 1996
- Omer,A, Duvivier-Kali,VF, Trivedi,N, Wilmot,K, Bonner-Weir,S, Weir,GC:
 Survival and maturation of microencapsulated porcine neonatal pancreatic cell

clusters transplanted into immunocompetent diabetic mice. *Diabetes* 52:69-75, 2003

- Martinsen, A, Skjak-Baek, G, Smidsrod, O: Alginate as Immobilization Material: I. Correlation between Chemical and Physical Properties of Alginate. *Biotechnol Bioeng.* 33:79-89, 1989
- 36. Strand, BL, Morch, YA, Syvertsen, KR, Espevik, T, Skjak-Braek, G: Microcapsules made by enzymatically tailored alginate. *J.Biomed.Mater.Res.* 64A:540-550, 2003
- 37. Wu,G, Korsgren,O, Zhang,J, Song,Z, Van Rooijen,N, Tibell,A: Pig islet xenograft rejection is markedly delayed in macrophage-depleted mice: a study in streptozotocin diabetic animals. *Xenotransplantation* 7:214-220, 2000

CHAPTER 3

ALGINATE MODIFICATION IMPROVES LONG TERM SURVIVAL AND FUNCTION OF TRANSPLANTED ENCAPSULATED ISLETS

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Clinical pancreatic islet transplantation has been reported to normalize blood glucose and lead to insulin independence in patients receiving this therapy (1;2). Despite its successes, however, it has been recently reported that only about 10% of these patients remain insulin independent for five years, and that much still needs to be done to maintain islet function and reduce the toxic immunosuppression currently used to prevent graft rejection (3). In an attempt to alleviate the need for systemic immunosuppression, microencapsulation has been examined for its potential to isolate and protect islets from host immunity, and to provide a microenvironment mimicking that of the native pancreas (4-6). This technology has been fraught with varying and inconsistent results over the years, largely due to the great variability in the alginate used by the different groups (7;8). Alginate microcapsules may vary in size (9), composition (proportion of mannuronate (M) and guluronate (G) blocks) (10;11), or purity (presence of endotoxins, proteins, polyphenols) (7;12-14). Furthermore, there are differences in the choice of cross-linking ions (usually calcium or barium), and of the presence or absence of additional coating layers such as poly-L-lysine (PLL) (15;16). These factors and others

lead to varying degrees of success or failure of the encapsulated islets. For example, the capsular material may in some way be toxic to the contained islets. Some have observed overgrowth of the capsules, primarily by macrophages (17), which may again be the result of the alginate or of antigens shed by the islets within. Whatever the case may be, it is critical that these factors be identified to develop a better alginate and a better capsule for use in the research arena and in the clinic.

The goal of this study was to develop a method to purify commercially available alginate for use in islet transplantation. Furthermore, we wanted to observe and compare islets encapsulated in our pre- and post-purification alginates on their ability to normalize blood glucose and protect these grafts from rejection. Finally, we hoped that observation and analysis of grafts recovered from our recipients at various time points might give us a better understanding of the mechanisms involved in graft failure and give us some idea of how purification might provide us with alginate more suitable for use in a clinical setting.

3.2 RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS

3.2.1 Animals

Male BALB/c mice aged 6-10 weeks (HSLAS, Edmonton, AB) were used as both donors and recipients for transplantation. Diabetes was induced by intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of streptozotocin (STZ; 275mg/kg body weight, freshly dissolved in acetate buffer, pH4.5; Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) two days prior to transplantation. Diabetes was confirmed by the presence of hyperglycemia (18.0mmol/L). Blood was obtained from a snipped tail and blood glucose levels were monitored with a portable glucose meter (One Touch Ultra, Johnson & Johnson, Milpitas, CA). The animals were kept under conventional conditions in climatized rooms with free access to tap water and standard pelleted food in accordance with the recommendations of the Canadian Council on Animal Care.

3.2.2 Islet isolation

Islets were isolated from male BALB/c mice aged 6-10 weeks (18). Mice were put down with halothane then anaesthetized with 0.4mL of 1 2,2,2-tribromoethanol (10mg/ml; Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO). Each mouse was laid in its back, had its belly soaked with 70% ethanol, and had a full length midline incision cut from the groin to past the breastbone with a small scissors and toothed forceps. The skin was cut first, following which the abdomen was opened by cutting through the muscle layer. The mouse was immobilized on a mouse board with skin anchors. Using a 3mL syringe, 2.5mL collagenase solution (1mg/mL; Sigma) was drawn up. A 27G needle was attached to the syringe, following which the needle was bent to a 45° angle, bevel inside. A hemostat was attached to the common bile duct at its point of attachment to the small intestine. The lobes of the liver were swept back to expose the bifurcation in the common bile duct, at which point we cannulated the bile duct with the syringe and needle to slowly inject all of the collagenase solution. After removing the syringe and needle, the heart was clipped, the pancreas was carefully excised away from all of the connective tissue and the perfused pancreas was dropped into a tube of 30mL Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) on ice. This was repeated for each of the animals, with all of the pancreases collected into one of two tubes of 30mL HBSS on ice (in staggered order into each tube).

The harvested pancreases were then removed from the HBSS in exchange for tubes of collagenase solution (1mg/mL). These tubes were then capped and placed in a shaking water bath for approximately 13 minutes (digestion times may vary, however, between 9 to 14 minutes). Next, the tubes were removed from the bath, given a brief hand-shake and topped up with cold HBSS to stop the digestion. The tubes were centrifuged at 1500rpm for 30 seconds. The supernatant was aspirated, and the pellet resuspended in 15mL HBSS and vortexed. The resuspended tissue was poured through a filter funnel (nylon monofilament screening fabric, 500 micron mesh opening, Sefar Canada Inc., Scarborough, ON) into a 50mL tube. The digestion tubes were rinsed with HBSS and the rinse also was poured through the filter funnel into the collection tube. The filter was rinsed finally using 10mL of HBSS in a 10mL syringe with a 23G needle to wash any other islets into the collection tube. The collected islets were separated into tubes with approximately 2.5 pancreases per tube. The tubes were then topped up with cold HBSS, capped and centrifuged at 1500rpm for 30 seconds. The tubes were again aspirated down to the pellet, followed by the addition of 10mL of 25% Ficoll (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) to each of the tubes. The tubes were capped and vortexed to suspend all of the tissue. Then, using a 10mL pipette, 6mL of each of 23.5%, 21.5% and 11.5% Ficoll were layered on top one another to form a discontinuous gradient. The tubes were centrifuged at 2000rpm for 10 minutes (brake off) and the islets picked off of the first gradient interface using the same 14G stainless steel cannula for each tube. Islets were collected into clean tubes containing 20mL HBSS (half as many tubes as used to do Ficoll gradients) and centrifuged at 2000rpm for 1 minute. The tubes were aspirated and washed a second time in HBSS, following which a second gradient was done, this time

centrifuged for 2000 rmp for 2 minutes (brake off). Using the same cannula as before, the islets were again picked off of the first interface and placed in the last wash tubes for two washes as before. Following the final wash, the supernatant was aspirated and the pellet resuspended in 10mL M199 (Gibco BRL, Life Technologies, Burlington, ON) and poured into a Petri dish. The tube was rinsed with M199 and added to the Petri dish. Using a Pasteur pipette connected to the hand pipettor, all of the islets were picked out and transferred to another dish and cultured in Ham's F-10 culture media (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO).

3.2.3 Alginate Purification

The purification process began with bleaching 4% w/v activated charcoal (JT Baker, Phillipsburg, NJ) in 0.1M sodium perchlorate (Fisher Scientific, Fair Lawn, NJ) for 30 minutes, followed with 2 washes in distilled water and 2 washes in 95% ethanol. The charcoal was allowed to dry overnight. Alginate powder (Pronova UP-MVG, Pronova Biomedical, Oslo, Norway; batch 1 (Pronova 701-256-08) and batch 2 (Pronova FP-301-02) was purified by first dissolving in distilled deionized water (10g/L). Bleached activated charcoal (20g/L) was added and the mixture stirred for 3 hours. Removal of the charcoal through a succession of filters of decreasing porosity from 1.2 microns, to 0.45 microns, to 0.22 microns and down to 0.10 microns. The solution was brought to neutral pH, following which we added magnesium chloride (20g/L) and stirred for 30 minutes. Next a 1.7% calcium chloride solution (26mL/L) was added, stirring for another 30 minutes. The precipitated alginate was recovered then re-dissolved in 0.1M EDTA + 10mM Hepes buffer (pH 7) at a concentration 75mL per gram of original alginate dissolved. Once dissolved, 0.125g NaCl per gram of alginate and stirred for 30 minutes. This solution was then run at 3,000 x g using 8,000 NMWL Centricon Plus-80 ultrafiltration tubes (Millipore Corporation, Bedford MA), discarding the distillate. Then, 60% ethanol was added to this final solution, allowed it to settle refrigerated at 4°C for 3 hours. The mixture was centrifuged at 2000rpm at 4°C for 10 minutes to pellet the alginate. The supernatant was removed and the process was repeated 5 times more with increasing concentrations of ethanol (60%, 80% x 2, and 100% x 3), each time at 4°C. To dry the final precipitate, alginate was spread in a Buchner funnel set-up in a hood heated to 35°C, allowing the alginate to dry overnight. Alginate was then prepared as a 1.5%w/w solution (pH 7) in HBSS without magnesium or calcium (Gibco) filtered through a Gelman "Serum Acrodisc" (Pall Life Sciences, Ann Arbor, MI) 37mm syringe filter (0.2 micron) and stored at 4°C for later use. Two batches of alginate were purified from batches of Pronova UP-MVG to ensure reproducibility of the modification process, though only alginate from the first batch has been used for the islet encapsulation and transplantation studies in this experiment.

3.2.4 Analysis and composition of alginates

Purified and non-purified batches of alginate were sent to Dr. Berit Strand (Department of Biotechnology, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway) for analysis. The composition of original and purified alginates was determined by measuring the presence of mannuronic (M) and guluronic (G) acid as analyzed by ¹H-NMR (nuclear magnetic resonance) spectroscopy (300 MHz, Bruker DPX), with fractions of dimers and trimers calculated(19). Average molecular weights of the alginates were measured by size exclusion chromatography–multi-angle laser light

scattering (SEC-MALLS). Endotoxin levels in the samples were measured using a *Limulus amebocyte* lysate assay (Chromogenix AB, Mölndal, Sweden).

3.2.5 Islet encapsulation

With hood temperature set to 30°C and solutions at room temperature, we begun the encapsulation process by washing islets (~10,000 IE per encapsulation) several times with calcium and magnesium free HBSS, centrifuging at 1500rpm for 1 minute between washings. Following the final wash, the tissue was centrifuge and the supernatant aspirated. The tissue was then resuspended into 0.45mL of HBSS (no Ca⁺⁺, Mg⁺⁺), to which we added 0.45mL of the 1.5% alginate solution (either Pronova UP-MVG or our purified alginate, both batch 1) and lightly mix until homogeneous. The alginate cell suspension mixture was then run through an electrostatic pump generator (designed by Metabolex, Hayward CA) across a voltage potential into a 120mM calcium chloride solution causing gelling of the formed alginate beads 400-500µm in diameter. These beads were washed several times with HBSS (no Ca⁺⁺, Mg⁺⁺), then twice more with Hams F-10 culture media before plating in Hams F-10 culture media and incubating at 37°C.

3.2.6 Transplantation of islets

Following 24 hours culture at 37°C in Hams F-10 culture media, encapsulated islets were washed twice in HBSS, then suspended in Hams F-10. Prior to implantation, in order to standardize the mass of mouse islets transplanted in each recipient, representative aliquots of each preparation were counted and sized to determine total islet equivalents (IE). Graft mass varied between 900 to 1200 mouse islet equivalents. Encapsulated

islets were then implanted into the peritoneal cavity with an 18 gauge cannula via a small incision in the *linea alba*. The incision was closed using MikRon Autoclip stainless steel wound clips (9mm; Becton Dickson, Sparks, MD).

3.2.7 Follow-up and oral glucose tolerance test

Mice were monitored for blood glucose levels between 8:00 and 11:00 a.m. When the blood glucose level was \leq 8.7 mmol/l the graft was deemed a success. At 105 days posttransplantation, an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) was performed on recipients with normalized basal glycemia and in normal controls. After a 2-h fast, D-glucose (3 mg/g body weight) was administered as a 50% solution by oral gavage into non-anesthetized mice. Blood samples were obtained from the tail vein at 0, 15, 30, 60, and 120 min. Total area under the curve (AUC) for glucose clearance was calculated with the trapezoidal rule method for the purposes of comparison of OGTT curves.

3.2.8 Graft removal and histology (Microcapsule explantation)

At various time points (i.e., >100 days posttransplantation) capsules were recovered by an intraperitoneal lavage with phosphate buffered saline containing 120 mmol/L CaCl₂. From the recovered grafts, a small sample was taken and stained with dithizone (Sigma) for observation. Islets were observed for the presence or absence of necrosis and for general observation of the tissue. Capsules were observed for shape, size and for the presence or absence of breakage and/or fibrotic overgrowth. To confirm the efficacy of the encapsulated islets at correcting diabetes, the pancreas of each recipient was assayed for insulin content as previously described.

3.2.9 Assessment of insulin secretion by static incubation

Of the remaining recovered capsules, we assessed the insulin secretory responsiveness of the encapsulated islets during a 2 h static incubation at 37°C. The recovered encapsulated islets were washed twice in HBSS, then once in Hams F-10 culture media. The tissue was separated into two samples, each sample incubated in 1.5mL Hams F-10 supplemented with 2 mmol/L L-glutamine, 0.5% BSA and either 2.8 mmol/L glucose or 20 mmol/L glucose. Following the 2 hour incubation at 37°C the supernatant was collected and evaluated for insulin content by radioimmunoassay (RIA) by the special investigations laboratory at the University of Alberta Hospital. The tissue was collected, washed twice for 10 minutes at 37°C with dissociation media to dissolve the capsules, following which the tissue was also assayed for total insulin content. The insulin content of the medium was expressed as a percentage of the total content (i.e., tissue plus medium). Stimulation indices were calculated by dividing the amount of insulin release at 20 mmol/l glucose by that released at 2.8 mmol/l glucose.

3.2.10 Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as means \pm SEM of *n* independent observances. Statistical significance of differences was calculated with a two-tailed unpaired Student's *t* test or one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) in the event of multiple comparisons. Findings were deemed significant at a *p* value of less than 0.05.

3.3 RESULTS

3.3.1 Alginate purification

Analysis of the two alginate samples by SEC-MALLS demonstrated a reduction in the average molecular weight of the first batch of alginate from 241kDa to 218kDa and the second batch from 242kDa to 220kDa with purification (Table 3-1). Endotoxin levels, as measured by an LAL test, were basically unchanged (Table 3-1). The purification process led to an apparent shift in the composition of the alginate, with the proportion of guluronic acid (F_G) in the alginate as measured by ¹H-NMR spectroscopy increasing with both batches compared with non-purified products (Table 3-1). Similarly, the fraction of guluronate dimers (F_{GG}) and trimers (F_{GGG}) increased with in both instances. Overall, the process led to an increase in the average length of guluronic acid blocks from 12 to 15 with the first batch and 14 to 21 with the second batch. The fraction of mannuronic acid

Table 3-1. Chemical composition and sequence of alginates

Batch	Sample	FG	F _M	F _{GG}	F _{MG} /F _{GM}	F _{MM}	F _{MGG} /F _{GGM}	F _{MGM}	F _{GGG}	N _{G>1}	MW	Endotoxin (IU/ml)
1	Non-purified	0.68	0.32	0.57	0.11	0.21	0.05	0.077	0.52	12	240900	0.24
	Purified	0.75	0.25	0.65	0.094	0.16	0.045	0.065	0.61	15	217700	0.25
2	Non-purified	0.68	0.32	0.57	0.11	0.20	0.043	0.081	0.53	14	242000	0.14
	Purified	0.78	0.22	0.70	0.08	0.14	0.035	0.053	0.67	21	219500	0.15

 F_G and F_M , fraction of alginate consisting of guluronic and mannuronic acid, respectively. F_{GG} and F_{GGG} , fraction of alginate consisting of guluronic acid in blocks of dimers and trimers, respectively. F_{MM} , the fraction of alginate consisting of mannuronic acid dimers. F_{MG}/F_{GM} , fraction of alginate consisting of mixed sequences of guluronic and mannuronic acid. F_{GGM}/F_{MGG} , fraction of alginate which starts or ends with a block of guluronic acid. F_{MGM} , fraction of alginate consisting of two mannuronic acids interspaced with a guluronic acid. $N_{G>1}$, average length of guluronic acid blocks. MW, molecular weight. (F_M) in the alginate conversely decreased with the purification process, along with the proportion of all other blocks analyzed that contained mannuronate.

3.3.2 Transplantation of encapsulated islets

Islets were cultured for one day following isolation, encapsulated, then cultured for one day further. Islets were then transplanted into the peritoneal cavity of diabetic BALB/c recipients. Blood glucose concentrations in the transplanted animals returned to normal levels within 24 hours following transplantation. Animals were followed over time and removed from study when they exhibited two successive blood glucose readings greater than 17mmol/l. When these animals were followed over time, 90% of mice transplanted with the purified alginate showed graft survival greater than 100 days, with a mean survival time of 139 days (Table 3-2). This is compared to a survival rate of 69% and a mean survival times of 118 days among animals transplanted with non-purified alginate.

Alginate	n	Days of Euglycemia (MST±SE)	% Survival (>100d)
Non-purified	39	$21x2^{\dagger}, 42x6^{\dagger}, 63^{\dagger}, 63^{\ddagger}, 84^{\dagger}, 84^{\ddagger}, 105x10^{*}, 105^{\dagger}, 126^{\dagger}, 133^{\ddagger}, 154^{\dagger}, 161^{\ddagger}, 175x2^{*}, 182^{*}, 182x2^{\dagger}, 189x3^{*}, 196x2^{*}, 217^{*}, 231^{*}$ (118 ± 10)	69.23
Purified	42	$14^{\ddagger}, 20^{\$}, 42^{\ddagger}, 63^{\dagger}, 105x9^{\ast}, 119^{\ast}, 126^{\ddagger}, 133x2^{\dagger}, 149x3^{\dagger}, 155x10^{\ast}, 175x2^{\ast}, 182^{\ast}, 185^{\ddagger}, 189x2^{\ast}, 189^{\dagger}, 191x2^{\ast}, 210^{\ast}, 231x2^{\ast}(140 \pm 8)^{\ast\ast}$	90.48**

Table 3-2. Effect of alginate purification on the transplant survival of syngeneic BALB/c islets

Euglycemia was defined as blood glucose values $\leq 8.7 \text{ mmol/l.}$ MST, mean standard time. *Euthanized while normal. [†]Euthanized while hyperglycemic. [‡]Died while normal. [§]Died while hyperglycemic. **p<0.05 vs. non-purified alginate

There were animals in each group that were euthanized while still normoglycemic. When we plotted our data to observe the metabolic state of our animals over time, we observed that that the average blood glucose concentration of mice receiving islets encapsulated in purified alginate was significantly lower than that of mice receiving non-purified alginate capsules (Figure 3-1). Furthermore, blood glucose values of mice receiving islets encapsulated in purified alginate were not significantly different than control values.



Figure 3-1. In vivo function of non-purified alginate encapsulated (\circ) or purified alginate encapsulated (\bullet) BALB/c mouse islets transplanted into diabetic BALB/c mice, or controls (\Box). Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (p<0.05). *p<0.5 vs. non-purified alginate.

3.3.3 Oral glucose tolerance test

An OGTT was performed on normoglycemic transplant recipients at approximately 105 days following transplantation (Figure 3-2). Animals transplanted with non-purified alginate encapsulated islets demonstrated significantly higher blood glucose concentrations throughout the OGTT than those receiving purified alginate. Furthermore, the AUC for the OGTT of recipients of non-purified alginate encapsulated islets was 1994.3±56.1min·mmol/l, significantly higher than the AUC of 1363.5±52.3min·mmol/l for those getting purified alginate (p<0.05).



Figure 3-2. Oral glucose tolerance tests. Blood glucose profile for BALB/c mice with syngeneic transplants of i.p. non-purified alginate encapsulated islets (\circ), i.p. purified alginate encapsulated islets (\bullet), or controls (\Box) after 105 days. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (p<0.05). *p<0.2 vs. non-purified alginate.

3.3.4 Recovery of microcapsules

Capsules were recovered at various time points greater than 100 days, at which time conditions were observed internally for graft recipients. Among mice receiving islets encapsulated in non-purified alginate, 12 of 27 (44.4%) animals showed signs of severe liver swelling, compared with 2 of 19 (10.5%) animals receiving islets in purified alginate (Table 3-3). When we observed the condition of capsules following recovery, animals transplanted with non-purified alginate encapsulated islets exhibited cellular overgrowth of the capsule in 20 of 27 cases (74.1%). Such cellular overgrowth was only evident in 3 of 19 cases (15.7%) when purified alginate was used (Table 3-3). Furthermore, when a sample was taken of non-purified alginate microcapsules which were overgrown, these capsules contained islets which were dark and which stained poorly with dithizone (Figure 3-3A). On the other hand, samples of non-overgrown, purified alginate microcapsules contained islets that were healthy looking and stained well with dithizone (Figure 3-3B).

 Table 3-3. Effect of alginate purification on post-transplant recovery conditions and insulin secretory activity

		Conditions on Islet Recovery Insulin secretory acti				vity		
Condition n		Hepatic swelling (%)	Capsular overgrowth (%)	2.8 mmol/l glucose (%)	20 mmol/l glucose (%)	Stimulation indices High: low (%/%)		
Non- purified	27	44.4	74.1	1.4 ± 0.2	5.2 ± 2.8	2.9 ± 1.1		
Purified	19	10.5*	15.7†	1.1 ± 0.2	11.6 ± 3.5	$7.9 \pm 3.5^*$		

Data expressed as percentages or as means \pm SE. *p<0.05, †p<0.001 vs. islets in non-purified alginate capsules.

3.3.5 Assessment of insulin secretion

Recovered capsules from each mouse were divided into two groups and cultured for 2 hours in the presence of either low or high glucose, assayed, and expressed as a percentage of the total insulin content. Encapsulated islets cultured in the presence of 2.8mmol/l glucose showed insulin release values of 1.4% and 1.1% from non-purified and purified alginate capsules, respectively (Table 3-3). On the other hand, when cultured in the presence of 20mmol/l glucose, insulin release values from encapsulated islets were 5.2% and 11.6% from non-purified and purified alginate capsules, respectively. As a result, non-purified alginate encapsulated islets demonstrated an



Figure 3-3. Representative light micrographs of dithizone-stained BALB/c islets encapsulated in nonpurified alginate (A) or purified alginate (B) following implantation into and recovery from the peritoneal cavity of BALB/c mice. In the absence of alginate purification, transplanted islets demonstrated the presence of cellular overgrowth, and islets while staining peripherally for dithizone were often dark and necrotic in the center of the islet. Islets transplanted in purified alginate looked healthy and stained well with dithizone.
average stimulation index of 2.9 ± 1.1 , while purified alginate encapsulated islets showed a value of 7.9 ± 3.5 (Table 3-3).

3.4 DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to determine whether purification of commercially available alginate would lead to an improvement in survival and function of encapsulated syngeneic islets transplanted into an immune competent mouse model. We have shown previously that encapsulation of islets leads to improved survival and metabolic function in long term tissue culture compared to non-encapsulated islets, and that these islets demonstrate outstanding function when transplanted into an immune-deficient recipient (20). With acceptable biocompatibility of the capsules in an immune compromised recipient, progression to an immune competent recipient was the next step, not only to assess the capsules for biocompatibility but also for their level of immune protection (21). Specifically, we wanted to analyze the transplantation of encapsulated islets into syngeneic recipients that we might study the effect of the host immunity on the capsule itself. Preliminary work has led us to believe that the commercially available sources of alginate were not ideal. This led our efforts to an exploration of methods to purify, alter or optimize the alginate for improved islet survival and function following transplantation. Other groups have similarly studied the effects of altering commercially available alginate through enzymatic modification (22) or purification (12;23) with varying results.

Alginate purification in our study led to some interesting observations. To begin with, we expected that ultra-filtration against an 8,000NMWL membrane and subsequent

removal of very short-chain alginate molecules would lead to an overall increase in the average molecular weight of the final alginate product. Such was not the case. The resultant decrease in the molecular weight of the purified alginate may have been due to degradation of large chains into smaller ones (24), or to selection for shorter versus longer chains at some other point of the purification. More likely, however, is that longer chains became trapped in and were not adequately recovered from the Centricon ultrafiltration devices. Although the literature seems to indicate that an alginate of a reduced average molecular size leads to a decrease in stability (25), our change was relatively small, and led to no apparent loss of stability in the purified capsules. Additionally, it has been recently proposed that removal of monomers and small oligomers of mannuronic and guluronic acid may be beneficial, in that their release from transplanted capsules in vivo may contribute to the immunogenicity of the capsule (26). Furthermore, we were initially surprised to see that endotoxin levels remained unchanged through the purification process, however this should not be surprising considering that endotoxin concentrations in commercially available purified alginates are already low (our blank control demonstrated a value of 0.18 IU/ml) and certainly under acceptable limits (13). Nonetheless, on the point of endotoxins it can be observed that the later second batch alginate demonstrated notably lower levels than the first batch, demonstrating the progress made by industry in reducing these levels.

The result perhaps most interesting regarding the alginate purification was the notable increase in the relative guluronic acid (G) content of the post-purification versus prepurification alginate. It has been well documented that alginates of a higher the G-block concentration demonstrate greater stability (25). This is significant as the increase in

stability reflects a decrease in the likelihood of capsule breakage (27) resulting in a reduced incidence of direct exposure of our cells to the immune system. Furthermore, there have been proposed benefits to reducing the M-content of alginate capsules, particularly with regards to reducing the immunogenicity of the capsules (28;29). There have been varying opinions over the years as to the preferences of researchers for alginates that are classed as either G-rich (higher stability, lower porosity) or M-rich (lower stability, higher porosity). Klöck et al. indicate that the results of comparisons between alginates are more the result of the processes used to purify the alginate (30), thus making objective comparison between batches of alginate difficult. Whereas our results seem to indicate that improved graft function and longevity of survival were the result of the increased G-content of our purified alginate, it is certainly possible that our improved findings with purification are the result of the removal of other elements such as proteins or polyphenols (14;31) for which we have not tested.

Transplantation of islets into our recipients showed near immediate restoration of normal blood glucose values, irrespective of whether the islets were encapsulated in purified or non-purified alginate. Whereas blood glucose values were quite similar for the first week following transplantation, differences between the groups became pronounced and significant from 2 weeks post-transplant and followed consistently through to the end of the study. This data was strengthened by our large sample sizes (n=39 non-purified alginate capsule recipients; n=42 purified alginate capsule recipients). Furthermore, our OGTTs in mice transplanted with purified alginate capsules showed blood glucose values comparable to control animals at points from 60 to 120 minutes. The lag in response at 0, 15 and 30 minutes can easily be explained by the fact that the encapsulated islets never

develop direct vascular support, meaning that glucose must first diffuse through the capsule and into the center of the islets where the β -cells are located, and that insulin then must be released from the capsule and absorbed through the peritoneum, leading to lag (32;33). Mice transplanted with non-purified alginate were significantly higher at all points throughout the OGTT. Whereas all of these results could be explained by toxic or other effects of the alginate itself on the islets contained within the microcapsule, it is more likely that the effect is the result of immune or other forces external to the capsule leading to a loss of viable islet cells within the capsule. This is supported by observation of our explanted microcapsules. Mice receiving islets encapsulated in non-purified alginate showed a 4.4 times greater incidence of cellular overgrowth on the capsules on recovery than mice receiving purified alginate. We have observed and it has been shown by others that the cells adhering to the surface of the microcapsules are predominantly macrophages (17;34-36). We suspect these macrophages to be the predominant cause of the reduced function of the grafts in these recipients by way of a number of possible effects. For example, nutrient or oxygen deficiency within the capsule has been proposed as a potential reason for graft failure with even non-overgrown islets in immune compromised animals (9;37). As we are using a simple, open-pore capsule of a relatively small size (450µm diameter), we doubt capsule properties alone to be the lone contributing factor of these potential deficiencies, however given the 'coating' of highly metabolically active macrophages on the surface, it is entirely reasonable that the accumulation of macrophages lead to a relative deficiency of oxygen & nutrients in the local microenvironment. Furthermore, overgrowth cells would lead to the local increase in metabolically active waste products of both the macrophages and the islets. Further

support for this is derived through simple observation of the overgrown islets (Figure 3-3A) which stained poorly with dithizone and were dark and necrotic, particularly in the core of the islet, an indicator for nutrient deficiency (38). The presence of central necrosis in these mice would especially lead to a loss of beta cells, given that beta cells in mice seem to reside in the core of the islet (39). Potentially, this could be less problematic with human islets where the beta cells are dispersed throughout the islet. Islet failure may also occur in a more specific manner. Macrophages overgrown on the surface of the capsule may release damaging cytokines, nitric oxide, or reactive oxygen species causing the death and/or reduced function of the contained islets. Given the simple, open-pore nature of our capsule, these substances, along with any products of necrosis could pass freely back and forth across the capsule (40-42). We would expect that this reaction would be primarily mediated via innate immunity as our islets were not transplanted across strain or species but were syngeneic. The question then arises as to the insult causing such a reaction. More than likely, such a reaction is due to more than one factor, some of which may include: the biocompatibility of the alginate, the streptozotocin used to induce diabetes, friction or mechanical forces between the capsule and the liver and peritoneum, or of the surgical procedure with subsequent scaring and inflammation. It is interesting to note that in studies with empty capsules of both purified and non-purified alginate, no capsules of either alginate transplanted and recovered at 1 or 3 weeks (n=10 in each group at each time) showed any signs of overgrowth or immune reactivity. This indicates that the alginate itself is not the sole immunogen, and that the presences of the islets, streptozotocin, or other factors are necessary for full immune reactivity. Furthermore, some of the non-specific causes of islet failure and necrosis

could potentially lead to the release of antigens provoking an inflammatory response. It was interesting to note that the predominant organ affected in transplant recipients was the liver, which in some of the animals (44.4% of those receiving non-purified alginate encapsulated islets capsules and 11.1% of animals getting purified alginate) would lose its flat, lobular appearance and swell up to resemble a more spherical mass. In these instances, the capsules were often found clustered around the liver. This did not occur in every case, though it occurred with a 4 fold greater frequency in recipients of non-purified versus purified capsules. Combine this with the more than 4 fold greater frequency of overgrowth in non-purified versus purified capsules, we would suspect that the composition of the alginate is a predominant element in this equation.

When we compared the insulin responsiveness of encapsulated islets recovered from animals receiving purified versus non-purified alginate, results were similar to those of the *in vivo*. Whereas insulin release in the presence of low glucose was similar for both purified and non-purified alginate encapsulated islets, culture of purified capsules in a high glucose media yielded more than twice the insulin release of islets in non-purified capsules. Similarly to what was previously observed, reduced insulin responsiveness here can be explained by the loss of functional beta cells over time.

Our findings indicate that alginate purification leads to significantly improved survival and function in encapsulated islets transplanted into immune competent syngeneic recipients. Nevertheless, much work yet needs to be done. Graft failure, whether by non-specific causes (43), by microcapsule material elicitation of a damaging inflammatory response (44), or other factors, needs to be further analyzed in order to have a model suitable for human transplantation. Macrophage overgrowth is, by our

estimation, the greatest single factor leading to the failure of our transplants. Along this line of thinking, encapsulation along with macrophage depletion has been reviewed as a possible solution (17), though the effect of this treatment on the long-term survival of these islets *in vivo* is uncertain. Whether this macrophage mediated failure is the result of nutrient deprivation or specific factors leading to the death of islet cells, or both, is as yet not entirely clear. What is certain is the need to provide continued protection to the islets, particularly as we move toward effective protection in allogeneic and xenogeneic models. This is especially important in light of the fact that macrophages are extremely effective antigen presenting cells, and could potentially take-up and present shed antigens from the capsule and subsequently activate an even more vigorous innate response (45). Such a heightened innate response further may act as an adjuvant to a more problematical T-cell mediated adaptive response. In any case, it is unlikely that encapsulation will provide the entire solution to the problem of graft failure in the absence of immune suppression. Rather, it is more probable that this technology will be one part of a more complex solution.

3.5 REFERENCES

- Shapiro,AM, Lakey,JR, Ryan,EA, Korbutt,GS, Toth,E, Warnock,GL, Kneteman,NM, Rajotte,RV: Islet transplantation in seven patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen. *N Engl J Med* 343:230-238, 2000
- 2. Ryan, EA, Lakey, JR, Rajotte, RV, Korbutt, GS, Kin, T, Imes, S, Rabinovitch, A, Elliott, JF, Bigam, D, Kneteman, NM, Warnock, GL, Larsen, I, Shapiro, AM:

Clinical outcomes and insulin secretion after islet transplantation with the Edmonton protocol. *Diabetes* 50:710-719, 2001

- Ryan,EA, Paty,BW, Senior,PA, Bigam,D, Alfadhli,E, Kneteman,NM, Lakey,JR, Shapiro,AM: Five-year follow-up after clinical islet transplantation. *Diabetes* 54:2060-2069, 2005
- Lim,F, Sun,AM: Microencapsulated islets as bioartificial endocrine pancreas. Science 210:908-910, 1980
- Zimmermann,H, Zimmermann,D, Reuss,R, Feilen,PJ, Manz,B, Katsen,A, Weber,M, Ihmig,FR, Ehrhart,F, Gessner,P, Behringer,M, Steinbach,A, Wegner,LH, Sukhorukov,VL, Vasquez,JA, Schneider,S, Weber,MM, Volke,F, Wolf,R, Zimmermann,U: Towards a medically approved technology for alginatebased microcapsules allowing long-term immunoisolated transplantation. *J.Mater.Sci. Mater. Med.* 16:491-501, 2005
- Orive,G, Hernandez,RM, Gascon,AR, Calafiore,R, Chang,TM, De Vos,P, Hortelano,G, Hunkeler,D, Lacik,I, Shapiro,AM, Pedraz,JL: Cell encapsulation: promise and progress. *Nat.Med.* 9:104-107, 2003
- Dusseault, J, Tam, SK, Menard, M, Polizu, S, Jourdan, G, Yahia, L, Halle, JP: Evaluation of alginate purification methods: Effect on polyphenol, endotoxin, and protein contamination. *J.Biomed.Mater.Res.A* 76:243-251, 2006
- Orive,G, Hernandez,RM, Rodriguez,GA, Calafiore,R, Chang,TM, De Vos,P, Hortelano,G, Hunkeler,D, Lacik,I, Pedraz,JL: History, challenges and perspectives of cell microencapsulation. *Trends Biotechnol.* 22:87-92, 2004

- De Vos,P, De Haan,B, Pater,J, Van Schilfgaarde,R: Association between capsule diameter, adequacy of encapsulation, and survival of microencapsulated rat islet allografts. *Transplantation* 62:893-899, 1996
- King,A, Andersson,A, Strand,BL, Lau,J, Skjak-Braek,G, Sandler,S: The role of capsule composition and biologic responses in the function of transplanted microencapsulated islets of Langerhans. *Transplantation* 76:275-279, 2003
- King,A, Lau,J, Nordin,A, Sandler,S, Andersson,A: The effect of capsule composition in the reversal of hyperglycemia in diabetic mice transplanted with microencapsulated allogeneic islets. *Diabetes Technol Ther* 5:653-663, 2003
- Klock,G, Frank,H, Houben,R, Zekorn,T, Horcher,A, Siebers,U, Wohrle,M, Federlin,K, Zimmermann,U: Production of purified alginates suitable for use in immunoisolated transplantation. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 40:638-643, 1994
- Wandrey, C, Vidal, DS: Purification of polymeric biomaterials. Ann N Y Acad Sci 944:187-198, 2001
- Tam,SK, Dusseault,J, Polizu,S, Menard,M, Halle,JP, Yahia,L: Impact of residual contamination on the biofunctional properties of purified alginates used for cell encapsulation. *Biomaterials* 27:1296-1305, 2006
- Halle, JP, Bourassa, S, Leblond, FA, Chevalier, S, Beaudry, M, Chapdelaine, A, Cousineau, S, Saintonge, J, Yale, JF: Protection of islets of Langerhans from antibodies by microencapsulation with alginate-poly-L-lysine membranes. *Transplantation* 55:350-354, 1993

- Strand, BL, Ryan, TL, In't, VP, Kulseng, B, Rokstad, AM, Skjak-Brek, G, Espevik, T: Poly-L-Lysine induces fibrosis on alginate microcapsules via the induction of cytokines. *Cell Transplant* 10:263-275, 2001
- Omer,A, Keegan,M, Czismadia,E, De Vos,P, Van Rooijen,N, Bonner-Weir,S, Weir,GC: Macrophage depletion improves survival of porcine neonatal pancreatic cell clusters contained in alginate macrocapsules transplanted into rats. *Xenotransplantation*. 10:240-251, 2003
- Ohzato,H, Gotoh,M, Monden,M, Dono,K, Kanai,T, Mori,T: Improvement in islet yield from a cold-preserved pancreas by pancreatic ductal collagenase distention at the time of harvesting. *Transplantation* 51:566-570, 1991
- Grasdalen,H: High-field, 1H-n.m.r. spectroscopy of alginate: sequential structure and linkage conformations. *Carbohydrate Research* 118:255-260, 1983
- 20. Korbutt,GS, Mallett,AG, Ao,Z, Flashner,M, Rajotte,RV: Improved survival of microencapsulated islets during in vitro culture and enhanced metabolic function following transplantation. *Diabetologia* 2004
- 21. Gill,RG: Use of small animal models for screening immunoisolation approaches to cellular transplantation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 944:35-46, 2001
- 22. Strand, BL, Morch, YA, Syvertsen, KR, Espevik, T, Skjak-Braek, G: Microcapsules made by enzymatically tailored alginate. *J.Biomed.Mater.Res.* 64A:540-550, 2003
- 23. De Vos,P, De Haan,BJ, Wolters,GH, Strubbe,JH, Van Schilfgaarde,R: Improved biocompatibility but limited graft survival after purification of alginate for microencapsulation of pancreatic islets. *Diabetologia* 40:262-270, 1997

- 24. Prokop, A, Wang, TG: Purification of polymers used for fabrication of an immunoisolation barrier. *Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci.* 831:223-231, 1997
- Martinsen, A, Skjak-Baek, G, Smidsrod, O: Alginate as Immobilization Material: I. Correlation between Chemical and Physical Properties of Alginate. *Biotechnol Bioeng.* 33:79-89, 1989
- Schneider, S, Feilen, P, Cramer, H, Hillgartner, M, Brunnenmeier, F, Zimmermann, H, Weber, MM, Zimmermann, U: Beneficial effects of human serum albumin on stability and functionality of alginate microcapsules fabricated in different ways. *J. Microencapsul.* 20:627-636, 2003
- 27. Thu,B, Bruheim,P, Espevik,T, Smidsrod,O, Soon-Shiong,P, Skjak-Braek,G:
 Alginate polycation microcapsules. II. Some functional properties. *Biomaterials* 17:1069-1079, 1996
- Soon-Shiong,P, Otterlie,M, Skjak-Braek,G, Smidsrod,O, Heintz,R, Lanza,RP, Espevik,T: An immunologic basis for the fibrotic reaction to implanted microcapsules. *Transplant.Proc.* 23:758-759, 1991
- Soon-Shiong, P, Feldman, E, Nelson, R, Heintz, R, Yao, Q, Yao, Z, Zheng, T, Merideth, N, Skjak-Braek, G, Espevik, T, .: Long-term reversal of diabetes by the injection of immunoprotected islets. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 90:5843-5847, 1993
- Klock,G, Pfeffermann,A, Ryser,C, Grohn,P, Kuttler,B, Hahn,HJ, Zimmermann,U: Biocompatibility of mannuronic acid-rich alginates. *Biomaterials* 18:707-713, 1997

- Orive,G, Carcaboso,AM, Hernandez,RM, Gascon,AR, Pedraz,JL: Biocompatibility evaluation of different alginates and alginate-based microcapsules. *Biomacromolecules*. 6:927-931, 2005
- Fritschy,WM, Van Straaten,JF, De Vos,P, Strubbe,JH, Wolters,GH, Van Schilfgaarde,R: The efficacy of intraperitoneal pancreatic islet isografts in the reversal of diabetes in rats. *Transplantation* 52:777-783, 1991
- Kemp,CB, Knight,MJ, Scharp,DW, Ballinger,WF, Lacy,PE: Effect of transplantation site on the results of pancreatic islet isografts in diabetic rats. *Diabetologia* 9:486-491, 1973
- 34. Rokstad, AM, Kulseng, B, Strand, BL, Skjak-Braek, G, Espevik, T: Transplantation of alginate microcapsules with proliferating cells in mice: capsular overgrowth and survival of encapsulated cells of mice and human origin. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 944:216-225, 2001
- 35. De Vos,P, Smedema,I, Van Goor,H, Moes,H, Van Zanten,J, Netters,S, De Leij,LF, De Haan,A, De Haan,BJ: Association between macrophage activation and function of micro-encapsulated rat islets. *Diabetologia* 46:666-673, 2003
- 36. Kobayashi, T, Harb, G, Rayat, GR: Prolonged survival of microencapsulated neonatal porcine islets in mice treated with a combination of anti-CD154 and anti-LFA-1 monoclonal antibodies. *Transplantation* 80:821-827, 2005
- Colton,CK: Implantable biohybrid artificial organs. *Cell Transplant.* 4:415-436, 1995

- 38. De Vos,P, Van Straaten,JF, Nieuwenhuizen,AG, de Groot,M, Ploeg,RJ, De Haan,BJ, Van Schilfgaarde,R: Why do microencapsulated islet grafts fail in the absence of fibrotic overgrowth? *Diabetes* 48:1381-1388, 1999
- Brissova, M, Fowler, MJ, Nicholson, WE, Chu, A, Hirshberg, B, Harlan, DM, Powers, AC: Assessment of human pancreatic islet architecture and composition by laser scanning confocal microscopy. *J.Histochem. Cytochem.* 53:1087-1097, 2005
- Cole,DR, Waterfall,M, McIntyre,M, Baird,JD: Microencapsulated islet grafts in the BB/E rat: a possible role for cytokines in graft failure. *Diabetologia* 35:231-237, 1992
- 41. Kulseng, B, Thu, B, Espevik, T, Skjak-Braek, G: Alginate polylysine microcapsules as immune barrier: permeability of cytokines and immunoglobulins over the capsule membrane. *Cell Transplant.* 6:387-394, 1997
- 42. King, A, Andersson, A, Sandler, S: Cytokine-induced functional suppression of microencapsulated rat pancreatic islets in vitro. *Transplantation* 70:380-383, 2000
- Jones,KS, Sefton,MV, Gorczynski,RM: In vivo recognition by the host adaptive immune system of microencapsulated xenogeneic cells. *Transplantation* 78:1454-1462, 2004
- 44. De Vos,P, van Hoogmoed,CG, Van Zanten,J, Netter,S, Strubbe,JH, Busscher,HJ: Long-term biocompatibility, chemistry, and function of microencapsulated pancreatic islets. *Biomaterials* 24:305-312, 2003
- 45. Manna, PP, Steward, N, Lowell, J, Mohanakumar, T: Differentiation and functional maturation of human CD14(+) adherent peripheral blood monocytes by

xenogeneic endothelial cells: up-regulation of costimulation, cytokine generation, and toll-like receptors. *Transplantation* 74:243-252, 2002

CHAPTER 4

TRANSPLANTATION OF CO-ENCAPSULATED OF NEONATAL PORCINE SERTOLI CELLS WITH ISLETS REDUCES IMMUNE RESPONSE BUT DOES NOT PROLONG ISLET FUNCTION

4.1 INTRODUCTION

It has been estimated there to be approximately 171 million cases of diabetes worldwide as of the year 2000, with incidence of the disease steadily growing (1). Islet transplantation has been offered as a possible cure for individuals affected with the disease; however, the chronic shortage of cadaveric donor tissue and the need for chronic immunosuppression has prevented this therapy from widespread use among the population of diabetic patients at large (2-5). More recently, xenotransplantation, particularly the use of islets isolated from pigs, has been proposed as a possible solution to the islet supply problem (6), with promising results in both lower primates (7;8) and human recipients (9). Furthermore, encapsulation of islets provides a means of mimicking the microenvironment the pancreas (10) and has been proposed as part of a possible solution to the problem of immune rejection by alleviating or eliminating the need for chronic immune suppression through isolation of the islets from host immunity (11-13). Additionally, Sertoli cells have been extolled for their ability to secrete factors suspected of having localized immune tolerizing properties (14-19). Taken together, these principles may provide a means of making islet transplantation more readily accessible to the ever growing population of individuals with diabetes.

The purpose of this study was to examine the effects of transplanting coencapsulated neonatal porcine islets (NPI) with neonatal porcine Sertoli cells (NPSC). Specifically, we wanted to determine the ability of the Sertoli cells to act as 'nurse cells' promoting the maturation and function of the islets, and their ability to provide an *in vivo* microenvironment of immune privilege within and around the capsule in immune compromised and immune competent animals.

4.2 RESEARCH DESIGNS AND METHODS

4.2.1 Animals

Landrace-Yorkshire crossbreed pigs (Swine Research and Technology Centre, University of Alberta) were used as donors of both islets and Sertoli cells. Donor pancreases were obtained from 1- to 3-day-old neonatal pigs (1.5–2.0 kg body wt) of either sex. Donor testes were obtained from male 1- to 3-day-old neonatal pigs (1.5–2.0 kg body wt). Male BALB/c mice aged 6-10 weeks (HSLAS, Edmonton, AB) and C57BL/6-rag1^{tm1/mom} (B6 $rag1^{-/-}$, H2^b) (Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbor, ME, USA) were used as recipients for transplantation. Diabetes was induced by intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of streptozotocin (STZ; 275mg/kg body weight for BALB/c mice and 175mg/kg body weight for B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice, freshly dissolved in acetate buffer, pH4.5; Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) 2 to 7 days prior to transplantation. Diabetes was confirmed by the presence of hyperglycemia (>18.0mmol/L). Blood was obtained from a snipped tail and blood

glucose levels were monitored with a portable glucose meter (One Touch Ultra, Johnson & Johnson, Milpitas, CA). All animals were maintained under conventional conditions in accordance with the recommendations of the Canadian Council on Animal Care.

4.2.2 Isolation and preparation of islets

The method used to isolate NPI has been previously described (6). Briefly, neonatal pigs were anesthetized under halothane and subjected to laparotomy and exsanguination. The pancreas was removed, placed in Hanks' balanced salt solution (HBSS) supplemented with 0.25% BSA (Sigma, St. Louis, MO), cut into 1- to 2-mm pieces, and digested with 1.0 mg/ml collagenase (Type V, Sigma). After filtration through a 450 µm nylon screen, the tissue was cultured in Ham's F10 medium (Life Technologies, Burlington, ON, Canada) containing 10 mmol/l glucose, 50 µmol/l isobutylmethlxanthine, 0.5% BSA, 2 mmol/l L-glutamine, 10 mmol/l nicotinamide, 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 µg/ml streptomycin at 37°C for 6 days with media changes every 2 days. At this time plates were recombined, and recombined to two tubes, one for encapsulation and subsequent culture and transplantation, and the other for co-culture with Sertoli cells for 48 hours prior to co-encapsulation.

4.2.3 Encapsulation of neonatal porcine islets

Following culture, aliquots of approximately 10,000 neonatal porcine islet equivalents (IE) were washed and re-suspended in 0.50 ml of Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS) (Gibco) that was free of Ca++ and Mg++. They were then mixed with 0.50 ml of 1.5% (w/v) alginate purified in house as previously described (See Chapter 3) from Pronova UP-MVG alginate (high G alginate, batch #701-256-08; NovaMatrix, FMC Biopolymer, Drammen, Norway) dissolved in HBSS (without Ca++, Mg++) (pH 7.4). Alginate microcapsules (400–500 μ m in diameter) were formed using an electrostatic droplet generator (designed by Metabolex). Capsules were then cultured for 7 days in Hams F-10 media and 10% heat-inactivated neonatal porcine serum (NPS), supplemented as before.

4.2.4 Isolation and preparation of neonatal porcine Sertoli cells

Neonatal porcine Sertoli cells were isolated by collagenase and trypsin digestion as described previously (20). Sertoli cells were counted and cultured on non-tissue culture treated plastic Petri dishes (150x15mm, Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON, Canada) with neonatal porcine islets at a density ratio of 5x10⁶ Sertoli cells per 5,000 neonatal porcine IE per plate in supplemented Ham F10 and 10% heat-inactivated NPS. Islets and Sertoli cells were cultured 48 h at 37°C prior to encapsulation and subsequent transplantation.

4.2.5 Co-encapsulation of islets and Sertoli cells

Following culture, aliquots of approximately 10,000 neonatal porcine IE plus 10×10^6 Sertoli cells islets were washed and re-suspended in 0.50 ml of Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS) (Gibco) that was free of Ca++ and Mg++. They were then mixed with 0.50 ml of 1.5% (w/v) alginate purified in house as previously described (See Chapter 3) from Pronova UP-MVG alginate (high G alginate, batch #701-256-08; NovaMatrix, FMC Biopolymer, Drammen, Norway) dissolved in HBSS (without Ca++, Mg++) (pH 7.4). Alginate microcapsules (400–500 µm in diameter) were formed using an electrostatic droplet generator (designed by Metabolex). Capsules were then cultured for 7 days in supplemented Hams F-10 media and 10% heat-inactivated NPS as before.

4.2.6 Transplantation and metabolic follow-up

After 7 days of culture in Hams F-10 and 10% NPS, co-encapsulated NPI with NPSC were washed twice in HBSS and suspended in sterile saline with 12mmol/l CaCl₂. Prior to implantation, in order to standardize the volume of neonatal porcine islets transplanted in each recipient, representative aliquots of each preparation were counted and sized to determine total islet equivalents. Graft mass varied between 2500 to 10000 neonatal porcine islet equivalents with 2.5-10 x 10⁶ Sertoli cells, respectively. Furthermore, other BALB/c mice and B6 $rag 1^{-/-}$ mice were transplanted with encapsulated NPI alone. Capsules were then implanted into the peritoneal cavity with an 18 gauge cannula via a small incision in the *linea alba*. The incision was closed using MikRon Autoclip stainless steel wound clips (9mm; Becton Dickson, Sparks, MD). Mice were monitored over time for blood glucose levels between 8:00 and 11:00 a.m. When the blood glucose level was ≤ 8.7 mmol/l the graft was deemed a success.

4.2.7 Graft recovery

At various time points throughout the study, capsules were recovered by an intraperitoneal lavage with phosphate buffered saline containing 12 mmol/l CaCl₂. From the recovered grafts, a small sample was taken and stained with 0.02% dithizone (Sigma) in PBS to observe islet morphology. Recipient animals were assessed for the presence of non-specific peritonitis and swelling of the liver. Islets were observed also for the presence or absence of necrosis and for the general condition of the tissue. Capsule recovery was observed based on whether the capsules were free floating in the peritoneum or clustered and adhered to the liver or other internal organs. Capsules were also observed for shape, size and for the presence or absence of breakage and/or fibrotic

overgrowth. Furthermore, a sample of recovered capsules were scored individually and averaged on an arbitrary scale of 0 to 3 based on the amount of overgrowth present: 0 - no overgrowth observed; 1 - cells covering less than half the capsule one layer thick, 2 - cells covering more than half of the capsule one layer thick; 3 - cells covering the entire capsule 2 or more layers thick. To confirm the efficacy of the encapsulated islets at correcting diabetes, the pancreas of normalized recipients were assayed for insulin content as previously described (6).

Of the remaining recovered capsules, we assessed the insulin secretory responsiveness of the encapsulated islets during a 2 h static incubation at 37°C. The recovered encapsulated islets were washed twice in HBSS, then once in Hams F-10 culture media. The tissue was separated into two samples, each sample incubated in 1.5mL Hams F-10 supplemented with 2 mmol/L L-glutamine, 0.5% BSA and either 2.8 mmol/L glucose or 20 mmol/L glucose. Following the 2 hour incubation at 37°C the supernatant was collected and evaluated for insulin content by radioimmunoassay (RIA). The tissue was collected, washed twice for 10 minutes at 37°C with dissociation media to dissolve the capsules, following which the tissue was also assayed for total insulin content. The insulin content of the medium was expressed as a percentage of the total content (i.e., tissue plus medium). Stimulation indices were calculated by dividing the amount of insulin release at 20 mmol/l glucose by release at 2.8 mmol/l glucose.

4.2.9 Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as means \pm SEM of *n* independent samples. Statistical significance of differences was calculated with a two-tailed unpaired Student's *t* test or one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) for multiple comparisons. In the case of dichotomous data, a

Fisher's Exact Test (Chi-squared analysis) was used. Findings were deemed significant at a p value of less than 0.05.

4.3 RESULTS

4.3.1 Transplantation of encapsulated islets

Following co-encapsulation and tissue culture of NPI with NPSC, capsules were transplanted into BALB/c mice and immune compromised B6rag-/- mice with diabetes induced by STZ injection. When we observed these mice over time, it became clear that following the first 3 weeks post-transplantation the B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice began to show a decrease in blood glucose levels, whereas the BALB/c mice showed a slight increase (Figure 4-1). At 18 weeks, this rise became more pronounced as BALB/c mice showed a more dramatic rise in blood glucose while B6 $rag l^{-/-}$ mice showed a dramatic reduction in blood glucose. This progression was steady and significant in each group, until 27 weeks when the BALB/c mice were terminated due to failure to gain weight, chronic hyperglycemia, and declining health, at which time capsules from these mice were recovered for testing. Furthermore, none of the BALB/c mice transplanted ever achieved normoglycemia (Table 4-1). On the other hand, B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice were allowed to continue to thrive, and by 34 weeks the average blood glucose concentration of these surviving mice finally dropped to normoglycemic levels. Of the B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice transplanted with NPI and NPSC, 11 of 24 (46%) showed normalization of their blood glucose concentration. The B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice were maintained for up to 48 weeks. following which these mice were euthanized and the capsules recovered.



Figure 4-1. Average blood glucose concentrations of BALB/c mice transplanted with encapsulated neonatal porcine islets with (\bullet) or without (\circ) co-encapsulated Sertoli cells, or of B6 *rag1^{-/-}* mice transplanted with encapsulated neonatal porcine islets with (\blacksquare) or without (\Box) co-encapsulated Sertoli cells, plotted over time. Data are expressed as means ± SEM.

When mice were transplanted with encapsulated NPI alone (i.e. no coencapsulated NPSC), significance between blood glucose values in BALB/c mice and B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice was not observed until 10 weeks, when values rose for BALB/c mice and fell for B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice. When compared to mice receiving co-encapsulated NPI and NPSC, no discrepancy could be observed in the blood glucose of same strain mice receiving encapsulated NPI alone. Just as with BALB/c mice transplanted with

	Islet mass	Sertoli mass		Days of survival	% Achieving	
Group	(I.E.)	(x 10 ⁶)	n	(MST±SE)	Normoglycemia	
BALB/c	5100	0	10	56 x 1 [*] , 77 x 2 [†] , 91 x 4 [†] , 112 x 3 [†] (91.0±5.7)	0	
	7800	0	9	$4 \times 1^{*}, 28 \times 1^{*}, 56 \times 1^{*}, 77 \times 3^{\dagger}, 91 \times 2^{\dagger}, 112 \times 1^{\dagger} (68.1 \pm 11.2)^{**}$	0	
	10000	0	8	14 x 1 [*] , 42 x 1 [*] , 63 x 3 [†] , 147 x 3 [†] (85.8±18.8)	0	
B6 <i>rag1</i> - [≁]	5100	0	5	77 x 2 [†] , 91 x 1 [†] , 112 x 2 [†] (93.8±7.9)	0	
	7800	0	7	4 x 1 [•] , 77 x 3 [†] , 91 x 1 [†] , 112 x 2 [†] (78.6±13.8)	0	
	10000	0	6	$63 \times 2^{\dagger}, 77 \times 1^{\dagger}, 168 \times 1^{\ddagger}, 168 \times 1^{\dagger}, 182 \times 1^{\ddagger} (120.2\pm23.7)$	33	
BALB/c	2500	2.5	5	2 x 1 [*] , 21 x 1 [*] , 28 x 1 [*] , 42 x 1 [*] , 49 x 1 [*] (28.4±8.2) ^{**}	0	
	3200	3.2	10	$1 \times 2^{*}, 56 \times 8^{\dagger} (45.0 \pm 7.3)^{**}$	0	
	5100	5.1	5	$1 \times 1^{*}, 112 \times 4^{\dagger} (89.8 \pm 22.2)$	0	
	5800	5.8	5	91 x 1 [*] , 182 x 1 [*] , 189 x 3 [†] (168.0±19.3) ^{**}	0	
	10000	10	8	14 x 1 [*] , 112 x 1 [*] , 147 x 3 [†] , 175 x 3 [†] (136.5±19.1)	0	
B6 rag1 ^{-/-}	2500	2.5	5	$210 \times 1^{\ddagger}, 210 \times 4^{\dagger} (210.0 \pm 0.0)$	20	
	4700	4.7	9	280 x 1 [*] , 336 x 1 [†] , 336 x 7 [‡] (329.8±6.2) ^{§§}	89	
	5100	5.1	3	$112 \times 3^{\dagger} (112.0 \pm 0.0)$	0	
	5800	5.8	4	224 x 1 [*] , 238 x 1 [‡] , 238 x 2 [†] (234.5±3.5) ^{§§}	25	
	10000	10	3	$168 \times 1^{\ddagger}, 168 \times 1^{\dagger}, 182 \times 1^{\dagger} (172.7 \pm 4.7)^{\$\$}$	33	

Table 4-1 – Co-encapsulated islets and Sertoli cells transplanted into diabetic mice.

Euglycemia defined as blood glucose values \leq 8.4 mmol/L. I.E., islet equivalents; NPSC, neonatal porcine Sertoli cells; MST, mean standard time. *Animal died while hyperglycemic, §Animal died when normoglycemic, †Grafts recovered from *hyperglycemic* recipients for morphological assessment, ‡Grafts recovered from normoglycemic recipients for morphological assessment. **p<0.05, §§p<0.01 vs. animals receiving 5100 I.E. in each group.

co-encapsulated NPI and NPSC, none of the BALB/c mice transplanted with encapsulated NPI alone showed any normalization of blood glucose. On the other hand, of the 18 B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice transplanted with encapsulated NPI alone, 2 animals (11%) demonstrated a normalization of blood glucose, both of which received approximately 10,000 IE. When we observed the overall survival of mice of either stain receiving coencapsulated NPI and NPSC or encapsulated NPI alone, only the B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice receiving co-encapsulated NPI and NPSC showed any significant difference from other groups, having a substantially longer survival time.

4.3.2 Recovery of microcapsules

Upon recovery of microcapsules from transplanted recipients, a number of factors were assessed. First, we looked for and recorded the presence or absence of peritonitis and liver swelling in recipient mice. Among grafts recovered from BALB/c mice transplanted with co-encapsulated NPI with NPSC, liver swelling was present in 28% (5/18) of the mice (Table 4-2). Of the mice transplanted with encapsulated NPI alone, 57% (12/21) demonstrated the presence of liver swelling. Among the B6 *rag1*^{-/-} mice transplanted, neither those receiving co-encapsulated NPI and NPSC nor those receiving encapsulated NPI alone demonstrated any occurrence of liver swelling at the time of capsule recovery.

Next, we observed the state of the capsules on recovery, specifically whether we found capsules free floating individually in the peritoneum, or whether capsules were adhered together to the internal organs, or both. Of the 18 co-encapsulated NPI with NPSC grafts recovered from BALB/c mice, 15/18 (83%) had capsules free floating in the peritoneum, with 7/18 animals (39%) having capsules stuck to top of the liver

	Islet mass	Sertoli mass		Liver swelling	Capsule O/G	Free floating	Clustering	Insulin Secretion		Static insulin release
Group	(I.E.)	(x 10 ⁶)	n	(%)	(Avg. 0 - 3)	(%)	(%)	G-50 (%)	G-439 (%)	(Mean±SEM)(n)
BALB/c	5100	0	9	44	1.63±0.15	33	89	1.17±0.46	2.41±0.27	3.42±1.17 (4)
	7800	0	6	50	1.50±0.12	50	67	1.49±0.53	2.06±0.82	$1.20\pm0.27(4)^{\ddagger}$
	10000	0	6	83	1.83±0.19	50	67	$0.07{\pm}0.01$	0.34±0.11	4.86±0.61 (4) [‡]
	AVERAGE		21	57	1.65±0.15	43	76	1.08±0.31	1.85±0.41	2.82±0.65 (12)
B6 <i>rag1^{-/-}</i>	5100	0	5	0	1.75±0.27	100	20	0.25±0.07	2.19±0.80	$14.98\pm6.82(5)^{\dagger}$
	7800	0	6	0	0.88±0.12	100	33	0.11±0.03	0.97±0.17	$12.20\pm2.69(6)^{\ddagger}$
	10000	0	6	0	0.30±0.04	50	33	0.12	0.37	3.05 (1) [‡]
	AVERAGE		17	0 ^{††}	0.93±0.14**	82 ^{§§}	29***	1.10±0.15	9.66±2.46	12.60±3.10 (12) [§]
BALB/c	3200	3.2	8	0	1.13±0.13	100	50	0.30±0.11	1.20±0.15	11.80±4.85 (8) [*]
	5100	5.1	4	25	0.27±0.05	100	25	0.09±0.02	1.26±0.27	$16.05{\pm}4.39~{(4)}^{\dagger}$
	10000	10	6	50	0.65±0.06	50	33			
	AVERAGE		18	28 ^{§§}	0.78±0.09 ^{††}	83 ^{§§}	39 [§]	0.68±0.28	7.33±3.24	13.21±3.48 (12) [§]
B6 <i>rag1</i> -≁-	2500	2.5	5	0	0.20±0.03	100	20			
	4700	4.7	7	0	0.57±0.02	100	0			
	5100	5.1	3	0	1.00±0.01	100	0	0.38±0.15	0.72±0.24	$2.66 \pm 1.00(3)^{\dagger}$
	5800	5.8	3	0	2.00±0.10	67	33			
	10000	10	3	0	0.00 ± 0.00	100	0			
	AVERAGE		21	0	0.67±0.03	95	10	0.38±0.15	0.72±0.24	2.66±1.00 (3)

Table 4-2 – Co-encapsulated islets and Sertoli cells recovered from transplanted mice

Liver swelling indicates the presence of peritonitis and swelling of the liver or other internal organs on recovery of the graft. Capsular overgrowth was assessed, given a number score and averaged within each group. NPSC, neonatal porcine Sertoli cells; I.E., islet equivalents; O/G, overgrowth; Clustering, presence of capsules adheres to top of the liver or other organs; MST, mean standard time. Static insulin release was performed at *56 days $\ddagger77$ days or $\ddagger112$ days post transplantation. \$p<0.05, **p<0.002, $\ddaggerp<0.001$, \$p<0.02, ***p<0.01 vs. BALB/c transplanted with encapsulated NPI alone (no NPSC).

(Table 4-2). Among BALB/c mice receiving encapsulated NPI alone, 43% (9/21) had the capsules free floating, while 76% (16/21) animals showed capsules stuck to the liver. In the 21 NPI with NPSC grafts recovered from B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice, we found 20 mice (95%) to have capsules free floating, with 2 mice (10%) observed with capsules stuck to the top of the liver. B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice receiving only encapsulated islets showed 82% (14/17) with capsules free floating, and 29% (5/17) with capsules adhered to the internal organs.

Next, we assessed the recovered capsules for the presence and amount of cellular overgrowth on the capsules. Observing recovered samples of the capsules under the microscope, we scored individual capsules and averaged the scores on a scale of 0-3. BALB/c mice transplanted with co-encapsulated NPI and NPSC demonstrated an overall average score of 0.78 ± 0.09 , significantly less than the BALB/c mice transplanted with encapsulated NPI alone that showed an average overgrowth score of 1.65 ± 0.15 (Table 4-2). The average score of 0.67 ± 0.03 among B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice receiving NPI and NPSC capsules was also significantly lower than that of the capsules recovered from the B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice transplanted with encapsulated NPI alone, which showed an overgrowth score of 0.93 ± 0.14 for the capsules.

Finally, we observed the gross morphology of our recovered NPI in the presence of dithizone staining from animals both with and without co-encapsulated with NPSC. Representative samples of capsules with NPI alone recovered from BALB/c mice exhibited maintenance of capsule shape, size and integrity. Islets stained well with dithizone, though many of the islets were dark, particularly in the center of the islet, indicating the presence of central necrosis. The presence of cellular overgrowth was evident. Samples of capsules recovered from BALB/c mice receiving both NPI and

NPSC, and from B6 $ragI^{-/-}$ mice (NPI with or without NPSC) revealed that capsule shape and integrity were consistent with pre-transplantation capsules, though the size of the capsules may have been diminished somewhat. Islets recovered from these animals looked healthy and stained well with dithizone, and showed a general absence of central necrosis. The incidence of cellular overgrowth in these three groups of animals was noticeably less than in NPI alone capsules recovered from BALB/c mice.

4.3.4 Assessment of insulin secretion

When we assessed the static insulin release of our recovered capsules, we noted that the average stimulation index for NPI co-encapsulated with NPSC recovered from BALB/c recipients was 13.2±3.5 (Table 4-2). This was made up of a one group where capsules were recovered at 56 days (average SI = 11.8±4.9) and another group where capsules were recovered at 112 days (16.1±4.4). BALB/c recipients receiving encapsulated NPI alone showed significantly diminished stimulation index of 2.82±0.65 among capsules recovered at 77 (1.20±0.27 and 4.86±0.61) or 112 (3.42±1.17) days. The average stimulation index for NPI co-encapsulated with NPSC recovered from B6 *rag1*^{-/-} mice, all recovered at 112 days, was 2.7±1.0. Samples were also collected from one other group of B6 *rag1*^{-/-} mice at 336 days, though the data was not included for the purposes of this study due to the presence of bacterial contamination in the culture medium. B6 *rag1*^{-/-} mice transplanted with encapsulated NPI alone demonstrated substantially elevated average stimulation index of 12.60±3.10 among capsules recovered at the same time points (Table 4-2).

4.4 DISCUSSION

Transplantation of capsules containing NPI and NPSC into immune compromised B6 rag1^{-/-} mice yielded some expected results. Specifically, immune compromised mice showed a slow and steady decline in average blood glucose concentrations, eventually leading to normoglycemic levels. Notwithstanding, blood glucose did not drop as quickly as we would have expected, nor did as many B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice become normoglycemic as we would have expected, particularly in light of past results we have achieved when transplanting xenogeneic tissue into immune compromised BALB/c mice (21). Furthermore, we were disappointed that none of our immune competent BALB/c mice transplanted with neonatal pig islets, with or without Sertoli cells, ever became euglycemic. In fact the average blood glucose concentrations of both groups of these animals increased over the course of the study. We would expect these results to be due to one or more of a number of factors, such as death of the islets, failure of the NPI to mature *in vivo*, or loss of function of the islets. The causes of these factors are not totally certain, though host immunity (including innate mechanisms in both strains of mice) is a likely candidate. Furthermore, even though the dose of NPI with NPSC varied among animals (from 2,500 NPI and 2.5x10⁶ NPSC to 10,000 NPI and 10.0x10⁶ NPSC per mouse), the concentration of islets and Sertoli cells within the microcapsules remained the same in each instance (10×10^6 NPSC per 10,000 NPI per milliliter of 0.75% alginate). As such, it is possible that the concentration of NPSC co-encapsulated with NPI within the capsule was not optimal for the growth, development and function of the islets when these capsules were transplanted into mice. For example, given the high metabolic activity of Sertoli cells, it is not unlikely that, transplanted in such close

proximity to the islets and in too large numbers, the Sertoli cells could deplete the capsule microenvironment of oxygen and nutrients sufficient to effectively starve the islets. In such an instance, a lower concentration of Sertoli cells in relation to the number of islets may be beneficial. Comparisons of same species animals seemed to indicate that the presence of co-encapsulated Sertoli cells provided little or no benefit or detriment to the grafts with respect to blood glucose over time. Still, based on the limited analysis here, the precise effects of the Sertoli cells was difficult to determine. It was true that 46% of B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice transplanted with co-encapsulated NPI and NPSC achieved euglycemia over the course of the study, versus 11% of the control B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice receiving encapsulated islets alone. Though such results seemed to indicate that the presence of the Sertoli cells provided some level of benefit to these islets in the immune deficient state, arguably these results may have been the same had the B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice receiving encapsulated islets alone demonstrated health sufficient to continue past 112 days. Furthermore, it would seem as though there would be a balance to be found with respect to the immune-altering benefits of the Sertoli cells versus their potential nutrient-robbing effects.

Recovery of microcapsules from transplanted animals provided further insights. To begin with, the incidence of liver swelling in BALB/c mice was notably less in animals receiving co-encapsulated NPI and SC than in animals receiving encapsulated islets alone. This seems to indicate that despite what may be going on inside the capsule that the Sertoli cells provide anti-inflammatory support surrounding the outside of the capsule. Such anti-inflammatory properties of Sertoli cells have been well documented (22;23). Additionally, this anti-inflammatory effect was inversely related to the

transplant volume, with the animals that received larger volumes of transplanted cells demonstrating reduced anti-inflammatory potential than animals transplanted with smaller volumes (Table 4-2). Arguably, the anti-inflammatory properties of the Sertoli cells were not improved with increased numbers of Sertoli cells, at least not sufficient to handle the increased immunologic load brought about by the increased tissue transplant volume. The livers of B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice showed no indication of swelling in any recipients on recovery, despite having intact innate immunity. It could be surmised that the absence of T-cells to perpetuate the innate response allowed for this success (24).

On recovery, we observed capsules as free-floating in the peritoneum and/or existing as clusters adhered to the internal organs, particularly the liver. In both BALB/c and B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice, the presence of Sertoli cell in the capsule led to a substantial increase in the proportion animals with islets found free floating in the peritoneum (Table 4-2). Similarly, both strains of mice were shown to exhibit a dramatic decrease in the number of animals having capsules adhered to the liver and peritoneal organs when Sertoli cells were present (Table 4-2). Also, B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice showed a higher proportion of capsules free floating and a lower proportion stuck to the liver than did the BALB/c mice, both in the presence and absence of Sertoli cells, indicating the added benefit of the immune compromised environment. When we observed capsules under the microscope, capsular overgrowth in mice with co-encapsulated NPI and NPSC was significantly reduced when compared with mice receiving encapsulated NPI alone. Furthermore, we found that the amount overgrowth related directly to the state of the capsules on recovery, with a greater incidence of overgrowth among capsules that were adhered together or to the liver, and a lesser incidence among mice where the capsules were predominantly free-floating (Table 4-2). This is not unusual, as we would expect it to be the overgrown cells that are actually the cause of capsule adherence to organs or to one another. As with liver swelling, capsular overgrowth was notably less in each condition in the B6 rag1^{-/-} mice versus the BALB/c mice. It has been shown elsewhere that the cells predominantly involved in the cellular overgrowth of alginate microcapsules to be macrophages along with some CD4+ T-cells (25-27), and that the ablation of macrophages leads to a reduction in peritoneal inflammation (28). Furthermore, it has been shown that the depletion of peritoneal macrophages leads to improved xenograft survival in rodents (29;30). Taken together, all of these results indicate that there is significant benefit to both co-encapsulation of islets with Sertoli cells and to the immune compromised state, at least microscopically, with respect to the immune response of the host to the transplanted encapsulated islet. Keeping all of this in mind, we suspect that the Sertoli cells must be releasing factors that are in some way inhibitory to macrophage activation or function, or at least inhibitory to the adherence of macrophages to the microcapsule. While it has been shown that Sertoli cells have the ability to regulate the function of testicular macrophages (31;32), how this may occur outside of the testes with peritoneal macrophages has not been investigated. Finally, with the incidences of peritonitis, liver swelling, adherence to the liver and cellular overgrowth demonstrably less among immune compromised B6 rag1^{-/-} mice than among immune competent BALB/c mice, the need for immune inhibition or some immune barrier beyond what the capsule alone can provide is well illustrated.

The presence of macrophages surrounding the capsule has generally been associated with a reduction in function of the islets both inside the capsule (26), as well

as impairing the function of islets in non-overgrown capsules in close proximity to the overgrown capsules (33). Since the microcapsule prevents direct cell-cell contact, we suspect that macrophage activation occurs in response to antigens shed across the capsule membrane. These antigens may be proteins or factors produced and released from the capsule by islets such as VEGF (34) or MCP-1 (35), which have been shown to be released by islets lacking direct vascular access. It is likely also that cellular contents released as cells within the capsule die initiate an inflammatory response and macrophage activation. It was our hope with these experiments that the accompaniment of the Sertoli cells within the capsule would provide a level of protection from the effects of this macrophage overgrowth. While it certainly was the case that Sertoli cell presence within the capsule correlated with a reduction in overgrowth and liver swelling, it is unfortunate that this did not especially lead to an increase in the normalization of blood glucose in immune competent BALB/c recipients. Furthermore, whether the reduction of swelling and overgrowth was the result of released Sertoli cell factors acting directly on the macrophages or T-cells, or indirectly through the prevention of CD4+ mediated upregulation of the response is not totally clear. For example, Sertoli cells release TGF- β which is known to suppress T-cells (36). Nonetheless, the fact that a number of the B6 rag1^{-/-} mice, known to lack functional B- and T-cells, showed normalization of blood glucose and a greatly reduced incidence of swelling and cellular overgrowth compared to BALB/c recipients would seem to indicate that further T-cell suppression would be key in the successful adaptation of this therapy (37).

When recovered islets were tested for their glucose stimulated insulin release in the presence of low and high glucose, we observed that BALB/c mice receiving co-

encapsulated NPI and NPSC demonstrated a substantially elevated stimulation index when compared to BALB/c mice transplanted with NPI alone (Table 4-2). The low SI exhibited by the NPI alone capsules recovered from BALB/c mice was a result of low insulin release from islets in the presence of high glucose, indicating a loss in islet function. It would seem that among BALB/c mice, the presence of Sertoli cells within the capsule served to increase or at least better maintain the islets' ability to respond to changes in blood glucose. On the other hand, when the same transplant conditions were performed in B6 rag1^{-/-} mice, recovered capsules containing NPI and NPSC showed a considerably lower stimulated responsiveness to glucose than capsules containing only islets, which again was a result of a dramatic drop in insulin release at high glucose (Table 4-2). The reason for this discrepancy between BALB/c mice and B6 rag1^{-/-} mice is uncertain, however the story here seems to be that the presence of Sertoli cells in the capsule is beneficial to islet function, and that the immune compromised state provided by the B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ mice is beneficial to islet response, but the cumulative effect of both is not of particular benefit, at least in this instance. Given the fact that the basal response to low glucose in each of the four groups is relatively constant, and that changes in the stimulated response are due to variations in the high glucose release of insulin, we would surmise that conditions, be they the transplant host or the microenvironment created by the presence or absence of NPSC within the capsule, are in some manner affecting islet responsiveness. Nonetheless, the reasons for this reduction in islet function elude us. In particular, why such a reduction in function should occur B6 $rag1^{-/-}$ is a mystery, short of these mice having incomplete or 'leaky' ablation of B- and T-cells.

It seems clear from this study that factors released from neonatal porcine Sertoli cells inhibit the immune and inflammatory responses to transplanted microcapsules containing these islets and Sertoli cells, though the ability of this state to translate into an improved condition for host recipients is of questionable value. Clearly the next step is to better identify the reasons for this, and how we might minimize any detrimental effects while harnessing the beneficial effects of the capsule and the Sertoli cell (38-40). While it is uncertain whether co-encapsulation with Sertoli cells will ever alone provide enough protection for islets to survive in immune competent recipients, we feel confident that further refinements to the procedure may have the potential to becoming one part of a safer, more viable therapy for the treatment of diabetes.

4.5 **REFERENCES**

- Wild,S, Roglic,G, Green,A, Sicree,R, King,H: Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. *Diabetes Care* 27:1047-1053, 2004
- Shapiro,AM, Lakey,JR, Ryan,EA, Korbutt,GS, Toth,E, Warnock,GL, Kneteman,NM, Rajotte,RV: Islet transplantation in seven patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen. N Engl J Med 343:230-238, 2000
- Ryan,EA, Lakey,JR, Rajotte,RV, Korbutt,GS, Kin,T, Imes,S, Rabinovitch,A, Elliott,JF, Bigam,D, Kneteman,NM, Warnock,GL, Larsen,I, Shapiro,AM: Clinical outcomes and insulin secretion after islet transplantation with the Edmonton protocol. *Diabetes* 50:710-719, 2001

- Ryan, EA, Lakey, JR, Paty, BW, Imes, S, Korbutt, GS, Kneteman, NM, Bigam, D, Rajotte, RV, Shapiro, AM: Successful islet transplantation: continued insulin reserve provides long-term glycemic control. *Diabetes* 51:2148-2157, 2002
- Ryan, EA, Paty, BW, Senior, PA, Bigam, D, Alfadhli, E, Kneteman, NM, Lakey, JR, Shapiro, AM: Five-year follow-up after clinical islet transplantation. *Diabetes* 54:2060-2069, 2005
- Korbutt,GS, Elliott,JF, Ao,Z, Smith,DK, Warnock,GL, Rajotte,RV: Large scale isolation, growth, and function of porcine neonatal islet cells. *J Clin Invest* 97:2119-2129, 1996
- Cardona,K, Korbutt,GS, Milas,Z, Lyon,J, Cano,J, Jiang,W, Bello-Laborn,H, Hacquoil,B, Strobert,E, Gangappa,S, Weber,CJ, Pearson,TC, Rajotte,RV, Larsen,CP: Long-term survival of neonatal porcine islets in nonhuman primates by targeting costimulation pathways. *Nat. Med.* 2006
- Hering,BJ, Wijkstrom,M, Graham,ML, Hardstedt,M, Aasheim,TC, Jie,T, Ansite,JD, Nakano,M, Cheng,J, Li,W, Moran,K, Christians,U, Finnegan,C, Mills,CD, Sutherland,DE, Bansal-Pakala,P, Murtaugh,MP, Kirchhof,N, Schuurman,HJ: Prolonged diabetes reversal after intraportal xenotransplantation of wild-type porcine islets in immunosuppressed nonhuman primates. *Nat.Med.* 2006
- Valdes-Gonzalez,RA, Dorantes,LM, Garibay,GN, Bracho-Blanchet,E, Mendez,AJ, Davila-Perez,R, Elliott,RB, Teran,L, White,DJ: Xenotransplantation of porcine neonatal islets of Langerhans and Sertoli cells: a 4-year study. *Eur.J.Endocrinol.* 153:419-427, 2005

- Tatarkiewicz, K, Garcia, M, Lopez-Avalos, M, Bonner-Weir, S, Weir, GC: Porcine neonatal pancreatic cell clusters in tissue culture: benefits of serum and immobilization in alginate hydrogel1. *Transplantation* 71:1518-1526, 2001
- Lim,F, Sun,AM: Microencapsulated islets as bioartificial endocrine pancreas. Science 210:908-910, 1980
- Orive,G, Hernandez,RM, Gascon,AR, Calafiore,R, Chang,TM, De Vos,P, Hortelano,G, Hunkeler,D, Lacik,I, Shapiro,AM, Pedraz,JL: Cell encapsulation: promise and progress. *Nat. Med.* 9:104-107, 2003
- Zimmermann,H, Zimmermann,D, Reuss,R, Feilen,PJ, Manz,B, Katsen,A, Weber,M, Ihmig,FR, Ehrhart,F, Gessner,P, Behringer,M, Steinbach,A, Wegner,LH, Sukhorukov,VL, Vasquez,JA, Schneider,S, Weber,MM, Volke,F, Wolf,R, Zimmermann,U: Towards a medically approved technology for alginatebased microcapsules allowing long-term immunoisolated transplantation. *J.Mater.Sci.Mater.Med.* 16:491-501, 2005
- Wyatt,CR, Law,L, Magnuson,JA, Griswold,MD, Magnuson,NS: Suppression of lymphocyte proliferation by proteins secreted by cultured Sertoli cells. *J.Reprod.Immunol.* 14:27-40, 1988
- 15. Selawry,HP, Kotb,M, Herrod,HG, Lu,ZN: Production of a factor, or factors, suppressing IL-2 production and T cell proliferation by Sertoli cell-enriched preparations. A potential role for islet transplantation in an immunologically privileged site. *Transplantation* 52:846-850, 1991
- De Cesaris, P, Filippini, A, Cervelli, C, Riccioli, A, Muci, S, Starace, G, Stefanini, M,
 Ziparo, E: Immunosuppressive molecules produced by Sertoli cells cultured in
vitro: biological effects on lymphocytes. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 186:1639-1646, 1992

- Bellgrau, D, Gold, D, Selawry, H, Moore, J, Franzusoff, A, Duke, RC: A role for CD95 ligand in preventing graft rejection. *Nature* 377:630-632, 1995
- Griswold, MD: The central role of Sertoli cells in spermatogenesis. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 9:411-416, 1998
- Suarez-Pinzon,W, Korbutt,GS, Power,R, Hooton,J, Rajotte,RV, Rabinovitch,A: Testicular sertoli cells protect islet beta-cells from autoimmune destruction in NOD mice by a transforming growth factor-beta1-dependent mechanism. *Diabetes* 49:1810-1818, 2000
- Dufour, JM, Rajotte, RV, Seeberger, K, Kin, T, Korbutt, GS: Long-term survival of neonatal porcine Sertoli cells in non-immunosuppressed rats. *Xenotransplantation* 10:577-586, 2003
- 21. Korbutt,GS, Mallett,AG, Ao,Z, Flashner,M, Rajotte,RV: Improved survival of microencapsulated islets during in vitro culture and enhanced metabolic function following transplantation. *Diabetologia* 2004
- 22. Merly,F, Huard,C, Asselin,I, Robbins,PD, Tremblay,JP: Anti-inflammatory effect of transforming growth factor-beta1 in myoblast transplantation. *Transplantation* 65:793-799, 1998
- 23. Wahl,SM, McCartney-Francis,N, Mergenhagen,SE: Inflammatory and immunomodulatory roles of TGF-beta. *Immunol.Today* 10:258-261, 1989
- 24. Yi,S, Hawthorne,WJ, Lehnert,AM, Ha,H, Wong,JK, Van Rooijen,N, Davey,K, Patel,AT, Walters,SN, Chandra,A, O'Connell,PJ: T cell-activated macrophages

are capable of both recognition and rejection of pancreatic islet xenografts. J.Immunol. 170:2750-2758, 2003

- 25. Siebers, U, Horcher, A, Brandhorst, H, Brandhorst, D, Hering, B, Federlin, K, Bretzel, RG, Zekorn, T: Analysis of the cellular reaction towards microencapsulated xenogeneic islets after intraperitoneal transplantation. J Mol Med 77:215-218, 1999
- 26. De Vos,P, Smedema,I, Van Goor,H, Moes,H, Van Zanten,J, Netters,S, De Leij,LF, De Haan,A, De Haan,BJ: Association between macrophage activation and function of micro-encapsulated rat islets. *Diabetologia* 46:666-673, 2003
- Kobayashi, T, Harb, G, Rayat, GR: Prolonged survival of microencapsulated neonatal porcine islets in mice treated with a combination of anti-CD154 and anti-LFA-1 monoclonal antibodies. *Transplantation* 80:821-827, 2005
- Cailhier, JF, Partolina, M, Vuthoori, S, Wu, S, Ko, K, Watson, S, Savill, J, Hughes, J, Lang, RA: Conditional macrophage ablation demonstrates that resident macrophages initiate acute peritoneal inflammation. *J.Immunol.* 174:2336-2342, 2005
- 29. Wu,G, Korsgren,O, Zhang,J, Song,Z, Van Rooijen,N, Tibell,A: Pig islet xenograft rejection is markedly delayed in macrophage-depleted mice: a study in streptozotocin diabetic animals. *Xenotransplantation* 7:214-220, 2000
- Omer,A, Keegan,M, Czismadia,E, De Vos,P, Van Rooijen,N, Bonner-Weir,S, Weir,GC: Macrophage depletion improves survival of porcine neonatal pancreatic cell clusters contained in alginate macrocapsules transplanted into rats. *Xenotransplantation.* 10:240-251, 2003

- Pollanen, P, von Euler, M, Soder, O: Testicular immunoregulatory factors.
 J.Reprod.Immunol. 18:51-76, 1990
- Bryniarski,K, Szczepanik,M, Maresz,K, Ptak,M, Ptak,W: Subpopulations of mouse testicular macrophages and their immunoregulatory function. *Am.J Reprod.Immunol.* 52:27-35, 2004
- de Groot, M, Schuurs, TA, Leuvenink, HG, Van Schilfgaarde, R: Macrophage overgrowth affects neighboring nonovergrown encapsulated islets. *J Surg.Res* 115:235-241, 2003
- 34. Xiong, M, Elson, G, Legarda, D, Leibovich, SJ: Production of vascular endothelial growth factor by murine macrophages: regulation by hypoxia, lactate, and the inducible nitric oxide synthase pathway. *Am.J.Pathol.* 153:587-598, 1998
- 35. Chen,MC, Proost,P, Gysemans,C, Mathieu,C, Eizirik,DL: Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 is expressed in pancreatic islets from prediabetic NOD mice and in interleukin-1 beta-exposed human and rat islet cells. *Diabetologia* 44:325-332, 2001
- 36. Nakamura,K, Kitani,A, Strober,W: Cell contact-dependent immunosuppression by CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells is mediated by cell surface-bound transforming growth factor beta. *J Exp. Med* 194:629-644, 2001
- 37. Dickson, BC, Yang, H, Savelkoul, HF, Rowden, G, Van Rooijen, N, Wright, JR, Jr.: Islet transplantation in the discordant tilapia-to-mouse model: a novel application of alginate microencapsulation in the study of xenograft rejection. *Transplantation* 75:599-606, 2003

- Yang,H, Wright,JR: Co-encapsulation of Sertoli enriched testicular cell fractions further prolongs fish-to-mouse islet xenograft survival. *Transplantation* 67:815-820, 1999
- Yang,H, Al Jazaeri,A, Wright,JR, Jr.: The immunoprotective effect of Sertoli cells coencapsulated with islet xenografts is not dependent upon Fas ligand expression. *Cell Transplant*. 11:799-801, 2002
- 40. Luca,G, Calafiore,R, Basta,G, Ricci,M, Calvitti,M, Neri,L, Nastruzzi,C, Becchetti,E, Capitani,S, Brunetti,P, Rossi,C: Improved function of rat islets upon co-microencapsulation with Sertoli's cells in alginate/poly-L-ornithine. *AAPS.PharmSciTech.* 2:E15, 2001

CHAPTER 5

GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

5.1 GENERAL DISCUSSION

Current estimates by the World Health Organization place the number of individuals with diabetes in 2000 at 177 million worldwide, with a more than doubling of the incidence of this condition projected by 2030 (1). Type 1 diabetes, the selective autoimmune destruction of β -cells in the islets of Langerhans of the pancreas, accounts for approximately 10% of these cases and is characterized by elevated blood glucose, along with a number of secondary microvascular and macrovascular effects. The costs of treating the disease are enormous, reaching into the billions of dollars in North America alone. Perhaps more significant that the financial burden of the disease, however, are the costs to patients and families related to the increased morbidity and mortality associated with the disease. Though lifelong, intensive insulin therapy has proved effective in preventing fluctuations in blood glucose and in reducing the chances of secondary complications, there remains with this therapy an increased risk of hypoglycemia episodes which can rapidly lead to coma and death if not treated. As a result, the transplantation of insulin-producing tissue remains the most promising treatment for type 1 diabetes.

Almost thirty years passed from the first successful islet transplantation of Ballinger and Lacy in rats (2) to the time that the group at Edmonton developed a process for consistently transplanting islets into type 1 diabetic patients (3), alleviating the need for exogenous insulin therapy. While the Edmonton protocol has moved islet

transplantation into the forefront of the attention of diabetes research and has provided hope to countless individuals affected by the disease, the procedure is still limited by two major obstacles that must be addressed in order for this therapy to become the standard of care for the entire population of patients with diabetes. One of these is the severe shortage of islets available for transplantation. When we consider that only 65 patients had undergone this treatment in the five years following the publication of the Edmonton protocol (4), and that the number of new diabetics in Canada alone numbers approximately 60,000 per year and growing (5), it is evident that we are far, far away from providing treatment that is universal in its accessibility under the current protocol. As a result of this lack of cadaveric donor islets, researchers have focused a great deal of attention on the search for alternative sources of insulin-producing, glucose responsive tissue for transplantation into diabetic recipients. One such reserve lies in the use of cells genetically engineered to secrete insulin (6-9), though these sources have in the past been limited by their ability to respond to the normal physiologic changes in blood glucose (6;10). Also among these potential sources are pancreatic progenitor cells (11-13), the use of which may well allow researchers to increase the pool of transplantable insulinproducing tissue obtainable from each pancreas. Unfortunately, much work remains to be done to understand the mechanisms and triggers involved in the identification of suitable progenitors and their subsequent differentiation into suitable endocrine tissue. Similarly, much investigation is underway into the generation of islets from embryonic stem cells (14;15). It is believed that within these cells lies the potential to generate a near limitless supply of insulin producing tissue. Still, this field suffers from a lack of understanding into many of the cues involved in forming pancreatic-like endocrine tissue,

and into the processes involved in switching on and off replication and differentiation. Furthermore, ethical controversy regarding the use of this tissue, particularly embryonic stem cell tissue, may hinder this work from moving forward in many arenas.

Perhaps most appealing among the alternatives to cadaveric human islet is the potential for xenogeneic sources of islets. While a number of these animal sources have been considered (16-18), perhaps the most promising of these are neonatal pigs. Pigs have the advantage of being easily housed and bred in large numbers, and islets from the neonates have been shown to be easily isolated in large numbers (18). Neonatal islet tissue has been shown to be effective in alleviating hyperglycemia in rodents (18;19), dogs (20), monkeys (21) and humans (22). Unfortunately, xenotransplantation is not without barriers to be overcome. The potential for cross-species disease transmission must be addressed and put to rest. Furthermore, as with embryonic stem cells, the use of xenogeneic tissue for human therapy has been a matter of public controversy. Finally, the risk of immune rejection must be addressed (as it must with all transplanted tissues), attention being particularly paid to the xenogeneic antigens for which there may exist a preformed response.

Clearly, prevention of rejection is an issue key to the future success of islet transplantation, and is the other major limitation of current clinical islet transplantation protocols. Under the Edmonton protocol, islet transplant recipients are required to trade in their insulin needles for aggressive chronic immunosuppressive drugs which, while prolonging the survival of the graft, carry a host of secondary complications. For many patients, particularly children with type 1 diabetes, the risks associated with these immunosuppressives far outweigh the risks associated with the disease. Furthermore,

recent evidence indicates that the likelihood of long-term survival of the islet transplant grafts even in the presence of immunosuppression is low, with only 10% of transplant recipients retaining insulin independence in a 5 year follow-up study (4). As such, researchers have been led to explore strategies to avoid immunosuppression. Efforts to reduce the immunogenicity of potential donor tissue – such as through the creation of transgenic animals – hold promise, though such animals only address one part of a much more complicated immunological problem. Other strategies have focused on the induction of immunologic tolerance of host recipients to donor tissues – the Holy Grail of transplantation – and while much is yet to be learned, understanding of the mechanisms involved in tolerance induction is growing. Immunoisolation of islets, particularly the use of alginate for islet encapsulation, is also an area of much interest, and has shown some success in the treatment of diabetes in both small and large animals. Furthermore, the use of nurse cells, like Sertoli cells have been shown to provide transplant support and relief from host immunity in a number of models.

It would seem as though with so many options and areas of research under considered in the realm of islet transplantation that success would be almost certain. Unfortunately, successes have been variable and, at times, fleeting. In particular, with the encapsulation of islets for transplantation, much of the research in this area has been largely outcome driven, with a lack of continuity between animal models of increasing immunity and with the failure of alginate capsule performance and immune isolation strategies left largely undefined. Our hope with this thesis was to explore these concerns as we moved from tissue culture to recipient, from immune compromised to immune

competent, from non-pure to purified alginate, and from simple capsule design to the addition of immunomodulatory Sertoli cells.

For the purposes of this work, the obvious place to start was the beginning. As a result, the choice was made to determine the effects of the capsule on the islets in the absence of active immunity. To start, survival and function of encapsulated islets were tested at various time points over a three week tissue culture period and compared to nonencapsulated islets at the same time points and under the same conditions. Under these conditions we were able to demonstrate (Chapter 2) the beneficial effects of the capsule on islet survival, as recovery at all time points was significantly improved versus nonencapsulated islets, and on islet function, with time points greater than one week showing superior function. While the reasons for these improvements are not totally certain, it can be elucidated that the abilities of the capsule to mimic the pancreatic matrix, maintain the integrity of the islet, and prevent aggregation of the islets in tissue culture all may be contributing factors. Continuing with this experiment we transplanted these recovered islets and demonstrated the capsules' ability to dramatically improve islet survival and function in vivo in an immune compromised host. One of the concerns presented with the use of encapsulated islet technology has been that the contained islet would not be able to function by diffusion alone, and in the absence of direct vascular access. We have here demonstrated that islet function can, in fact, be maintained in the peritoneum, at least in small animals. In fact, mice in these experiments transplanted with encapsulated dog islets demonstrated more rapid glucose clearance than even the age matched control mice (likely a result of a lower set-point for glucose of dog versus mouse islets). Regardless, animals receiving encapsulated islet transplants exhibited an ability to maintain

physiologic blood glucose levels over a substantial amount of time. Also, when we performed transplants of varying islet numbers in this series of experiments, we were able to demonstrate that the encapsulated islets not only had a superior ability to normalize blood glucose in recipients, but they could do so with dramatically reduced numbers of islets – consistently and with as few as 500 islets – as compared to non-encapsulated islets. This may have to do with the ability of the capsule to more accurately mimic the structural support matrix of the native pancreas, as mentioned before, or it may be a result of ability of the capsule to protect the islet from some of the potential shear and mechanical forces involved in the transplant process, leading to improved survival and overall function of the encapsulated that islet encapsulation promotes the survival and function of islets both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and that this technology warrants further investigation.

With benefit shown for islet encapsulation in the absence of active immunity, the goal then was to move to a model that allowed us to test the alginate in the presence of a functional immune system in order to determine any immune response to the capsular material in the context of encapsulated, non-immunogenic, functioning cells. Thus, we reviewed the use of alginate capsules in BALB/c mice receiving transplants of syngeneic encapsulated islets. Whereas empty capsules failed to elicit a response, initial experiments indicated that encapsulated islets did often induce active immunity against the graft. As these syngeneic graft failures occurred concurrent with a change in alginate supplier, this led also to an extensive review of the available literature on alginate purification. The result was the development of a protocol for the

purification of alginate, which subsequently led us to the investigations of Chapter 3 of this work. In these experiments, we were able to analyze and specify a number of the changes that occurred with modification process. Furthermore, and more importantly, we clearly showed the result of this modification on the transplant success of islets encapsulated with this modified alginate. Recently, Dusseault et al. performed a comparative analysis of alginates purified by three different techniques (23). While such information is of interest, it is of little clinical consequence in the absence of transplantation data. While a comparison transplantation results using alginates of different sources has been approached elsewhere (24), what we have approached here is the first comparison of which we are aware on the effects of pre- and post-purification alginate on transplantation success using a simple alginate capsule. Our experiments have clearly shown that the purification process undergone here lead to prolonged survival and euglycemia, lower basal glucose maintenance, and improved insulin responsiveness to glucose. Furthermore, when capsules constructed from purified alginate were recovered from recipients there was a demonstrably reduced inflammatory presence as compared to non-purified alginate capsule recipients. Taken together, we are able to say with confidence what has always been suspected: that the quality and composition of any given alginate directly influences the longevity and performance of the encapsulated islet transplant.

The next logical step of this investigation into the viability of islet encapsulation and transplantation leads to a model of increased immune challenge. Whereas transplantation of encapsulated syngeneic islets allowed the specific study of host reaction to the capsular material itself, the transplantation of encapsulated donor islets into immune competent non-syngeneic recipients allowed us to determine the level of immune protection afforded to the islets by the capsule. The study of allogeneic and xenogeneic islet transplantation provides us with markers of success or failure indicative of what might happen in the clinical realm. On this point, it is important to recognize that although we talk about encapsulation as 'immunoisolation', it is in fact primarily islet *cell* isolation, and not antigen isolation, per se. That is, the capsule has the ability to prevent cell-cell contact and thus direct *antigen* recognition of the islets. Nonetheless, the capsules are porous and will allow the passage of shed islet antigens from the capsule, allowing for indirect antigen recognition. Much discussion has ensued on this point with regards to the modification of capsule porosity as a means of controlling the amount of shed antigen presented to host immunity, and as a means of inhibiting the passage of antibodies, complement, cytokines and other immune effector molecules into the capsule (reviewed in (25)). It is important to remember here, however, that constricting the porosity of the capsule too aggressively also prevents the passage of therapeutic molecules, essential proteins, hormones, metabolic wastes, etc. into and out of the capsule. Certainly, a balance must be found, though a determination of what that cut-off porosity will undoubtedly be a matter for further discussion.

With these points in mind, Chapter 4 explores the ability of the microcapsules to protect donor islets from immune rejection. Xenograft transplantation was favored here simply for the ease of isolation of large numbers of (pig) islets for transplantation. In this chapter we transplanted neonatal pig islets and support previous work demonstrating that immune compromised mice receiving encapsulated islets had improved survival and normalization of blood glucose than immune competent mice. This supports literature

indicating that xenograft rejection occurs presumably through indirect CD4+ T cell recognition (26-29). This was further demonstrated through the recovery of grafts, which demonstrated capsules showing less evidence of immune challenge and islets of improved function in immune compromised over immune competent animals. Still, the ability of the islets to normalize blood glucose in these animals was exceedingly suboptimal, for which reason these experiments also explored the outcomes of coencapsulation of neonatal pig Sertoli cells with the islets, transplanted again into immune compromised and immune competent animals. It has previously been shown that Sertoli cells transplanted under the kidney capsule increase the longevity of islet grafts in rats in the absence of immune suppression (30-32;32), thus demonstrating the potential benefit of Sertoli cells in circumventing exogenous immunosuppression. Here we demonstrated the ability of the Sertoli cells co-encapsulated with the islets to extend recipient survival, improve recovered islet function and exhibit reduced cellular overgrowth of recovered capsules in immune competent mice. Capsules containing islets and Sertoli cells retrieved from immune deficient mice demonstrated a similar reduction in host response to the capsule. Still, though clearly the presence of Sertoli cells had some benefit in subduing the immune response to the encapsulated islets, overt benefit to blood glucose levels in recipients were still not optimal, illustrating the need for further investigation into the specific factors released from the Sertoli cell to bring about these responses.

5.2 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE CONSIDERATIONS

Successes rates in clinical islet transplantation have dramatically improved since the inception of the Edmonton protocol. As a result, there has been a renewed interest into the field and a renewed hope for treatment of patients affected by type 1 diabetes. However, it is evident that current protocols fail to answer the problem of making this therapy widely available to the ever growing pool of individuals with the disease. As a result, alternative sources of tissue are being explored. Xenogeneic porcine islets are an attractive alternative to cadaveric human islets. However, for xenogeneic tissue to move to the forefront of clinical exploration, methods need to be developed that allow the transplantation and maintenance of healthy donor islets in recipients. Encapsulation of islets in alginate has demonstrated numerous advantages in this realm. Encapsulation allows for the maturation and prolongation of function of islets in tissue culture, and has shown to maximize the ratio of transplant dose to effect. Key to the success of this therapy is the quality and content of the alginate used, with alginate purification and modification protocols offering the opportunity to achieve this outcome. It has here been shown that the use of such a product increases recipient survival, improves host responsiveness to glucose, and dramatically reduces the immunological challenge to the graft. Furthermore, the incorporation of immune effectors such as Sertoli cells demonstrate the potential of providing an added level of support to transplanted tissue by providing factors key to the maintenance and protection of the islet graft.

Despite the various successes with islet encapsulation, there remain a number of shortcomings to the therapeutic potential of this therapy. Foremost among these is the inconsistency from center to center with respect to the alginate used and the purification

regimes used, if any. Ideally, improved sharing of information on the alginate used and the methods employed to extract, modify, and purify the product might alleviate much of this problem. Also, improved understanding of the factors mediating graft failure could be key to the development of better capsules. In reality, however, it is fundamental to understand that the capsule alone lacks the ability to provide complete protection of the graft from host immune effector molecules. It is suspect that the capsule will ever alone have the ability to completely address the problem of antigen shedding from the capsule, or the subsequent immune activation. The most striking example of this would be the release of insulin from the capsule, which in itself has been shown to have immune consequence in type 1 diabetics (33). As such, additional techniques must be employed to prevent antigen detection, reduce macrophage activation, inhibit CD4+ T cellactivation, and so on. The use of Sertoli cell may provide a level of support in this regard, though the determination of the factors released from Sertoli cell affecting immune function, and the mechanism by which these occur, needs to be determined to maximize their therapeutic potential. As these various concerns are addressed, the true therapeutic potential of encapsulated islets will become clearer, and the future of encapsulated islet transplantation will be evident.

5.3 REFERENCES

 Wild,S, Roglic,G, Green,A, Sicree,R, King,H: Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. *Diabetes Care* 27:1047-1053, 2004

- Ballinger, WF, Lacy, PE: Transplantation of intact pancreatic islets in rats. Surgery 72:175-186, 1972
- Shapiro,AM, Lakey,JR, Ryan,EA, Korbutt,GS, Toth,E, Warnock,GL, Kneteman,NM, Rajotte,RV: Islet transplantation in seven patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen. N Engl J Med 343:230-238, 2000
- Ryan, EA, Paty, BW, Senior, PA, Bigam, D, Alfadhli, E, Kneteman, NM, Lakey, JR, Shapiro, AM: Five-year follow-up after clinical islet transplantation. *Diabetes* 54:2060-2069, 2005
- Canadian Diabetes Association. The Prevalence and Cost of Diabetes. 2004. (Pamphlet)
- Efrat,S: Genetically engineered pancreatic beta-cell lines for cell therapy of diabetes. *Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci.* 875:286-293, 1999
- Cheung, AT, Dayanandan, B, Lewis, JT, Korbutt, GS, Rajotte, RV, Bryer-Ash, M, Boylan, MO, Wolfe, MM, Kieffer, TJ: Glucose-dependent insulin release from genetically engineered K cells. *Science* 290:1959-1962, 2000
- Shaw, JA, Delday, MI, Hart, AW, Docherty, HM, Maltin, CA, Docherty, K: Secretion of bioactive human insulin following plasmid-mediated gene transfer to non-neuroendocrine cell lines, primary cultures and rat skeletal muscle in vivo. J Endocrinol. 172:653-672, 2002
- Horb, ME, Shen, CN, Tosh, D, Slack, JM: Experimental conversion of liver to pancreas. *Curr.Biol.* 13:105-115, 2003

- Knaack, D, Fiore, DM, Surana, M, Leiser, M, Laurance, M, Fusco-DeMane, D, Hegre, OD, Fleischer, N, Efrat, S: Clonal insulinoma cell line that stably maintains correct glucose responsiveness. *Diabetes* 43:1413-1417, 1994
- Bonner-Weir,S, Taneja,M, Weir,GC, Tatarkiewicz,K, Song,KH, Sharma,A,
 O'Neil,JJ: In vitro cultivation of human islets from expanded ductal tissue. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97:7999-8004, 2000
- Heimberg,H, Bouwens,L, Heremans,Y, Van De Casteele,M, Lefebvre,V,
 Pipeleers,D: Adult human pancreatic duct and islet cells exhibit similarities in expression and differences in phosphorylation and complex formation of the homeodomain protein Ipf-1. *Diabetes* 49:571-579, 2000
- Guz, Y, Nasir, I, Teitelman, G: Regeneration of pancreatic beta cells from intra-islet precursor cells in an experimental model of diabetes. *Endocrinology* 142:4956-4968, 2001
- Roche, E, Sepulcre, MP, Ensenat-Waser, R, Maestre, I, Reig, JA, Soria, B: Bioengineering inslulin-secreting cells from embryonic stem cells: a review of progress. *Med Biol.Eng Comput.* 41:384-391, 2003
- Segev,H, Fishman,B, Ziskind,A, Shulman,M, Itskovitz-Eldor,J: Differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into insulin-producing clusters. *Stem Cells* 22:265-274, 2004
- Marchetti,P, Giannarelli,R, Cosimi,S, Masiello,P, Coppelli,A, Viacava,P, Navalesi,R: Massive isolation, morphological and functional characterization, and xenotransplantation of bovine pancreatic islets. *Diabetes* 44:375-381, 1995

- Wright, JR, Jr., Polvi, S, MacLean, H: Experimental transplantation with principal islets of teleost fish (Brockmann bodies). Long-term function of tilapia islet tissue in diabetic nude mice. *Diabetes* 41:1528-1532, 1992
- Korbutt,GS, Elliott,JF, Ao,Z, Smith,DK, Warnock,GL, Rajotte,RV: Large scale isolation, growth, and function of porcine neonatal islet cells. *J Clin Invest* 97:2119-2129, 1996
- Trivedi,N, Hollister-Lock,J, Lopez-Avalos,MD, O'Neil,JJ, Keegan,M, Bonner-Weir,S, Weir,GC: Increase in beta-Cell Mass in Transplanted Porcine Neonatal Pancreatic Cell Clusters Is Due to Proliferation of beta-Cells and Differentiation of Duct Cells. *Endocrinology* 142:2115-2122, 2001
- Gores, PF, Hayes, DH, Copeland, MJ, Korbutt, GS, Halberstadt, C, Kirkpatrick, SA, Rajotte, RV: Long-term survival of intratesticular porcine islets in nonimmunosuppressed beagles. *Transplantation* 75:613-618, 2003
- Cardona,K, Korbutt,GS, Milas,Z, Lyon,J, Cano,J, Jiang,W, Bello-Laborn,H, Hacquoil,B, Strobert,E, Gangappa,S, Weber,CJ, Pearson,TC, Rajotte,RV, Larsen,CP: Long-term survival of neonatal porcine islets in nonhuman primates by targeting costimulation pathways. *Nat. Med.* 2006
- Valdes-Gonzalez, RA, Dorantes, LM, Garibay, GN, Bracho-Blanchet, E, Mendez, AJ, Davila-Perez, R, Elliott, RB, Teran, L, White, DJ: Xenotransplantation of porcine neonatal islets of Langerhans and Sertoli cells: a 4-year study. *Eur.J.Endocrinol.* 153:419-427, 2005

- Dusseault, J, Tam, SK, Menard, M, Polizu, S, Jourdan, G, Yahia, L, Halle, JP: Evaluation of alginate purification methods: Effect on polyphenol, endotoxin, and protein contamination. *J.Biomed.Mater.Res.A* 76:243-251, 2006
- Leinfelder, U, Brunnenmeier, F, Cramer, H, Schiller, J, Arnold, K, Vasquez, JA, Zimmermann, U: A highly sensitive cell assay for validation of purification regimes of alginates. *Biomaterials* 24:4161-4172, 2003
- Hunkeler, D, Rehor, A, Ceausoglu, I, Schuldt, U, Canaple, L, Bernard, P, Renken, A, Rindisbacher, L, Angelova, N: Objectively assessing bioartificial organs. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 944:456-471, 2001
- Loudovaris, T, Mandel, TE, Charlton, B: CD4+ T cell mediated destruction of xenografts within cell-impermeable membranes in the absence of CD8+ T cells and B cells. *Transplantation* 61:1678-1684, 1996
- Yi,S, Hawthorne,WJ, Lehnert,AM, Ha,H, Wong,JK, Van Rooijen,N, Davey,K, Patel,AT, Walters,SN, Chandra,A, O'Connell,PJ: T cell-activated macrophages are capable of both recognition and rejection of pancreatic islet xenografts. *J.Immunol.* 170:2750-2758, 2003
- Yi,S, Feng,X, Hawthorne,WJ, Patel,AT, Walters,SN, O'Connell,PJ: CD4+ T cells initiate pancreatic islet xenograft rejection via an interferon-gamma-dependent recruitment of macrophages and natural killer cells. *Transplantation* 73:437-446, 2002
- Rayat,GR, Gill,RG: Indefinite survival of neonatal porcine islet xenografts by simultaneous targeting of LFA-1 and CD154 or CD45RB. *Diabetes* 54:443-451, 2005

- 30. Korbutt,GS, Elliott,JF, Rajotte,RV: Cotransplantation of allogeneic islets with allogeneic testicular cell aggregates allows long-term graft survival without systemic immunosuppression. *Diabetes* 46:317-322, 1997
- Yang,H, Wright,JR: Co-encapsulation of Sertoli enriched testicular cell fractions further prolongs fish-to-mouse islet xenograft survival. *Transplantation* 67:815-820, 1999
- Yang,H, Al Jazaeri,A, Wright,JR, Jr.: The immunoprotective effect of Sertoli cells coencapsulated with islet xenografts is not dependent upon Fas ligand expression. *Cell Transplant*. 11:799-801, 2002
- 33. Nakayama,M, Abiru,N, Moriyama,H, Babaya,N, Liu,E, Miao,D, Yu,L,
 Wegmann,DR, Hutton,JC, Elliott,JF, Eisenbarth,GS: Prime role for an insulin
 epitope in the development of type 1 diabetes in NOD mice. *Nature* 435:220-223,
 2005

APPENDIX A

ENCAPSULATION DOES NOT PROVIDE LONG TERM SURVIVAL OF MOUSE ISLETS IN ALLOGENEIC RECIPIENTS

A.1 OBJECTIVE

To determine whether or not mouse islets encapsulated in a purified alginate microcapsule have the ability to survive and function when transplanted into allogeneic recipients.

A.2 RATIONALE

In Chapter 2 we demonstrated the ability of the alginate microcapsule to prolong survival of islet grafts in immune compromised animals. In Chapter 3 we demonstrated the ability of a modified, improved alginate to improve the longevity of graft survival and function using syngeneic mouse islets. As a consequence of these successes, the next obvious step was to transplant encapsulated islets into same species recipients of increased immunologic challenge, namely allogeneic recipients. A number of techniques have been employed in an attempt to prolong allogeneic allograft survival in small animal models, such as the use of pre-transplant immune modulation of islets (1), immunosuppressants (2;3), monoclonal antibodies (4), chimerism/tolerance induction (5) and the transplantation of islets into immune privileged sites (6), among others. Here we

investigate the use of alginate encapsulation as a means of protecting allogeneic donor islets in an immune competent recipient. As the capsule has the ability to block cell-cell contact between the donor antigen presenting cells and host immune cells, the belief was that the encapsulation of islets in an immunologically inert alginate capsule would have the ability to protect the transplanted islets, particularly from the direct antigen recognition and subsequent destruction of the graft characterized in allograft rejection (7).

A.3 EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

BALB/c mouse islets were isolated and encapsulated in 0.75% (w/v) alginate purified in house from Pronova UP-MVG alginate (high G alginate, batch #701-256-08; NovaMatrix, FMC Biopolymer, Drammen, Norway) dissolved in HBSS (without Ca++, Mg++) (pH 7.4) as previously described (Chapter 3). Grafts of approximately 1000 islets were implanted into the peritoneum of a total of 12 C3H mice with diabetes induced by streptozotocin (STZ; 225mg/kg body weight, freshly dissolved in acetate buffer, pH4.5; Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) injection 3 days prior. Two BALB/c mice were made diabetic (STZ; 275mg/kg body weight), transplanted with encapsulated BALB/c islets and served as controls. Blood glucose was monitored over time until animals returned to hyperglycemia or until the end of the experiment (Day 49), when capsules were recovered and observed for gross morphology of the capsules, for the condition of the recipient peritoneum, and for immunohistological examination. Data are expressed as average \pm the standard error of the mean (SEM).

A.4 RESULTS

When we transplanted encapsulated BALB/c islets into diabetic C3H recipients one of the animals died following surgery. The rest of these mice demonstrated an almost immediate return to normoglycemia (blood glucose ≤ 8.7 mmol/l) (Figure A-1). Nine of the eleven remaining recipients showed a dramatic rise in blood glucose levels following one week post-transplantation, with a return to hyperglycemic blood glucose levels (≥ 17.8 mmol/l) averaging at 22.6±3.2 days for all allogeneic recipients. Of the two BALB/c mice transplanted, one was sickly and required termination 24 hours following transplantation. The other syngeneic recipient maintained normal blood glucose levels to termination at 28 days (Figure A-1).



Allo EC grafts over time

Figure A-1. Blood glucose levels over time of mice transplanted with encapsulated BALB/c islets. Controls are denoted via thicker lines.

When grafts were recovered from C3H mice, 6/11 (55%) demonstrated swelling of the internal organs, particularly the liver, and 5/11 mice (45%) were found to have their capsules clumped together between the liver and diaphragm. Furthermore, immunohistochemical observation of the recovered capsules revealed positive insulin staining (Figure A-2A) but negative glucagon (Figure A-2B) staining of islets inside the capsule, and with a minimal macrophage (CD11b) staining (Figure A-3A) but negligible CD4+ T-cell (Figure A-3B) and CD8+ T-cell (Figure A-3C) staining surrounding the recovered capsule. The surviving BALB/c mouse showed no evidence of peritonitis or liver swelling to 49 days, and capsules remained free floating in the peritoneum.



Figure A-2. Immunohistochemistry of encapsulated islets recovered at 21 days and stained for (A) insulin and (B) glucagon.



Figure A-3. Cryostaining of encapsulated islets recovered at 21 days and stained for (A) CD-11b, (B) CD-4 and (C) CD-8.

A.5 CONCLUSION

In this experiment, transplantation of encapsulated mouse islets into allogeneic recipients yielded significantly substandard results. We have shown previously that 38 of 42 (90%) of recipients of encapsulated syngeneic islets were able to restore normal blood glucose levels well beyond 100 days post-transplant (Chapter 2). Though all animals were able to alleviate hyperglycemia following transplantation of allogeneic islets, this state was short lived. Furthermore, many recipients exhibited lower than normal physiological levels of glucose in their blood, indicating perhaps that cell death and subsequent insulin dumping from the transplanted islets may have occurred. However, observation of the recovered islets demonstrated strong insulin staining with no overt signs of loss of the islets. Furthermore, the mechanisms of any cell death remain uncertain, staining for immune effector cells indicated that, though there was some indication of macrophages, the proposed mediators of encapsulated islet cell rejection (9), though there was virtually no sign of CD4+ T-cells(8), indicated in perpetuating the immune response. Such flaws in

the past have been attributed to deficiencies in capsule mechanics (10) or to the bioincompatibility of the alginate used (11). We feel, however, that deficiencies here lie not in the alginate, but in the inability of a simple, open-pore capsule to fully protect the transplanted allogeneic islets (12-14). As direct mechanisms can be ruled out, a more thorough investigation of the involvement of humoral-mediated and innate immunity are required. Furthermore, to better elucidate the mechanisms of rejection in an allogeneic model, testing for success of function of encapsulated islets transplanted into specifically defined knock-out or transgenic mice might be employed. Regardless, it would seem consistent with other studies to conclude that the capsule alone is insufficient as an immune barrier to fully protect the islets from rejection or loss of function, and that a further reduction of donor immunogenicity, or the additional inhibition of host immunity, is required for transplant success.

A.6 REFERENCES

- Lacy, PE, Davie, JM, Finke, EH: Prolongation of islet allograft survival following in vitro culture (24 degrees C) and a single injection of ALS. *Science* 204:312-313, 1979
- Mazaheri, R, Atkison, P, Stiller, C, Dupre, J, Vose, J, O'Shea, G: Transplantation of encapsulated allogeneic islets into diabetic BB/W rats. Effects of immunosuppression. *Transplantation* 51:750-754, 1991
- Yakimets,WJ, Lakey,JR, Yatscoff,RW, Katyal,D, Ao,Z, Finegood,DT, Rajotte,RV, Kneteman,NM: Prolongation of canine pancreatic islet allograft

survival with combined rapamycin and cyclosporine therapy at low doses. Rapamycin efficacy is blood level related. *Transplantation* 56:1293-1298, 1993

- Nicolls,MR, Coulombe,M, Yang,H, Bolwerk,A, Gill,RG: Anti-LFA-1 therapy induces long-term islet allograft acceptance in the absence of IFN-gamma or IL-4. *J.Immunol.* 164:3627-3634, 2000
- Li,H, Inverardi,L, Molano,RD, Pileggi,A, Ricordi,C: Nonlethal conditioning for the induction of allogeneic chimerism and tolerance to islet allografts. *Transplantation* 75:966-970, 2003
- Selawry, HP, Whittington, K: Extended allograft survival of islets grafted into intra-abdominally placed testis. *Diabetes* 33:405-406, 1984
- Gill,RG: Antigen presentation pathways for immunity to islet transplants.
 Relevance to immunoisolation. *Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci.* 875:255-260, 1999
- Yi,S, Feng,X, Hawthorne,WJ, Patel,AT, Walters,SN, O'Connell,PJ: CD4+ T cells initiate pancreatic islet xenograft rejection via an interferon-gamma-dependent recruitment of macrophages and natural killer cells. *Transplantation* 73:437-446, 2002
- Yi,S, Hawthorne,WJ, Lehnert,AM, Ha,H, Wong,JK, Van Rooijen,N, Davey,K, Patel,AT, Walters,SN, Chandra,A, O'Connell,PJ: T cell-activated macrophages are capable of both recognition and rejection of pancreatic islet xenografts. *J.Immunol.* 170:2750-2758, 2003
- De Vos,P, De Haan,B, Pater,J, Van Schilfgaarde,R: Association between capsule diameter, adequacy of encapsulation, and survival of microencapsulated rat islet allografts. *Transplantation* 62:893-899, 1996

- Wijsman, J, Atkison, P, Mazaheri, R, Garcia, B, Paul, T, Vose, J, O'Shea, G, Stiller, C: Histological and immunopathological analysis of recovered encapsulated allogeneic islets from transplanted diabetic BB/W rats. *Transplantation* 54:588-592, 1992
- Rayat,GR, Rajotte,RV, Ao,Z, Korbutt,GS: Microencapsulation of neonatal porcine islets: protection from human antibody/complement-mediated cytolysis in vitro and long-term reversal of diabetes in nude mice. *Transplantation* 69:1084-1090, 2000
- Trivedi,N, Keegan,M, Steil,GM, Hollister-Lock,J, Hasenkamp,WM, Colton,CK, Bonner-Weir,S, Weir,GC: Islets in alginate macrobeads reverse diabetes despite minimal acute insulin secretory responses. *Transplantation* 71:203-211, 2001
- Omer,A, Keegan,M, Czismadia,E, De Vos,P, Van Rooijen,N, Bonner-Weir,S,
 Weir,GC: Macrophage depletion improves survival of porcine neonatal pancreatic cell clusters contained in alginate macrocapsules transplanted into rats. *Xenotransplantation.* 10:240-251, 2003